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This version of our report is a free translation of the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All possible
care has been taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However,
in all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our
report takes precedence over this transfation.

To the shareholders of Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A.

Report on the consolidated annual accounts

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated annual accounts of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (the Parent
company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2019, and the statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flow and related notes, all consolidated, for the year
then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects,
the equity and financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019, as well as its financial
performance and cash flows, all consolidated, for the year then ended, in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU) and other
provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain.

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated annual accounts section of our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those relating
to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated annual accounts in Spain, in
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services
other than those relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen
that, in accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary
independence such that it has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L., Torre PwC, P° de la Castellana 259 B, 28046 Madrid, Espafia
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Key audit matter
Measurement of biological assets

As mentioned in note 16 to the accompanying
notes to the consolidated annual accounts, as at
31 December 2019 the Group recognises under
“Biological assets” on the consolidated
statement of financial position biological assets,
forest species, primarily eucalyptus, that it
mainly uses as the raw material in its pulp
production process and for sale to third parties,
total a net amount of 79,076 thousand euro,
including impairment of 7,273 thousand euro
and accumulated depietion of the forest reserve
amounting to 50,186 thousand euro.

As mentioned in note 4.4 to the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts, the Group
measures its biological assets at acquisition or
production cost, less forest depletion and
impairment losses.

Additionally, the Group has developed a forestry
asset valuation model based on the discounting
of expected future cash flows, the consistent
use of which over time enables to identify value
ranges and tendencies which are taken into
account in order to assess the existence of
possible impairment of biological assets.

Taking into account the significance of Group
management's judgments and estimates in the
measurement of these assets, we consider that
this area is a key audit matter.

Disputes relating to the Pontevedra public-

domain concession

As mentioned in note 25.3 Contingent assets
and liabilities to the accompanying notes to the
consolidated annual accounts, the Group's
factory in Pontevedra is located on public
domain land the concession for which was
extended through the Resolution of the
Environmental Ministry through the Directorate
General of Coastal and Marine Sustainability of
20 January 2016 and for a total period of 60
years, of which 10 years were linked to the
completion of certain investments.

With respect to the biological asset valuation
model, we verified that the methodology and
variables used are compliant with the valuation
objectives pursued, and assessed whether the
future cash flow projections are aligned with
biological asset felling, on the basis of age and
expected growth, and that the assets included in
the valuation correspond to those recorded for
accounting purposes.

In addition, we verified the main premises related to
the projected flows, mainly the price of standing
timber and the discount rate used.

For our work, we relied on the collaboration of
valuation experts.

We verified that the valuation model used is
consistent with those used in previous years.

With respect to the procedures performed, we were
able to verify that the amounts resulting from the
valuation model based on the discounting of
expected cash flows do not differ significantly from
the carrying amounts of the biological assets.

We gained an appropriate understanding of the
facts and procedural status of the different disputes
relating to the public domain concession in
Pontevedra.

Similarly, we obtained the analysis performed by
management and their advisors in writing and
during meetings with them concerning the status of
the different procedures and arguments upholding
their conclusions.



This Resolution was challenged through three
procedures which were filed by the town council of
Pontevedra and two environmental associations
and are currently being settled by the National
Court. With respect to the three procedures, the
Directorate General for Coastlines and the Sea
acquiescence the claimants’ claims on 6 March
2019. At the date of preparation of these
consolidated annual accounts, the procedure
initiated by the town council of Pontevedra is in
the final stages of processing and is close to being
ready for sentencing; the other two procedures
were pending settlement for voting and a
decision, and so the issue of a judgement is
pending at dates prior to the year end, a situation
which is ongoing at the date of preparation of
these consolidated annual accounts.

As indicated in note 25.3 to the accompanying
consolidated annual accounts, the Group
considers that there are legal grounds upholding
the legitimacy of the concession extension and
therefore expects there will be a favourable
decision upholding such legitimacy.

Nonetheless, as set out in that note to the
accompanying consolidated annual accounts, the
Group has carried out the economic evaluation in
the worst-case scenario which may result from a
possible combination of circumstances, including
the discontinuance of activities at the plant.

Taking into account the significance of the
judgements and estimates performed by Group
management in assessing the probability of the
risk and the scale of the associated impact if the
outcome of the disputes were contrary to the
Group’s interests, we have considered this
evaluation a key audit matter.

Other information refers exclusively to the Group M

" In order to assess the fact

ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries
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s and documentations
mentioned, we obtained the support of our legal
experts.
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Based on these procedures, and within the
context of our audit, we consider that
management judgements and the information
disclosed concerning these disputes are
consistent with the evidence obtained in the
course of our work.

anagement Report for 2019, the preparation of

which is the responsibility of the parent company’s directors, and which does not form an integral part

of the consolidated annual accounts.
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Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual accounts does not cover the Group Management Report.
Our responsibility for the information contained in the Group Management Report is defined in
prevailing audit regulations, which distinguish two levels of responsibility:

a) A specific level applicable to the consolidated non-financial statement, as well as certain
information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as defined in article 35.2 b) of
Audit Law 22/2015, which solely requires that we verify whether said information has been
included in the Group Management Report or where applicable, that the management report
includes the corresponding reference to the separate non-financial statement as stipulated by
prevailing regulations and if not, disclose this fact.

b)  Ageneral level applicable to the rest of the information included in the Group Management
Report that consists of assessing and reporting on the consistency of that information with the
consolidated annual accounts, on the basis of the understanding of the Group obtained in the
performance of the audit of those accounts, without including information other than that
obtained as evidence during the audit and assessing and reporting on whether the content and
presentation of this part of the Group Management Report are in conformity with applicable
legislation. If we conclude that there are material misstatements on the basis of our work, we
are required to report them.

On the basis of the work performed, as described above, we have verified that the information
mentioned in paragraph a) is provided in the Group Management Report and the rest of the
information contained in the Group Management Report is consistent with that of the consolidated
annual accounts for 2019 and its content and presentation comply with applicable legislation.

The Parent company’s directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated
annual accounts, such that they fairly present the consolidated equity, financial position and financial
performance of the Group, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the
Group in Spain, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual accounts, the Parent company’s directors are responsible for

assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the aforementioned directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Parent company’s audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and
presentation of the consolidated annual accounts.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated annual accounts
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated annual accounts.
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As part of an audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated annual accounts,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent company’s directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent company’s directors” use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated annual
accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated annual accounts,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated annual accounts represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated annual accounts.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Parent company s audit committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Parent company’s audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate with the
audit committee those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Parent company’s audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated annual accounts of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the Parent
company's audit committee dated February 24, 2020.

The General Shareholders' Meeting held on March 28, 2019 appointed us as auditors of the Group for
a period of 1 year, as from the year ended December 31, 2019.

Previously, we were appointed by resolution of the General Shareholders’ Meeting for a period of 3
years and we have audited the accounts continuously since the year ended December 31, 2011.

Services provided to the Group for services other than the audit of the accounts, are indicated in note
12.2 to the consolidated annual accounts.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Auditores, S.L. (S0242)

Original in Spanish signed by
Rafael Garcia Anguita (10295)

February 26, 2020
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

Thousands of euros Note 31 Dec. 2019 31 Dec2018 (%)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Intangible assets:
Goodwil! 14 6,066 5,675
Cther intangible assets 14 55,835 54,438
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,238,304 987,136
Biclogica! assets 16 79,076 82,557
Nor-current financial assets:
jnvestments accounted far using the equity method 26 49 -
Hedging derivatives 26 &2 1,415 263
Cther financlal assets 17826 7,359 13,458
Deferred tax assets 30 54,042 56,477
1,442,150 1,200,009
CURRENT ASSETS:
Ncr-current assets heid for sale 16.3 = 4,000
Inventories 19 56,552 43,545
Trade and other receivatles 20 &26 39,053 106,922
Tax receivables 30 3,19C 15,485
Income tax receivabie 30 8.641 1.363
Currentfinancia! assets:
Loans tc group companies and associates 26 36 -
Other financial assets 17 & 26 4,450 2,224
Cash and cash equivalents 17&26 222,214 348,623
Qther current assets 1,830 2,056
335,966 524218
TOTAL ASSETS 1,778,116 1,724,227
EQUITY:
Issued capital 221 221,645 221,645
Share premium and parent company reserves 334,463 332,042
Parent comgany retainec earnings (prior-period losses) 143,668) {71,196)
Reserves in fully-consolidated companies 224 115,670 83,208
Interim divicend {12,493) (51,309}
Translation differences 10 13
Own shares - parent company shares 227 (11,783) {4,352}
Valuation adjustments 228 31,569 25,778
Other equity [ nstruments 223 11,661 14,065
Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to owners of the parent 225 9,208 129,130
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 656,683 679,024
Non-controlling interests 22,11 18,250 18,272
TOTAL EQUITY 674,833 697,296
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Borrawings:
Bonds and other marketable securities 26 &27 239,941 236,162
Bank barrowings 268&27 357,903 218,164
Other financial liabilities 26 &27 107,203 43,758
Derivative financial instruments 26 & 29 6,414 4,673
Grants 24 6,750 7.840
Deferred tax [iabilities 30 37,575 40,017
Non-current provisions 25 12,81C 12,287
Non-current accruals and deferred income 3,376 1,470
Other non-current Hahilities 26 & 28 26,105 18,965
798,077 583,336
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Borrowings:
Bank barrowings 26 &27 26,281 152,651
Cther financial liabilities 26827 8,042 4,934
Derivative financial instruments 26 & 29 9,947 18,976
Trade and other payabies 21,26 & 226,869 235,024
Income tax payable 30 438 1,828
Taxes payatie 30 7.821 7.825
Current provisions 25 25,708 22,357
305,106 443595
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILMES 1,778,116 1,724227

The aceormpanying notes 1 to 24 and Appendices are an integra! part of the consolidated statement of financial position at
31 December 2019.

(*} The consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018 is presented exclusively for comparative 1

Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Note 2019 2018(*)
Thousands of euros
Continuing operations:
Revenue 9 735,352 831,982
Gains/(losses) on hedging transactions 29 (30,049} 3,734
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 19 3,024 7,386
Own work capitalised 15 & 16 12,936 6,423
Other operatingincome 1,929 2,743
Grants taken to income 24 4,294 2,287
Operating income 727,486 854,555
Cost of goods sold 10 (307,530) (300,297)
Employee benefits expense 11 (92,254) (77,672)
Depreciation and amortisation charges 14 & 15 {82,985} (69,829)
Depletion of forestreserve 16 (9,337) (5,821)
Impairment of and gains/{losses) on disposal of fixed assets 14,15 & 16 1,836 10,040
Impairmert of financial assets 20 {2,313} 183
Other operating expenses 12 {202,386) (201,593)
Operating expenses (694,969) (644,989)
OPERATING PROFIT 32,517 209,566
Finance income 961 985
Finance costs 13 (23,675) {(38,380)
Changein fair value of financial instruments 13 & 23 - (1,682)
Net exchange gains/{losses) 1,490 2,991
Impairment of and gains/{losses) on disposal of financial assets 2.1 (188) (249)
NET FINANCE COST (21,412) (36,335)
Share of profit/{loss) of investees accounted for using the equity method (2) -
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 11,103 173,231
Income tax 30 395 {41,560)
PROFIT FOR YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 11,498 131,671
Profit for the year from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling interests 22,11 2,289 2,541
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (**} 9,209 129,130
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners of the parent €/share
Basic 226 0.04 0.53
Diluted 22,6 0.02 0.48

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 and Appendices are an integral part of the 2019 consolidated statement of profit or loss.

{*) The consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented exclusively for comparative purposes.

(**} 1C0% from continuing operations.

2
Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Not. 2019 2018 (*
Thousands of euros ote *
GROUP PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (*+¥) 11,498 131,671
Profit/(loss) recognised directly in consolidated equity
- Cash flow hedges (**) {23,459) (31,376}
-Translation differences {**) (3) (34)
- Tax effect 5,866 7,844
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSE RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN CONSOLIDATED EQUITY 22 {17,596) {23,566)
Expense / (income] reclassified to profit or loss
- Cash flow hedges (**) 31,712 (3,126)
- Tax effect {7,928) 782
TOTAL AMOUNTS TRANSFERRED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 22 23,784 {2,344)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 17,686 105,761
Attributable to:
Parent 15,397 103,220
Non-controlling interests 2,289 2,541

Theaccompanying notes 1 to 34 and Appendices are an integral part of the 2019 consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(*) The consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented exclusively for comparative purp )\ses.

(**) Items that may be subsequently be reclassified to profitor [oss.

(***) Corresponds to "Profit for the year from continui ng operations" in the consolidated statement of profitor loss.

3

Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Total
recognised  Appropriation
Balance at income/ of prior-year Dividends Trading in Other Balance at

2019 {thousands of euros) 01/01/2019 (expense) profit/(loss) distributed {**) _ownshares __ movements 31/12/2019
Issued capital 221,645 - - * - 221,645
Own shares (4,352) - - (7,431) - (11,783)
Reserves:

Share premium 170,776 : - 170,776

Legal reserve 45,049 - 45,049

Cancelled capital reserve 10,566 - - - 10,5686

Capitalisation reserve 4,543 - 4,691 - - 9,234

Voluntary reserves 101,108 - 13,140 {13,112} {647) {1,651} 98,838

Parent company retained earnings (prior-period losses) {71,196) - 27,528 - - - {43,668)

Reserves in fully-consolidated companies 83,208 32,462 - 115,670
Interim dividend (51,309) - 51,309 {12,493) . {12,493)
Consalidated profit for the period 129,130 9,209 (129,130) = - 9,209
Translation differences 13 3) » - 5 2 10
Valuation adjustments 25,778 6,191 - - - 31,969
Other equity instruments 14,065 - = - - {2,404) 11,661
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 679,024 15,397 - 25,605 8,078) {4,055} 656,683
Non-controlling interests 18,272 2,289 - (1,985) .- (325) 18,250
Total equity 697,296 17,686 - (27,591) (8,078) {4,380) 674,933

Total
recognised  Appropriation
Bafance at income/ of prior-year Dividends Trading in Other Balance at

2018 (thousands of euros) (*) 01/01/2018 {expense) profit/(lass) _distributed (**) ownshares movements 31/12/2018
Issued capital 221,645 - - - - - 221,645
Own shares (4,016} - - - {338) - {4,352}
Reserves:

Share premium 170,776 - - - - - 170,776

Legal reserve 45,049 - - - - - 45,049

Cancelled capital reserve 10,566 - - - - - 10,566

Capitalisation reserve 1,848 - 2,695 - - 4,543

Voluntary reserves 101,016 - 16,256 {16,004) (160) - 101,108

Parent company retained earnings (prior-period losses) {92,436) - 21,240 - - - {71,196)

Reserves in fully-consolidated companies 61,210 26 21,972 - - 83,208
Interim dividend {29,623) - 29,623 (51,309) - {51,309)
Consolidated profit far the period 91,786 129,130 {91,786) - - 129,130
Translation differences 47 (34} - 13
Valuation adjustments 51,680 (25,902} - - 25,778
Other equity instruments 2,783 - - - - 11,282 14,065
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 632,331 103,220 - (67,313) {496} 11,282 679,024
Non-controlling interests 9,903 2,541 - (2,787} - 8,615 18,272
Total equity 642,234 105,761 - (70,200) {496) 19,897 697,296
The accompanying notes 1to 34 arean integral part of the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2019.
(*) The consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018 is presented exclgsively for comparative purposes.
{**) Corresponding to the dividends distributed during the year.

4

Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spa nish-language version prevails
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ENCE ENERGIA Y CELULOSA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
Note 2019 2018 (¥}
Thousands of euros
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before tax from continuing operations 12,103 173,231
Adjustments for:
Depreciation/amortisation of PP&E and intangibie assets 14 & 15 82,985 65,829
Depleticn of forest reserve 16 9,337 5821
Changes in provisions and other deferred expense {net} 18,873 22,869
impairment of and ga!ns/(losses) on disposals of Intangible assets, PP&E and finarciaj {1,868) {9,728)
assets
Finance income anc costs {net) 21,296 36,785
Grants taken to inccme {1,370} (1,362)
130,253 124,215
Changes in working capital:
'nventories 1s {16,312} {6,502)
Trade and other receivables 2¢ 82,848 (4,064}
Financial ard other current assets 17 {2,226) 4,151
Trade payables, other payahles and other iiabilities 21 1,187 {3,730)
65497 {10,145}
Other cash flows from operating activities:
- Interest paid, net{including right-of-use assets} 13,18 & 27 {15,820) (29,309)
- Dividends recefved - -
- !ncome tax paid 30 {9,648} {28,807}
- Long-térm remuneration plans ard other {4,883} (1,321)
(30,351) {60,037)
Net cash from operating activities 176,502 227,264
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for investments:
Proparty, plant and equipment 15 {285,603} (163,759}
(ntangible assets 14 {6,754} {24,234)
Business combinatiors 2 (5,300} {124,852)
Financial assets (333) 2417
(298,990} (310,428)
Proceeds from disposals:
Property, plantand equipment 15 838 1,355
Financial assets 2 4,302 -
5,140 1,355
Net cash used in investing activities {293,850) {309,073}
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Praceeds from/(payments for) equity Instruments:
Proceeds from issuance of convertiblie bonds, netof arra ngement fees - 14,551
Buyback of own equity instruments 22 (76,443} {63,864)
Disposal of own equity instruments 22 64,419 63,368
(22,024) 14,055
Proceeds from/(repayments of} financial fiabilities:
Proceeds from issuance of bonds, net of arrangement fees 27 {122) 184,290
Repaymert of bonds and other marketable securities 27 - {250,000)
Increasef(decrease) in bank torrowings, net of issuance costs 27 10,974 255,462
Increase/(decrease) in other borrowings 27 22,640 25,878
Payments for right-of-use assets 18 (3,218)
Grants received, net 24 280 1i5
30,554 215,745
Dividend payments
Dividerds paid to ENCE shareholders 23 {25,605) {67,110}
Dividends paid to minority shareholders 22 (1,986) (2,786}
{27,591) {69,896)
Net cash (used in}/ from finanding activities {9,061} 158,904
NET INCREASE/ (DECREASE} IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS {126,409) 78,095
Cash and cash eguivalents - apening balance 348,623 27¢,528
Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance 222,214 348,623

The accompanying notes 1 to 34 and Appendices arean integrai part of the 2019 consol/dated statement of cash flows.

{*) The consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2048 is presented exclusively for comparative purposes.

5
Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails
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ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries

Notes to the 2019 consolidated financial statements

1. Group information

Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (hereinafter “ENCE”, the “Company” or the “Parent”) was incorporated in
1968. Its registered office is located at Calle Beatriz de Bobadilla, 14 in Madrid. It formerly went by the
name of Empresa Nacional de Celulosas, S.A. until 1999 and Grupo Empresarial ENCE, S.A. until 2012.

Its corporate purpose, as per its bylaws, consists of;

a)  The manufacture of cellulose pulp and derivatives thereof, the obtainment of the products and other
elements necessary to this end and the use of the sub-products of both;

b) The production by any means, sale and use of electric energy and other sources of energy and of the
materials and primary energies needed for its generation, as permitted under prevailing legislation;
and the marketing, sale-purchase and supply thereof under any of the formulae permitted under law.

¢)  The cultivation, exploitation and use of forests and forest land, afforestation work and the provision of
expert forestry-related services and works. The preparation and transformation of forestry products.
The use and exploitation for commercial and business purposes of all manner of forestry products
(including biomass and forest energy products), their derivatives and their sub-products. Forestry
studies and projects;

d) The planning, development, construction, operation and maintenance of the facilities referred to in
sections a), b) and c) above.

ENCE and its group of companies (hereinafter, the "Group”, "ENCE" or the "ENCE Group") has articulated its
activities around two businesses:

The Pulp business:

Encompasses the production of bleached eucalyptus kraft pulp (BEKP) by means of elementary chlorine free
(ECF) and totally chlorine free (TCF) bleaching sequences.

To carry out this activity, the Group has two biomills in Spain (located in Asturias and Pontevedra) with
combined nominal capacity of approximately 1,200,000 tonnes per anaum.

Both mills use the kraft process to produce pulp. This productive process includes the co-generation of
electric power fuelled by the parts of timber that cannot be transformed into pulp: lignin or biomass. The
Group’s aggregate nominal installed electric power generation capacity (integrated within the Asturias and
Pontevedra biomills) is 112 megawatts (MW).

The Group also manages 62,501 hectares of productive forest in Spain, 43,271 hectares of which it owns.
7
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The Renewable Energy business:

ENCE has developed and acquired several power generation facilities that are fuelled by biomass obtained
from agricultural and forestry sub-products. It also owns a solar thermal power plant. These plants aperate
on a standalone basis, separately to the pulp business. Aggregate operational power-generating capacity
currently stands at 220 MW, broken down as follows:

End of
Capacity regulatory
Location MW useful life
Huelva 50 2037
Huelva 41 2025
Merida 20 2039
Jaen 16 2027
Ciudad Real 16 2027
Cordoba 14 2031
Cordoba 13 2030
Ciudad Real 50 2034

The Group is also finalising the construction of two new biomass power plants in Spain, specifically in
Huelva (capacity: 46 MW} and Puertollano, Ciudad Real (50 MW). Both facilities are to be commissioned
during the first quarter of 2020, with a regulatory life of 25 years.

Listing of shares-

All of the Company’s shares are represented by book entries and are listed on the Spanish stock exchanges
and traded on the continuous market (SIBE for its acronym in Spanish).

Scope of consolidation and main acquisitions and disposals

2.1 Main acquisitions and disposals

2013 — Disposal of Iberflorestsl

On 30 May 2019, Norte Forestal, S.A., an entity belonging to the Pulp business, sold a third party 100% of its
shares in Iberflorestal, S.A.U., a subsidiary whose business at the time of the sale consisted of the plantation
of eucalyptus timber for use in pulp production, to which end it was exploiting 1,743 hectares in Portugal
under leases and/or consortia.
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The transaction price was €4,602 thousand (€4,302 thousand of which already collected and €300 thousand
of which deferred), in line with the carrying amount of this investment.

The main assets of Iberflorestal, S.A. were classified under "Non-current assets held for sale" in the
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2018 (note 16).

2018 — Acquisition of Ence Energia Termollano, S.L.

On 30 November 2018, Ence Energfa Solar, 5.L.U., 100% owned by the Renewable Energy business's holding
company, Ence Energia, S.L.U., acquired 90% of the share capital and contro! of Ence Energia Termollano,
S.A. from the Iberdrola Group. Ence Energia Termollano, S.A. owns a 50-MW solar thermal power plant
located in Puertollano (Ciudad Real).

The acquisition price was €145.8 million (€72.3 million for the shares of the entity acquired and €67.2
million for the credit claim held by the Iberdrola Group against the acquiree).

That acquisition price included a contingent amount - an earnout - of up to €6.3 million, which was paid in
December 2019, once the regulator confirmed the reasonable return allocated to the 50-MW Termollano
plant for 2020-2025.

The ENCE Group has recognised the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated acquisition
date fair values. Those estimates were arrived at by discounting the cash flows forecast for this facility to
present value at a rate of between 6.5% and 7.5%. Input was obtained from independent experts in making
those estimates. The breakdown of the net assets acquired and their fair value at the acquisition date,
including the goodwill generated by the transaction, are provided below:

Carrying amount

Thousands of euros Note Fair value m.targtft's
financial
statements(*)
Goodwill 14 3,436
Intangible assets 14 20,428
Property, plant and equipment 15 148,560 148,560
Non-current financial assets 11,787 -
Deferred tax assets 30 3,989 3,989
Cash and cash equivalents 56,449 56,449
Other current assets 7,089 7,089
Total assets 251,738 216,087
Deferred tax liabilities 30 17,004 11,897
Non-current borrowings from group 109,001 109,001
Non-current provisions 25 9,141 9,141
Other current liabilities 29,411 25,011
Total liabilities 164,557 159,050
'NET ASSETS ACQUIRED 87,181 57,037

(*) Data corresponding to 100% of the acquiree's net assets
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Had the acquisition taken place on 1 January 2018, Group revenue would have been €23,758 thousand
higher in 2018 and profit after tax would have been €333 thousand lower.

The accounting for this business combination has not changed significantly in the 12 months following the
acquisition during which it was still deemed provisional.

Under the terms of the share purchase agreement, the seller would have to indemnify the buyer in the
event of certain circumstances that could have an adverse effect on the acquiree. At year-end 2018, "Non-
current financial assets” included the claim against the seller (indemnification asset) with respect to certain
obligations recognised by Energia Termollano, S.A. In February 2019, the investee settled most of its
obligation and ENCE received the corresponding indemnificaticn asset.

The costs associated with this transaction totalled €0.5 million.
2.2 Other changes in the scope of consolidation
2019

On 2 April 2019, Norte Forestal, S.A.U. incorporated Liptoflor, S.A., with registered office in Portugal, by
means of the contribution of the spun-off business consisting of the purchase and sale of timber and
provision of the forest services formerly carried out by its subsidiary Iberflorestal, S.A. The value of that
investment, €882 thousand, coincides with the carrying amount of that business in the ENCE Group's
consolidated financial statements as of the transaction date. The transaction did not give rise to significant
costs. :

Oleoenergia de Puertoliano, S.L. and Captacién de Servicios Forestales, S.L., in which the Group holds
interests of 30% and 25%, respectively, were also incorporated in 2019. Those investees, which were not
active in 2018, are accounted for using the equity method of consolidation.

2018

In 2018, the Group added Ence Energfa Solar, 5.L.U., the subsidiary of Ence Energfa, S.L. which acquired the
shares of Ence Energia Termollano, S.A. and the credit claim the Iberdrola Group had against this investee,
to its consolidation scope.

in 2018, it also consolidated Ence Energia Puertoliang, S.L.U., an entity incorporated by Ence Energia, S.L.,
for the first time. This new investee is building and will operate a biomass power plant with installed
capacity of 50 MW in Puertollano-Ciudad Real (note 15).

2.3 Scope of consolidation

The following subsidiaries and subsidiaries are accounted for using the full or equity methads of
consolidation in the accompanying 2019 consolidated financial statements:

10

www.ence.es
Free transiation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails



speaa.d uojsian a8enduel-ysiueds syl “fouedaIasip JO JUBAS aYL Ul ‘ysiueds ul [euiS1Io a1 WO} Uoe|sues] 9314

$2°30U°’ MMM

e poyisw Ayinba = "3 pOYIaW UCRERI|OSUOD |[N}= N4 :poyrew uonepijosuod (q)
pa1IpNE sjusLIB1EYS [eIDUBLY [enuuy (B)
- - € W3 o€ AS1aud 2113292 JO B|BS PUB UO[1BIBUIG) {eqopiod) T ‘ejeznLY 's ‘oue||0}and ap eI21eus0d|0
697'T (8Z6'TT) 766'TT 1in4 oL ASIaus 214309 [0 JO 9|ES pUE UOIIRIBURD eusam “Ufs ‘fawieusg op o_o_mwﬂﬂ”w {e) 'v's ‘eliewEIUES RIZIDUSOIG
y£0's [-Y4nrd 000'SS 06 AZJoU 2141092 JO 9|BS PUB UONIBIBUDG (p1peIN) ¥T ‘e|(Ipegog ap zi111e3g () "v's ‘oue|jow s BJFBUT AUT
0S2TYT (€2) 147 00T juewoq (pupe) ¥1 ‘ellpeged ap zl1e9g 'S ‘XIXX ed0ing ins sedipdiau] sezseng
§99'C (9g9) £05'SY 001 A3Iaua 2141293 JO 9|eS PUB UDIIRIBUID {pipeIN) YT "|IIpRgog 3P ZI11ES] (&) 71's ‘4ejos BiB1aug 2au3
S (81) £00'EY 00T AS12up 211303 [9'JO (€S pUE UONBIBURD {plpeN) ¥T 'e|ipeqog ap zialesg () "n71's ‘ouryjoyiang Bj81aul 93u3
6¥0'Y 18S'TT 08¢ 1nd 17 89 ABJaua 311193 [0 JO S|BS PUR UOLRIBUSD ({eay pepnin} uenyuesap BLE(|IA {e) "v'S ‘uewau] eYdue | ap sel8au3
(123 vE6'L L9T'Y LO'Y9 ASJoua 2111339 JO 3|S5 pUR UOEISURD (uaef) odsiqoziy [op eASNUE||IA (e) v's ‘ewo ejap ediou3
£90'T (2) £00'LE 00T ASJaus 2143299 JO 9|BS PUB UD[IRISUBD (pupe) ¥1 ‘ellIpegog ap zieag () 'N"T'S ‘soQ eAlPRH el31aug 2u3
750°C €81 ¥50°0T 00T ASI1aus 2113332 JO 3| BS pUB UO{}RIAUID (prapeIN) FT ‘eflIpBqgog 2p Z111E39 (e) 'n7T°S ‘eJnpeWaIIXF B13ISU3 33U3
€6l 9667 L6L°ST 00t A3leus 21430912 Jo @|ES PUE UONRIAUED (plapEN) +T ‘ellIpR]Og 3p Z111E9F (8) 'NT'S ‘eanH eifieug 2243
£6S 106 9GL'E 00T A349UD 21119819 JO 9|BS PUE UCIIRISUSD (p1IpeRN) T ‘BllIpRdOg 3P Z1 g (e) 'n°y's ‘eIFIeuz eso|nE)
{682'T) 0L6'8Y vev'sve 00t juswaSeuew ssewolq pue Aueduiod BUIp|oH (plpew) v1 ‘e(lipeqog ap 2113838 () "ny's ‘eldssug adug
sssauisng Adsau3 ajgemauay
(8) 0sT 0s [E] T4 s lom Aysalod {eunio) E7) 511ND 'S ‘s8] €153104 SOI3NALRS IP uglaejidede)
(8vv) 8V0'T as iind 00T Jaquip Jo 3|es-aseYdIng (128ni0d) uogsn (e) v's “toyondn
$2$53004a pue $1INPOoIa “S|elIajewW
[14] {9L£'E) 80T‘9 1nd Q0T MaUl 10 uswdojaASP PUE CYUL 421EaseY {eapoA9IUCd) U/S URZLING] 3p BlSLIE (e) "'w's ‘ojloslesag A ugi3e3nssAU| 22Ul
(9£6'T) 9E£9'Y 196ty iin4 001 JUSWSSRURW pUE|3$3J0o4 {pupeW) ¥T ‘BllIpeRgOS 9P ZINEAY (B) 'N°y'S ‘| EIsa104 310N
(82) LvT 087 ling 00T $351A4aS ALysalo] (eAjonH) §°2 "W 000S-V BAD (&) 'n'y's ‘enjisiag)
(692'T) 672'0T 008’61 1in3 00T juauwdgeuew pue| 352104 (plipe) ¥T ‘eljlpRqOg 3p Z13E9G () 'NY's ‘| R3SaI0J0IRY InseAllS
€L8°ST 5896 £98'/¢ 1In4 00T uopelsuas samod pue uoponpoud dind (&) 'n'y's ‘selnisy ap seson@) {e) "Ny'S ‘seln}sy ap sesojn(s)
:ssauisnq djng
1e3h ot 403 ENEEIN] suonnqlijuod (q) pouow 4 45311
Hmmo_w\wco:_ E:_.F_w.hn J3umae Jayjo :O_um_u__omcou n_r_m._wr_>>o >u_.>_.uum ssaulsng ?J1yo _uw\_wum_.mwm mwu—mm>c_
a1eys pue [gide)
Alnba s3159AU|
$01na Jo spuesnoyl
6T0T

YSO1NTI2 8 V)OUING

=p D

SalIBIPISONS puE *y°S ‘eson@) A e1d1au3 adug
1oday [erueuld 6T0Z



sjieasud uoisian a8ensuel-ysiueds ay3 ‘Aduedsudsip Jo JuaA3 B3 uj ysiueds ut jeuiduo 341 WoJ) uone|suel 3314

$9°IAU*'MMM
(43 poyisw ALnba = "3 ‘POYISLL UONEP1OSUOD [|Nf = (N4 :POYIDW UOREP]|OSUO) (q)
palipne sjuswajels [e(Jueuy |enuuy (e)
T (876'TT) T66°TT 114 [s]4 A3JBUB 210233 JO IjBS PUB UOIEISUID {eqopiod) (e) 'v's ‘eliewejues ejduouaoig
eUdINT ‘u/s ‘iloweung ap ofaip ouwe)
£91 LE0'Y 000'ss 1ind 06 A213u3 31039 JO 3|ES PUE UO[BIBUSD (PHIpe) T ‘e||1peqog ap 21aRag (e} 'v's ‘ouejjousia) ejFiaul sou3
(t1) {cT) 1474 11n4 00T juewliog (plpew) vT ‘e||ipeqog ap 21 rag 'S ‘XIxX edeung uns seanadisug seziang
(9€9) L €055t 1in4 00T AS18U9 J11329(9 JO B|BS PUE UO[1BI3UID {PLIpRA #T ‘|| IpEqOY 9P 21433y (&) 1's “4eos e1fssug soug
(81) B € 114 00T 4315U2 211092 JO 3|BS PUE UOC}RIIUIY {plpew) ¢T ‘ej|Ipeqos af 14 eag {e) 'n"1's ‘ouejjoliang ei8iaul 2ug
VEE'Y sra 4] 08¢ 1y ¥'89 AZJ2UD J[1}0919 JO B|ES PUB UO )R U {129y pepniD) uenr ues ap eLej[IA (e} 'v's ‘uewaus eyauey e|ap sejdiauy
9vL'T 190°2 19Tt 14 L0'79 A31ouD 21010819 JO I|BS PUE LUOIRIIUID (uaer) ods|gqozly [ap easnue |pip {e} y'g ‘ewoq ey ap eidiauy
(2) - € [LE] 00T ASszua u:w,uv |9 JO@|es pue uoiielauan (PLIpeI) $T ‘e|ipeCOg 9p Z1aragG (e)"n"1'S ‘soq eajany eidisug aouy
6652 €88 ¥50'02 1[n4 00T A813U3 2111953 JO 3]ES pUE UDIIRIBUID {p1ipeN) ¥T ‘B||IpRqOY 3P ZI4iESYg {e) 'n"1's ‘eanpewanxg eldoug asuy
0t'9 ¥65°9T 16252 1104 00T A81aua 5111982 J0 3|€S PUE UOKEJISUID {(pupew) ¥ ‘ejjipeqog sp ziieeg {€) 'n"1's “eajpny e1dsuz 9oug
0622 106 952 11n4 00T #310U3 311399]5 JO 9|ES PUR UORRIDUID (plapew) $T ‘E||IPRGOG Ap Z1Aauag (e} 'nvs ‘ejfieug esonpE)
L6161 TLL6T ¥0T1'96T Hnd 00T JuswafeuUewW ssewolg pue Auedwod uIpjoH (plipew) ¥T ‘elppeqog ap ziiaeag (2) 'n1s ‘eidisuz 20u3
:ssousng A3uauz sjqemausy
StL'T (s19'S) 5509 1n4 00T 12qWn Jo 3|es-95eydIng (1eSn10d) uogsn (&) 'N'v's ‘|e1saun piaq)
PLE (0s2'€) 8079 N4 001 $955230.1d PUE S1MPO.d *S| Lz ew {eapaAd1UOg) U/S URZLINOT] 2P BWSLIEN {e) ‘n'v's ‘Ofjosesaq A ugioes soaul 2su3
M3U 4O JUSWAO [3ASP pue OJU| Y2IEasay . :

(¥£9T) 0TE'9 voy'e 00t 1w euew pue| 159104 (pripenw) v1 ‘e|ipeqog ap z1J3eag {e) ‘NS ‘|erssaoy aLioN
TEE (8) 08t 00T $32|A49S Al1sa104 (eARNH) 57 "W 0005V BA) {e) "nNvs ‘eapsiaq)
¢8LS (374174 00861 001 Juawedeuew pue|1saloq (PPBI) £T ‘e||IpRqOg 3p 2111029 {e) 'n"v's ‘| P153404018y InSEALIS
8¥5'99 5¥8'96 £98/E 001 uopelsuad amod pue uononpoud dind (e} 'n'y'S ‘selum sy ap seso|np) () 'nN'y'S ‘selinisy ap sesojnp)
:ssauisng dind

1e3h 31y Joy N\M_wcwunw mﬂmﬁﬂnﬂﬁwu (a) potpaw % soiul Aanoe ssauisng 20140 paJslsiSay 99159AU|

(sso))ryoad E.m;m pue jeyides UonREpoOsSUO)  diyssBump o ) :
A |nbo vasanu|
S0JND JO Spuesnoy]
810¢

¥SOIN1A) B VI9¥4INT

9JUo

salielpisqgns pue “y's ‘eso|n|a) A eidsaug asuz

Hoday jepueul{ 6T0Z



2019 Financial Report N ence

Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries '
ENERGIA & CELULOSA

In addition, the Group comprises the following dormant companies that are wholly-owned by the Parent:
Ence Energia Solar, 2, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Energia la Loma 2, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Energia Este, S.L.U. (Spain),
Ence Energfa Extremadura 2, S.L.U. (Spain), Sostenibilidad y Economia Circular, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Energia
Celta, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Energia Castilla y Ledn, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Energia Castilla y Ledn Dos, S.L.U.
(Spain), Ence Energia Pami, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Biomasa Cérdoba, S.L.U. (Spain), Ence Lepe Solar S.L.U.
(Spain), Ence Huelva Solar, S.L.U., Sierras Calmas, S.A. {Uruguay), Maderas Aserradas del Litoral, S.A.
(Uruguay), Las Pléyades Uruguay, S.A. — Sucursal en Argentina, Las Pléyades Uruguay, S.A. (Uruguay) and
Ence Servicios Corporativos, S.L.U. (Spain).

The Group also has non-controlling interests in certain companies that have not been consolidated on
account of their scant materiality: Imacel, A.E.I.E., a dormant company that is 50%-owned by the Parent,
and Electroquimica de Hernani, S.A., in which it owns a 5% shareholding, among others.

3. Basis of preparation and consolidation

3.1 Basis of preparation

Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A.'s 2019 consolidated annual financial statements were prepared from its
accounting records and annual financial statements and those of its Group companies. They were
prepared in accordance with the prevailing financial reporting framework, specifically the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union, as provided for in Regulation (EC)
No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council, to give a true and fair view of the Group’s
financial position at 31 December 2019 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then
ended.

Note 4 summarises the most significant accounting poiicies and measurement criteria used to prepare the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2019, which have been authorised for issue by the
Parent’s directors, will be submitted for shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting, at which
they are expected to be ratified without modification. The Group’s consolidated financial statements for
2018 were approved at the Annual General Meeting held by the Parent on 28 March 2019.

The euro is the Group's functional and presentation currency. The consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes are therefore expressed in euros.

3.2 Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries

investees over which the Parent exercises control have been accounted for using the full consolidation
method. Control is evidenced, in general albeit not exclusively, when the Parent owns, either directly or
indirectly, at least 50% of the voting rights of the investee. Control is the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Controlled investees are
considered subsidiaries {note 2) and are accounted for using the full consolidation method.

All of the Group subsidiaries report as of 31 December.
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All material inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated on consolidation.

The share of non-controlling interests in the fully-consolidated subsidiaries’ equity and earnings is
presented in "Non-controlling interests" within equity on the accompanying consolidated statement of
financial position and in "Profit {loss) attributable to non-controlling interests" in the accompanying
consolidated statement, respectively of profit or loss.

Investments consolidated using the equity method

These are investees over which the Group has significant influence. They do not require the Group's
consent for operating and financial policy decisions but the Group does have the power to intervene in
such decision-making. Such influence is generally accompanied by a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the investees' voting rights.

Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition.

in transactions with such investees, the gains or losses arising on the transactions are eliminated in the
percentage of the Parent's ownership interest. The result of accounting for investments using the equity
method is presented in "Investments accounted for using the equity method" and "Share of profit/(loss) of
investees accounted for using the equity method" in the statement of financial position and statement or
profit-or loss, respectively.

Adjustments to conform with the Group’s accounting policies

The consolidation of the entities comprising the scope of consolidation was carried out on the basis of their
respective separate financial statements, which are prepared under the Spanish General Accounting Plan
for companies resident in Spain and local accounting standards for the other investees. The directors have
made all the material adjustments needed to adapt those separate financial statements for IFRS and to
align their financial information with the Group’s accounting policies as part of the consolidation process.

Financial statement translation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into euros as follows: assets and liabilities are translated at the
closing rate at each reporting date; equity items are translated at historical rates; and income and
expenses are translated at average rates for the period in which they accrued. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in equity and are reclassified to profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of. None of the Group companies is located in a hyperinflationary economy.

3.3 Comparison of information and transaction seasonality

The information provided in these financial statements in respect of 2018 is presented to enable a reader
comparison with the equivalent 2019 disclosures.

The reader should consider the following aspects when comparing the information for the two reporting
periods:
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e There have been changes in the consolidation scope, as outlined in note 2.

e The new accounting standards applicable from 1 January 2019 (note 3.6).

Given the nature of the Group companies’ business operations, its transactions are not cyclical or seasonal
in nature. Note, however, that the production of pulp and energy requires annual stoppages of between
10 and 15 days for maintenance purposes.

3.4 Key IFRS-related decisions

In presenting the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes, the Group took the following
decisions: 1) the presentation of the consolidated statement of financial position distinguishes between
current and non-current amounts and the consolidated statement of profit or loss is presented using the
nature-of-expense method; and 2) the consolidated statement of cash flows is presented using the indirect
method.

3.5 Changes in accounting estimates and policies and correction of
fundamental errors

The impact of any change in accounting estimates is accounted for prospectively in the same statement of
profit or loss heading in which the previously estimated item of expense or income is recognised.

Meanwhile, changes in accounting policies and the correction of fundamental errors are accounted for as
follows insofar as material: the accumulated impact at the beginning of the year is adjusted in reserves and
the impact in the year of the restatement is recognised in profit or loss for the year. In these instances, the
financial information for the comparative year presented alongside that corresponding to the reporting
period is restated.

No significant changes in accounting estimates or policies, except as indicated in note 3.6 below, or
corrections of errors affect either the 2019 or the 2018 consolidated financial statements.

3.6 New and amended standards taking effect during the reporting
period

The accounting standards used to prepare these consolidated annual financial statements are the same as
those used in the year ended 31 December 2018, except for the application, as from 1 January 2019, of the
following standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (1ASB) and adopted by the
European Union for application in Europe from 1 January 2019:
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Contents

New and amended standards
and interpretations:
IFRS 16 - Leases

IFRIC 23 - Uncertainty over
income tax treatments

Annual Improvements to IFRSs,
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 9 -
Prepayment features with
negative compensation

Amendments to IAS 28 - Long-
term interests in associates and
joint ventures

Amendments to [AS 19
- Plan amendment, curtaiiment
or settlement

Replaces IAS 17 and associated interpretations. The new
standard puts forward a single accounting model for all
feases (with limited exemptions), which are recognised on
the statement of financial position in a manner similar to the
method used to account for finance leases

Clarifies the application of the recognition and measurement
requirements in IAS 12 - Income taxes when there is
uncertainty over income tax treatments

Narrow-scope amendments to a series of standards

These amendments allow reporters to measure certain
financial assets that are prepayable at an amount that could
be less than the unpaid amounts of principal and interest at
amortised cost

These amendments clarify that IFRS 9 applies to long-term
interests in an associate or joint venture if the equity method
is not used

These amendments clarify how to calculate the current
service cost and net interest for the remainder of the annual
reporting period when a defined benefit plan amendment,
curtailment or settlement occurs during that period

yence

ENERGIA & CELULCSA

The impact of the application of IFRS 16 - Leases for the first time in 2019 is detailed next. The rest of the
amendments have not had a significant impact on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

[FRS 16 - Leases
The accounting policies applicable under this new standard are ocutlined in note 4.6.

ENCE availed of the madified retrospective approach in transitioning to [FRS 16 — Leases, which means that
the prior-period figures have not been restated and the impact of the first-time application of IFRS 16 as at
1 January 2019 (date of initial application) has been recognised in reserves. The lease liability was
determined at the present value of the remaining lease payments at that date, discounted using a discount
rate calculated in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the new standard.
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The impact of application of this new standard on 1 January 2019, its date of initial application,
distinguishing between the various types of assets leased by ENCE, and the impact on earnings in 2019 are
disclosed in note 18.

Right-of-use asset depreciation charges and the recognition of interest on the lease liability replace a
significant part of the amount that used to be recognised in the statement of profit or loss as operating

lease expense. The classification of lease payments in the statement of cash flows has also been affected
by application of this new standard.

Below is the reconciliation of the operating lease commitments disclosed in note 12 of ENCE's 2018
consolidated financial statements and the lease liability recognised at 1 January 2019:

Thousands

of euros

Operating leases - 2018 27,680
Pontevedra concession - 2018 70,376
Total 2018 98,056

Unwind of discount (44,707)
Lease liability at 1/1/2019 (note 18) 53,349

3.7 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorising the accompanying financial statements for issue, the most significant standards
and interpretations published by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) but not yet effective,
either because they have yet to be adopted by the European Union or because their date of effectiveness is
subsequent to that of authorisation of the accompanying statements, are the following:
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Applicable in annual
periods beginning on

Standard Contents or after
New standards:
IFRS 17 - Insurance contracts Replaces IFRS 4 and sets out the principles for 1 January 2021.

Amended standards:

Amendments to IFRS 3 -
Definition of a business

Amendments to [FRS 9, IFRS 7
and IAS 39 - interest rate
benchmark reform

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
- Sales or contributions of assets
between an investor and its
associate or joint venture

Amendments to [AS 1 and IAS 8.
Definition of 'material'.

recognising, measuring, presenting and disclosing
insurance contracts

Clarification of the definition of a business

Provides certain relief in connection with interest rate
benchmark reform related with accounting hedges

Clarifies that investors must recognise the full gain or loss
when the assets constitute a 'business'

Aligns the definition of 'material' with that provided in the
Conceptual Framework

Pending adoption

1 January 2020.
Pending adoption

1 January 2020.

Pending adontion

Not defined.

1 January 2020

Although the Group is in the process of analysing what impact these new and amended standards could
have on its consolidated financial statements, if adopted, it does not expect their application to have a

significant impact.

4. Summary of significant accounting policies

The main accounting policies used to prepare these consolidated financial statements in keeping with the
International Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU),

are summarised below:

4.1 Business combinati

ons

Business combinations in which the Group acquires control of one or more businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method, in keeping with the provisions of IFRS 3 - Business combinations.

As a general rule, the acquisition method implies recognising, on the acquisition date, the identifiable
assets acquired, liabilities assumed, equity instruments issued and any contingent consideration that

www.ence.es

18

Free transiation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails




2019 Financial Report
Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries &ence

ENERGIA & CELULOSA

depends on future events or delivery of certain conditions, at their acquisition-date fair values, insofar as
they can be measured reliably. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The difference between the consideration transferred and the net assets acquired, coupled with the fair
value of any previously held equity interest in the business acquired, is recognised under “Goodwill”. If
that difference is negative it is recognised as a gain from a bargain purchase in the year of the acquisition.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured on a provisional basis when control is
taken and those amounts are revised for definitive accounting purposes within 12 months at most from
the acquisition date.

Goodwill is only recognised when it is purchased as part of a business combination and it is not amortised.
Rather, it is tested for impairment annually. The Group recognises a goodwill impairment loss if the
recoverable amount falls below the initially recognised amount. The recoverable amount is determined on
the basis of the present value of the projected future cash flows of the cash-generating units to which each
goodwill balance is assigned, discounted at a rate that factors in the risks specific to each asset. Goodwill
impairment losses cannot be reversed in subsequent years. Goodwill is tested in-house; the related
calculation methodology is detailed in note 4.5.

The goodwill allocated to the renewabie energy power plants is expected to be recovered over the
remaining regulatory useful lives of those plants. The goodwill balance is written down for impairment to

reflect the reduction in the plants' remaining regulatory useful lives with the passage of time.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at such shareholders' proportionate
share of the identifiable net assets acquired.

4.2 Otherintangible assets
Intangible assets, mainly software and capitalised development costs, are initially recognised at acquisition
or production cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at acquisition cost less

accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The Group’s intangible assets have finite useful lives and are accordingly amortised on a straight-line basis
over those estimated useful lives.

R&D expenditure:

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense in the year it is incurred.
Development costs are capitalised when their cost is separately identifiable at the project level and it is
probable that the project will be technically feasible and commercially viable. Development costs that do

not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.

To the extent capitalised, these costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over five years or over the
period of time for which they are expected to generate revenue, up to a limit of 10 years.

Computer software:

The Group recognises the cost of acquiring software programmes and multi-year licences under this
heading. Costs that are directly associated with the internal development of software are recognised as
19
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intangible assets insofar as there is a clearly defined project whose cost is separately identifiable and it is
deemed probable that the developments will generate future economic benefits for the Group. All other
internal and external costs associated with software maintenance and development are charged to profit
and loss in the year incurred.

Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over five years from when each programme is brought into
use.

Electricity generation rights:

These assets are recognised at their acquisition cost and are amortised over the regulatory usefui lives of
the renewable energy generation facilities in which they are used.

4.3 Property, plant and equipment

These assets are measured at purchase or construction cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. Cost includes the following items:

* The interest accrued during the construction period, to the extent longer than one year, on
borrowings attributable to the asset being built (capitalised borrowing costs). The interest rate used
for this purpose is either that corresponding to the specific borrowings financing the asset or, if there
is no such funding, the Group’s average borrowing cost (note 27).

e The cost of employee benefits and other operating costs directly attributable to construction of the
asset.

¢ In the event the Group is obliged to dismantle its facilities or restore the sites on which they are
located, the present value of the amount of such costs are added to the carrying amount of those
assets with a balancing entry under "Provisions" in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Any subsequent changes in estimated dismantling costs are accounted for by increasing or decreasing
the corresponding assets' carrying amounts in the year in which the estimates change.

In light of the term of the concession for use of the site on which the Pontevedra biomill is located and
the potential realisable value of the assets at the time of dismantling, management has estimated that
dismantling costs will not be material, which is why no provision has been recognised in this respect
on the accompanying statement of financial position.

= On the other hand, the cost of the asset is reduced by the amount of any revenue earned during the
asset testing phase.

e Prior to its transiticn to IFRS-EU {on 1 lJanuary 2004), the ENCE Group revalued the forest land
recognised within "Property, plant and equipment" on the consolidated statement of financial
position to its market value at the time (note 15}; that revalued amount was deemed part of the cost
of those assets, as provided for in IFRS 1.

The Group transfers work in progress to property, plant and equipment when the test period is finished.
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Asset extension, upgrade or improvement costs that represent an increase in productivity, capacity or
efficiency or an extension of the useful life of assets are capitalised as an increase in the cost of the
corresponding assets.

Elsewhere, preservation and maintenance expenses incurred during the year are recognised in profit and
loss.

The replacement of capitalisable items of property, plant and equipment implies the derecognition of the
carrying amounts of the assets replaced. If the items replaced are not depreciated separately and it is not
practicable to determine their carrying amount, the cost of the replacement assets is used as an indication
of what the cost of the replaced part was at the time it was acquired or constructed.

Investment in buildings erected on land used under a concession arrangement is recognised under
“Buildings”. That cost, coupled with that corresponding to the rest of the permanent facitities located on
the land held under concession, is depreciated over the buildings' remaining useful lives, limited by the
remaining concession term. The same treatment is applied to investments in power generation facilities,
in this case the limit being the useful life assigned for regulatory remuneration purposes.

Depreciation and impairment charges

In 2019 and 2018, the Group depreciated its property, plant and equipment using the straight-line method,
distributing the cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives, broken down as follows:

Depreciation Estimated years
rate of useful life

Buildings 2%-3% 33-50
Plant

Biomass generation plants 4% 25

Solar thermal plant 4% 25

Other plants 7% 12-15
Machinery & equipment 6.6%-12.5% 8-15
Tools and furniture 8.3%12.5% 8-12
Computer equipment 20% 5
Vehicles 10% 10
Other items of PP&E 10% 10

Land is recognised separately from the buildings or facilities that may reside on it and is deemed to have
an indefinite useful life; accordingly it is not depreciated.

Any impairment losses are recognised with a charge against "Impairment of and gains/(losses) on disposal
of fixed assets” in the reporting period in which it is determined that the recoverable amount has fallen
below the carrying amount (note 4.5).

4.4 Biological assets

The Group grows several species of trees, mainly the Globulus and Nitens species of eucalyptus. The
timber is used as the raw material for producing pulp or sold to third parties. The trees in a forest
plantation - or forest cover - are considered a biological asset. Forest land is measured in keeping with IAS
16 - Property, plant and equipment and is recognised within the corresponding heading of the statement
of financial position {note 4.3).
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The Group measures it biological assets at purchase or production cost, net of forest depletion charges and
any impairment losses.

Investment in forest assets is measured by capitalising. all the costs incurred directly in acquiring and
developing them, including land rents, site clearing and preparation costs, plantation costs, fertilisers and
forest care and preservation expenses. In addition, because these assets take more than one year to ready
for use, borrowing costs accrued until the time the trees are felled are capitalised in respect of the portion
of the investment funded with external borrowings (currently not very material). The interest rate used is
the Group'’s average borrowing cost (note 27).

The time elapsing from when a eucalyptus grove is planted in the Iberian Peninsula until it is economically
advisable to extract the stumps and subsequently replant varies by species. For the Globulus species,
which accounts for the majority of the Group's forest cover, that period is approximately 35-40 years (if cut
properly the stumps grow back at least two more times). The costs incurred to develop biological assets
are grouped into two categories: (i) cycle costs, which include the incurred costs, mainly associated with
the plantation process, that will contribute to development of the biological assets over the entire 35-40
year cycle; and (i) yield/harvest costs, which are those that contribute to development of the biological
assets in the harvest in question until they are cut. For the Nitens species, this period is 11-15 years as
there is iio efficient regrowth, such that ali development costs are considered cycle costs in this instance.

When the plantations are harvested, the value of the forest cover is reduced with a charge to “Biological
assets ~ Depletion of forest reserve” along with recognition of a corresponding expense under “Depletion
of forest reserve” in the statement of profit or loss at incurred production costs. The amount of that
charge corresponds to 100% of incurred harvest costs and the proportional share of cycle costs calculated
on the basis of the number of harvests per cycle. In addition, when forest cover comes to the end of its
productive cycle, the total amount of recognised forest cover net of accumulated depletion is
derecognised.

There is no 'quoted price' for eucalyptus plantations in Spain and the characteristics of the related
transactions have not to date enabled the identification of market price references valid for extrapolation
to ENCE's forest assets. Elsewhere, the use of the alternative methods contemplated in iFRS 13 for
determining fair value does not enable a reliable quantification of the fair value of these biological assets
due to the vast amount of assumptions and estimates required and their impact on the results of the
estimation, among other factors. As a result, the Group does not measure its biological assets at fair value.

ENCE has developed a mode! for valuing its forest assets based on discounted cash flow methodology
(note 4.5) which it does not consider sufficiently reliable to use as a proxy for the fair value of its biological
assets. However, consistent use of this model over time does provide vatuation ranges and enabie the
identification of trends that are considered when testing its biological assets for potential impairment.

The carrying amounts of the biological assets recognised in ENCE's 2019 consolidated financial statements
are not significantly different from the fair values that would result from valuing the assets using that
discounted cash flow methodology, specifically that outlined in note 4.5, assuming timber prices in line
with current sales prices in the case of the timber earmarked for sale to third parties and the prices at
which the pulp biomills procure timber in the case of forest cover earmarked for pulp-making.
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4.5 Impairment of non-financial assets

At least at the end of each reporting period, the ENCE Group assesses the value of its non-current assets,
including its right-of-use assets, to determine whether there are any indications of impairment, namely any
indications that the amount recoverable through use has fallen below their carrying amount.

Whenever it detects indications of impairment, and at least annually in the case of goodwill, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the assets, which is the higher of their fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. The methodology used to estimate their 'value in use' is to discount the future cash flows
expected to result from operating the assets to present value.

Value in use amounts are calculated for each cash-generating unit (CGU). Goodwill purchased in a business
combination and the right-of-use assets recognised under \FRS 16 are allocated to each of the CGUs
expected to benefit from the synergies arising from the business combination in question. The ENCE
Group's CGUs are each of the pulp biomills (which include the forest assets earmarked as a source of
supply for those mills) and electricity generation plants it operates, as well as the biological assets it
earmarks for sale to third parties.

Each year, the Group prepares a business plan for each CGU which generally covers at least a three-year
projection period. The business plan materialises in financial projections that are prepared using the best
available estimates with respect to macroeconomic variables, forecast sector developments, regulations
and regulatory developments, expected changes in sales prices and the cost of the main raw materials,
capital expenditure, working capital trends and discount rates. Sensitivity analyses are conducted to
determine the impact of changes in all the key inputs that could have a significant impact on asset
valuations.

Terminal value is calculated as a function of normalised cash flow in the last year of the projection period,
extrapolated at a rate of growth in perpetuity that ranges between 1% and 2%. The cash flows used to
calculate the terminal value factor in the maintenance capital expenditure required to ensure the
business’s continuity.

In the case of renewable energy generation assets associated with the Renewable Energy business, for
which cash flows during the construction and operating phases can be estimated with a certain degree of
reliability, the recoverable amount is calculated using estimated cash flows projected until the end of each
plant’s regulatory useful life; no terminal value is modelled. For biological assets, projected cash flows
encompass a productive cycle of up to 40 years and, again, no terminal value is factored in.

To calculate value in use, the cash flows so estimated are discounted to present value using a specific rate
for each business that factors in the time value of money and the specific risks associated with each cash-
generating unit. The discount rates applied in the Pulp business range between 6% and 8%; in the
Renewable Energy business, the return established by the energy sector regulator - around 7% - is used.

If the estimated recoverable amount of an asset is lower than its carrying amount, the latter is written
down to the former by recognising the corresponding impairment loss in “Impairment of and gains/(losses)
on disposal of fixed assets” in profit or loss. Impairment losses other than those recognised against
goodwill are reversible.
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4.6 Leases
ENCE leases certain assets, notably industrial and forest land, industrial eqguipment and vehicles.

Leases are recognised on the date on which the leased asset is available for use as a right-of-use asset
along with the corresponding lease liability, at the present value of the outstanding lease payment
obligations.

To determine the present value of the outstanding lease payment obiigations, the Group considers the
initial duration of the lease agreement and any extension options which ENCE has the power and
reasonably expects to exercise. Those payment obligations are discounted to present value using the
estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate of interest a lessee would have to pay, at the start
of the lease, to borrow a similar amount over a similar term, and with a similar security. That rate has been
estimated, based on available market information, within a range of 2.5%-2.7% for contacts with a term of
between one and five years; of 2.9%-3.2% for contracts with a term of between 10 and 20 years; and of
3.3%-4.2% for leases with longer terms.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the present value of outstanding lease payment obligations, less any
incentives received in connection with the iease.

After initial recognition, lease liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. The interest expense on the lease liability is charged to profit and loss over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets, meanwhile, are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, in keeping with IAS 16 - Property, plant and equipment (notes 4.1 and 4.2). Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term.

Payments under short-term leases {with terms of less than 12 months) and fow-value leases are expensed
directly as accrued. Contingent rents subject to the occurrence of a specific event and variable lease
payments that depend on the revenue earned from or the use of the underlying asset are recognised as
incurred under "External services" in the statement of profit or loss, rather than as part of the lease
liability.

ENCE classifies its right-of-use assets in accordance with the nature of the leased assets in either
“Intangible assets" or "Property, plant and equipment” on the statement of financial position and classifies
the lease liability under “Borrowings - Other financial liabilities” within non-current and current liabilities
an the statement of financial position.

4.7 Financial assets and liabilities
ENCE measures its financial instruments in keeping with IFRS 9 - Financial instruments. Specifically:
Financial assets
ENCE classifies its financial assets into the following categories subsequent to initial recognition: 1) at fair
value through profit or loss; and 2) at amortised cost. Classification depends on the business model used
by ENCE to manage the financial assets and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows.
Initial measurement -
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Upon initial recognition, the Group measures its financial assets at fair value, which includes the
transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition. Exceptionally, transactions costs associated with
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement.

Subsequent measurement -
ENCE classifies its financial assets into the following categories:

i. Amortised cost using the effective interest rate method: assets that are held in order to collect their
contractual cash flows and whose contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and
interest are classified into this category.

A gain or loss on an investment in a fixed-income instrument measured at amortised cost that is not
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the asset is
derecognised or written down for impairment. Interest income from these financial assets is
recognised in finance income in profit and loss as accrued, using the effective interest rate method.

This category mainly includes the Group's "Trade and other receivables”, “Loans extended”, “Deposits,
guarantees and other” and “Cash and cash equivalents”. "Cash equivalents" include short-term, highly-
liquid investments readily convertible into cash within a maximum of three months, the value of which
is not subject to significant risks.

ii. Fair value through profit or loss: the assets that don't meet the criteria for classification at amortised
cost, essentially equity instruments in other companies and, occasionally, derivative financial
instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting under the terms of IFRS 9, are recognised at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a fixed-income investment measured at fair value
through profit and loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented within operating profit. Changes in
the fair value of such instruments are recognised when they arise in "Finance costs" and "Finance
income", as warranted, in profit or loss.

Equity investments in unlisted securities that are not very material and whose fair value cannot always
be determined reliably are measured at their acquisition cost, less any impairment losses.

No financial assets were reclassified between the above financial asset categories in either 2019 or 2018.
Impairment losses -

The Group tests its financial assets at amortised cost for impairment on an expected credit loss basis. Note
6 details how ENCE determines whether a 'significant increase in credit risk' has occurred since initial
recognition.

For trade receivables, the Group uses the simplified approach allowed under IFRS 9, which requires the
recognition in one step of a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses at the time of initial
recognition.

To this end it has its own credit risk assessment and expected loss estimation models which are based on
probability of default, exposure and loss given default parameters and the information available for each
customer, including the credit scores provided by ENCE's credit underwriter. The general threshold built
into this model is that payment is past due when it is in arrears by more than 180 days. Those criteria are
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applied in the absence of other objective evidence of non-performance such as bankruptcy proceedings,
etc.

The recognition and derecognition of impairment allowances against trade receivables are presented
within “Impairment of financial assets” in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets -

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the related cash fiows have expired or
when the risks and rewards incidental tc ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred.

Against this backdrop, the Group derecognises discounted trade and other receivables insofar as all of the
risks and rewards associated with these assets have been substantially transferred.

fn contrast, the Group does not derecognise financial asset transfers in which it retains su bstantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership, recognising instead a financial liability in the amount of any consideration
received.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are trade and other accounts payable by the Group deriving from the purchase of
goods and services in its ordinary course of business and other liabilities that are not commercial in origin
and that cannot be considered derivatives (bank borrowings, issued bonds, etc.).

ENCE classifies its financial liabilities into the following categories subsequent to initial recognition: 1) at
amortised cost; and 2) at fair value through profit or loss. The latter category essentially includes the
contingent payments associated with business combinations and financial derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments.

Debentures, bonds and bank borrowings

Loans, bonds and other liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, which usually coincides with the
amount of cash received, net of any transaction costs incurred. All those liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Finance costs and arrangement fees are recognised on an accrual basis in the statement of profit or loss
using the effective interest rate method.

When i issuing convertible bonds, ENCE analyses whether the instruments constitute a compound financial
instrument or a liability. When issuing compound financial instruments with fiability and equity
components, the equity component is measured as the difference between the fair value of the
instrument as a whale less the amount of the liability component. The liability component is determined
by estimating the fair value of a similar standalone liability at the date of issuance with no equity
companent. Transaction costs associated with the issuance of compound financial instruments are
allocated between the equity and liability components in proportion to their relative carrying amounts at
the time of classification.
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Trade and other payables

Trade and other accounts payable primarily as a result of the Group's business operations are financial
liabilities that do not explicitly accrue interest. They are recognised initially at fair value and measured
subsequently at amortised cost.

The balances payable to suppliers that are articulated via reverse factoring contracts with banks are
included within "Trade and other accounts payable"; similarly, the related payments are classified within

cash flows used in operations.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the Parent’s assets after deducting
all of its liabilities.

The equity instruments issued by ENCE are recognised in equity at the amount received net of any
issuance costs.

Own shares acquired by ENCE are recognised at their acquisition cost and are presented as a deduction
from equity. The gains and losses resulting from the purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation of own equity
instruments are recognised directly in equity and are not reclassified to profit or loss under any
circumstances.

Interim dividends declared against profits for the year and final dividends are deducted from equity when
their payment is authorised.

4.8 Derivative financial instruments

The Group’s activities expose it mainly to financial and market risks deriving from: (i) variability in the
doilar/euro exchange rate (which affects its revenue from pulp sales as benchmark pulp prices are quoted
internationally in dollars); (ii) other exchange rate fluctuations insofar as they affect currency-
denominated sales; (iii) changes in the prices of pulp, fuel-oil, gas and electricity; and (iv) movements in
interest rates. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge these exposures.

They are recognised under “Hedging derivatives” on the liability side of the consolidated statement of
financial position if they present a negative balance and similarly under “Hedging derivatives” within
current assets on the asset side if they present a positive balance.

Gains and losses resulting from fair value changes are recognised as finance income or cost in the
statement of profit or loss, unless the derivative, or a portion thereof, has been designated as a hedging
instrument that is deemed highly effective, in which case they are recognised as follows:

1. Fair value hedges: the hedged item is measured at fair value, as is the hedging instrument, and the
changes in the fair value of both the hedged item and the hedging instruments are recognised, net,
in the same statement of profit or loss heading.

2. Cash flow hedges: the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in "Valuation adjustments"” within equity.
The gains or losses associated with the ineffective portion are recognised immediately in profit or
loss under "Change in the fair value of financial instruments".
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When option contracts are used to hedge forecast transactions, the Group designates only the
intrinsic value of the option contract as a hedging instrument. Changes in the time vaiue of options
that are related with the hedged item are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

For these instruments to qualify for hedge accounting they are designated as hedges from the outset and
the hedging relationship is documented in detail. The Group establishes its risk management objectives

and strategies in entering into hedging transactions at the inception of each hedging relationship and tests ,
its hedges for effectiveness at both inception and regulariy throughout the hedging relationship, i.e., it |
verifies that it is expected, prospectively, that the changes in the fair value or in the cash flows from the
hedged item (attributable to the hedged risk) will be reasonably offset by the changes in the fair
value/cash flows of the hedging instrument.

The amounts deferred in the statement of comprehensive income as a result of hedge accounting arej
reclassified to profit or loss in the same period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. '

Hedge accounting is discontinued when a hedge ceases to be highly effective. If hedge accounting is
discontinued, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument that has been recognised directly in
equity is retained in equity until the commitment or forecast transaction materialises, at which time it is
reciassified to profit or loss. When a hedged commitment or forecast transaction is no longer expected to
taterialise, any net cumulative gain or loss that was recognised in equity is immediately reclassified to
profit or oss.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives when the Group
believes that their characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts, so long as
the financial instrument in question as a whole is not being accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss.

Fair value

Fair vaiue is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date; that price may be directly observable
or estimated using other valuation techniques. The fair value of the various financial instruments is
determined in accordance with the hierarchy established in IFRS 13 as follows:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

% Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs, namely valuation techniques.

The valuation techniques used vary by instrument type. ENCE uses discounted cash flow analysis to value
interest and interest rate hedges and forward points and currency forwards and the Black & Scholes
model to value foreign exchange options.

Fair value is determined for the main financial instruments used as follows:

- Interest-rate swaps are valued by discounting future payments in respect of the differences between
the fixed and floating legs using implied interest rates gleaned from long-term swap rate curves. The
resulting fair value is adjusted for own and counterparty credit risk.
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- Forward currency contracts and tunnels are valued using forward exchange rates for the respective
currencies and the associated volatility matrices. The resulting fair value is adjusted for own and
counterparty credit risk.

The fair values of these financial instruments are obtained from studies compiled by experts in these kinds
of instruments using information provided by agencies or official data organisms and they are cross-
checked with the financial institutions with which the Group arranges them.

The fair value of the various derivative financial instruments is obtained using level 2 inputs according to
the fair value hierarchy stipulated in IFRS 13 in all instances, as they are benchmarked to observable
variables other than quoted prices.

4.9 Distinction between current and non-current

In the statement of financial position, assets and liabilities are classified by maturity, i.e. as current if they
mature within 12 months of the reporting date and as non-current if they mature in more than 12
months.

4.10 Inventories

Raw material inventories are measured at purchase cost, which includes the amount invoiced plus all costs
incurred until the goods are located within ENCE's facilities. Inventories of finished products and work in
progress are measured at production cost, which includes the cost of direct materials, the cost of any
direct labour and general manufacturing overhead.

The Group values its inventories using the weighted average cost method.

The Group writes its inventories down for impairment, with a charge against operating profit, to align their
carrying amount with their realisable amount when the latter is lower than cost. Inventory impairment

charges are reversed whenever the originating circumstances dissipate.

Greenhouse gas emission allowances for own use-

Emission allowances acquired are recognised as inventories, initially at the lower of their acquisition cost,
calculated using the weighted average cost method, or recoverable amount.

Emission allowances received free of charge under the emission allowance trading scheme in effect for
2013-2020 are recognised at their deemed cost, recognising a grant in the same amount as the balancing
entry; the grant is reclassified to profit and loss as the corresponding tonnes of carbon are emitted.

An expenditure is recognised under "Other operating expenses” in the statement of profit or loss for
emissions made during the year by means of a provision whose amount is calculated as a function of the
tonnes of carbon emitted, valued at their acquisition cost, which is their carrying amount in the case of
allowances held at year-end and the purchase price stipulated in the corresponding forward contracts for
the remaining allowances.

When trading allowances are delivered to the authorities for the tonnage of carbon emitted, both the
allowance inventories and the provision set up in respect of their consumption are derecognised.
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4.11 Grants

Non-repayable grants awarded to subsidise investment in productive assets (grants related to assets) are
measured at the fair value of the amount awarded, net of any costs incurred to secure the grants, when all
the conditions attaching to their grant have been met. They are recognised in profit or loss over the
periods and in the proportions in which depreciation expense on the related subsidised assets is
recognised or, when appropriate, when the asset is derecognised or written down for impairment.

Grants related to income are credited to the statement of profit or loss at the time of grant unless they are
granted to finance specific expenses, in which case they are deducted in reporting the related expense.

Government assistance taking the form of interest-free loans or loans at below-market rates, granted
primarily to fund R&D projects and investments in productive assets, is initially recognised at fair value in
"Other financial liabilities" in the statement of financial position. The difference between the loan
proceeds received and their fair value is recognised initially in “Grants” in the statement of financial
position and is reclassified to profit and loss as the assets financed by the loan are depreciated.

4.12 Provisions and contingencies

ENCE recognises provisions for present obligations, whether legal or constructive, arising from past
events, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits, the amount of which can be estimated reliably.

Provisions are recognised when the liability or obligation arises, with a charge to the relevant profit or loss
heading, depending on the nature of the obligation, discounted to present value when the effect of the
time value of money is material. The unwinding of the discount is recognised every year within "Finance
costs" in the statement of profit or loss.

Provisions, which are quantified using the best information available regarding the consequences of the
obligating event, are re-estimated at each reporting date. Such provisions are only used for the specific
expenditures for which they were originally recognised and they are reversed, in part or in full, when the
underlying obligations are extinguished or diminish.

In accordance with prevailing labour regulations, ENCE is required to pay benefits to employees whose
contracts are terminated under certain circumstances. The Group had not recognised any provisions in
this regard at either year-end.

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations with third parties and present obligations that are not
recognised either because it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or because the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements, but are disclosed in the accompanying
notes, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is considered
remote.

4.13 Activities with an environmental impact

Environmental activities are those undertaken with the aim of protecting, enhancing or repairing damage
caused to the environment.
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Environmental-protection expenses incurred are recognised in the income statement in the year incurred
regardiess of when the monetary/financial outflow occurs.

Capital expenditure deriving from environmental activities is measured at cost and capitalised in the year
incurred, following the measurement rules described in sections 4.2 and 4.3 above.

Provisions for probable or certain liabilities, lawsuits in process and pending settlements or obligations of
an unspecified amount of an environmental nature that are not covered by insurance are recognised
when the liability or payment/award obligation arises.

4.14 Post-employment benefits

Certain Group companies have defined benefit commitments to employees who have been in active
service for more than two years and remain in employment at year-end consisting of the contribution by
the Group company and the employee of a pre-defined percentage of his or her pensionable salary to the
“|oint Contribution Pension Plan” offered by the ENCE Group under the provisions of article 40 d) of
Spain’s Pension Plan and Pension Fund Regulations (defined contribution). This pension plan is part of the
SERVIRENTA Il F.P. pension plan and provides retirement benefits as well as permanent disability cover
and life insurance.

Certain Group executives are beneficiaries of an executive pension plan that complements the standard
plan; the executive plan, structured as a group insurance policy, covers beneficiaries’ retirement and the
risks of permanent disability and death. ENCE makes defined contributions based on a percentage of plan
holder salaries.

Contributions to the defined contribution post-employment pension plans are recognised in "Employee
benefits expense” in the statement of profit or loss as they accrue.

Elsewhere, a group of former employees of Celulosas de Asturias, 5.A. is entitled to benefits in the form of
life and disability insurance. That commitment was externalised through an insurance company in 2014.

4.15 Employee benefits - Long-term bonus plans

ENCE measures its commitments to employees in the form of share-based payments at the estimated
value of the commitment at each measurement date.

Those commitments are recognised under "Employee benefits expense" in the statement of profit or loss
on a straight-line basis during the plan's vesting period; the balancing entry varies depending on the
manner of settlement. Specifically, for commitments that are settled in ENCE shares, the expense accrued
is recognised in "Equity - Other equity instruments" in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Elsewhere, the liability accrued in connection with commitments that are settled in cash is recognised with
a credit to "Provisions" on the liability side of the consolidated statement of financial position.

The estimates made to measure the commitments assumed with employees are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and the impact of any estimate changes is recognised in "Employee benefits
expense" in the statement of profit or loss.
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4.16 Revenue and expense recognition

Revenue represents the amounts received or receivable in exchange for the goods delivered and services
rendered in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities, net of returns and discounts and amounts
received but due to third parties, such as value added tax. Revenue is recognised when it can be measured
reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits embodied by the transaction will flow to ENCE. It is
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when control of the goods has been transferred to the
buyer, which in the case of pulp sales is determined on the basis of the Incoterms (international
commerce terms) applied to each transaction and in the case of timber sales is when the goods are
delivered at the customer's facilities. ENCE's performance obligations to its customers are met when the
goods are delivered; it is hot customary for goods delivered to be returned.

Revenue from the generation of power includes the pool price received in the market plus the legaliy-
established premiums applicable to power generated from renewable sources and is recognised when it is
generated and dispatched to the national power grid.

Revenue from the rendering of services - scantly material for ENCE - is recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date, whenever the outcome of the transaction
can be estimated reliably.

Interest income is recognised using financial criteria with reference to the principal outstanding, the
remaining term to maturity and the applicable effective interest rate. N

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

In the power generation business, prevailing regulations establish that any deviations between the
variables estimated by the regulator for the purpose of calculating certain generation premiums, most
important of which estimated pool prices, and those that ultimately materialise will be compensated for in
the tariff assigned in future years (adjustments for tariff shortfall/surplus). These deviations are
recognised as revenue or expense in the year they arise, as their collection from the regulator is
guaranteed.

Expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as they accrue. An expense is recognised
immediately when it produces no future economic benefits or does not qualify for recognition as an asset.

4.17 Income tax

income tax expense for the year is calculated by applying the prevailing tax rate to adjusted taxable
income, which is the sum of current tax (the result of applying the tax rate to taxable profit less tax losses
and credits} and the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

The Parent and the rest of the Group subsidiaries with tax domicile in Spain in which the Parent holds an
equity interest of 75% or more file their income tax returns under the consolidated tax regime provided
for in Chapter VIi of Title VIl of the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporate Income Tax Act.

Tax is calculated by applying the tax laws enacted at each reporting date in the countries in which the
Group companies operate to their profit before tax.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are taxes expected to be recoverable or payable as a result of
differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities in the financial statements and their
tax bases. They are recognised using the tax rates expected to apply when they are recovered or settled.

Income tax and changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liahilities that do not arise on business
combinations are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss or in equity in the
consolidated statement of financial position depending on where the gains or losses giving rise to their
recognition were initially recognised. Variations in deferred taxes arising on business combinations that
are not recognised upon change of control due to the lack of sufficient certainty as to their utilisation are
recognised by reducing the carrying amount of any goodwill recognised in accounting for the business
combination or following the above criterion if there is no goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits
only to the extent that it is probable that the consolidated entities will generate sufficient taxable profit in
the future against which these assets can be utilised. As a general rule, deferred tax liabilities are
recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except where the Parent can control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised are reassessed at each reporting date in order to check
that they still qualify for recognition and the appropriate adjustments are made on the basis of the
outcome of the analyses performed.

4.18 Related-party transactions
The Group conducts all related-party transactions on an arm’s iength basis.
4.19 Foreign currency transactions and balances

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is both its functional and
presentation currency.

Credits and debits denominated in a currency other than the euro are translated to euros using the
exchange rate prevailing at the transaction date; these amounts are adjusted at every reporting date, until
they are cancelled, as function of exchange rate trends.

The exchange differences resulting from the collection and payment of loans and debts in currencies other
than the euro and those deriving from the measurement of accounts receivable and payable denominated
in foreign currency at each reporting date at prevailing exchange rates are recognised as finance cost or
income in profit or loss in the reporting period in which they arise.

4.20 Statement of cash-flows

The consolidated statement of cash flows was prepared using the indirect method and the following
definitions:

1. Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, the latter understood as short-term (<
3 months), highly liquid investments which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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2. Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing activities of the Group and other activities that
are not investing or financing activities.

3. Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not
included in cash equivalents.

4. Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
borrowings of the Company.

4.21 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale when its carrying amount is to
be recovered principally through a sale transaction insofar as a sale is considered highly probable and the
asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition.

These assets {or disposal groups) are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or their estimated
sale price less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Depreciation of these assets ceases as soon
as they are classified as held for sale. Management tests that their carrying amount does not exceed their
fair value less costs to seii every year. if this occurs, any required impairment losses are recognised in
“Impairment of and gains/(losses) on disposals of fixed assets” in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-current assets held for sale are presented in the accompanying statement of financial position as
follows: the assets are presented in a single line item calied “Non-current assets held for sale”, while the
reiated liabilities are similarly presented in a single line item called “Liabilities associated with non-current
assets held for sale”.

In addition, the Group classifies any component (cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units)
that either represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, has been sold
or otherwise disposed of or qualifies for classification as held for sale as discentinued operations.

The after-tax results of discontinued operations are presented in a single line item in the statement of
profit or loss called “Profit/(loss) after tax for the period from discontinued operations”.

4.22 Segment information

An operating segment is any significant business activity from which the Group may earn revenue and
incur expenses, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors and senior
management and for which discrete and reliable financial information is available.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
Management Committee and the Board of Directors.

4,23 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary Parent shares outstanding during the period (not
including the average number of Parent shares held as treasury stock by the Group companies).
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Diluted earnings per share, meanwhile, is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Parent, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, by the
weighted average number of ordinary Parent shares outstanding during the period, increased by the
weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. To this end, management assumes that conversion
takes place at the beginning of the period or when the dilutive potential ordinary shares are issued in the
event of issuance during the year.

5. Energy sector regulations

This section attempts to summarise the most noteworthy highlights of prevailing energy sector regulations
in Spain, as applicable to the business activities of the ENCE Group:

Law 24/2013 (26 November 2013), the Electricity Sector Act, establishes the economic and financial
stability of the electricity system, limiting structural tariff deficits, as its governing principle.

Framed by the overriding principle of ensuring the electricity system's economic and financial
sustainability, any regulatory measure that drives an increase in system expenditure or reduction in its
revenue must be associated with a balancing measure to reduce other cost items or boost income by an
equivalent amount in order to ensure the system's equilibrium. As a result, the possibility of a new tariff
deficit is ruled out, to which end the Act introduces the obligation to automatically revise, from 2014
onwards, system tolls and royalties if the temporary mismatches between revenue and expenses in the
electricity system exceed 2% of estimated system revenue in a given year or the debt accumulated in prior
years exceeds 5% of the system revenue estimated for a given year.

Spanish Law 15/2012 on fiscal measures for energy system sustainability, passed on 28 December 2012,
affected all electricity generating facilities in Spain from 2013 on. All ENCE Group facilities accordingly
became subject to the levy on the value of electricity output, specifically 7% of the revenue obtained from
the sale of electricity.

Royal Decree 413/2014 was published on 10 June 2014, regulating the production of electric power by
means of renewable sources, co-generation and waste, establishing the methodology underpinning the
specific remuneration regime applicable to facilities that fail to cover their costs by enough of a margin to
compete with the rest of the generation technologies on an even footing, establishing remuneration
comprised of:

1. "Remuneration on investment”, which is designed to cover any investment costs that cannot be
recouped by selling electricity in the market. It is set in euros per MW;

2. "Remuneration on operations", which is designed to cover any shortfall between operating costs and
the revenue obtained in the electricity market. It is also set in euros per MW.

The new remuneration system is calculated on the basis of a standard facility throughout its useful life for
regulatory purposes and benchmarked against the activities of an efficient and well-managed company
articulated around the following parameters: 1) the revenue derived from the sale of energy; 2) the
operating expenses needed to run the business; and 3) the amount of upfront investment.

The regime establishes regulatory periods of six years and stub periods of three years. The remuneration
parameters related with pool price forecasts can be revised every three years, factoring in any mismatches
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arising during the stub period in question. Every six years the authorities can revise the standard facility
parameters other than the amount of initial investment and the facilities’ regulatory useful lives, which
shall remain unchanged throughout. The regime also envisages the possibility of revising the interest rate
used for remuneration purposes every six years, albeit only prospectively. The remuneration provided for
operating a given technology depends on fuel prices and can be adjusted at least once a vear.

The premise underpinning this remuneration system is the provision of a reasonable return on investment,
which is defined on the basis of the yield on 10-year Spanish government bonds in the secondary market
during the 24 months prior to the month of May before the start of the regulatory period plus a spread,
initially set at 300 basis points for the first regulatory period, which ended on 31 December 2019 (i.e., a
pre-tax ROl of 7.389%).

Royal Decree-Law 17/2019, adopting urgent measures for the necessary adaptation of the remuneration
parameters affecting the electricity system and responding to the ramp-down in output from fossil fuel
power generation plants, set the 'reasonable return’ applicable for the purposes of calculating the
remuneration for the facilities qualifying for the 'specific regime' during the regulatory period from 2020 to
2025 at 7.09%. Exceptionally, the 2019 legislation contemplates optionally leaving the reasonable return of
7.398% throughout the period from 2020 to 2031 for the facilities that were awarded remuneration
premiums upon effectiveness of Royal Decree-Law 9/2013, adopting urgent measures towards
guaranteeing the financial stability of the electricity system, so long as a series of requirements are
fulfilled.

Ministerial Order IET/1045/2014 implemented Royal Decree 413/2014, establishing the classification of
standard facilities as a function of the technology and capacity installed, approving the remuneration
parameters for standard operational facilities. Ministerial Order ETU/130/2017 updates the remuneration
parameters for 2017-2019.

Remuneration of new facilities is to be determined via a competitive tender process.

The table below sets out the remuneration applicable to the facilities managed by ENCE at 31 December
2019 in accordance with prevailing legisiation:
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Remuneration

Remuneration on operations {€/MWh) (**)
on investment

Facility b.1.2 b.6 b.8 Gas c2 (€/MW)

Renewable Energy business: -

50-MW Hueiva - 61.58 43,18 - - 270,576
41-MW Huelva - 57.74 - - 253,401
20-MW Merida - 59.91 41,92 - - 296,811
16-MW Jaen - 68.58 47.42 - . 266,896
16-MW Ciudad Rea! - 68.58 4742 - - 266,896
14-MW Cordoba - Biomass - 64.86 44.81 = - 234,455
13-MW Cordoba - Gas - . - 72.A8 - 4,634
50-MW Puertollano - Solar thermal 50.35 - - - - 452,513
50-MW Puertollano - Biomass (**) - 45,33 - - - -
46-MW Huelva (**) - 45.33 - -

The Pulp business:

37-MW Navia - 63.35 4411 - - 234,672
40-MW Navia - - - = 37.28 10,671
35-MW Pontevedra (*) - 63.23 43.86 - 37.28 64,475

(*) Uses vapour from the two furnaces that use c.2 and b6/b8 fuel
{**) Plants under construction at 31/12/2019

(**) Data presented in. the Remuneration Parameter Order (TEC 427/2019) enacting the parameters
applicable for the second half of 2018. The parameters corresponding to 2019 are currently pending
approval.

Elsewhere, the Pulp Business facilities are listed for the 'Interruptibility Service' which consists of reducing
their power consumption in response to orders from the system operator. This service is allocated using an
auction mechanism managed by the system operator and regulated in Ministerial Order (ET/2013/2013.

In addition, certain power generation facilities within the Renewable Energy business participate in the
‘Electricity System Adjustment Services' regulated in the TSO's Operating Procedures No. 7.2 and 7.3.

Lastly, Royal Decree-Law 15/2018 (5 October 2018) on urgent measures related to energy transition and
consumer protection included two measures with an impact on ENCE: 1) exoneration from the electricity
generation levy for a period of six months (Octaber 2018 - March 2019); and 2) amendments to Spanish
Law 38/1992, on excise duty, to exempt energy products earmarked for use in the generation of electricity
from the excise duty on hydrocarbons.

6. Financial risk management
ENCE's activities exposure it to a range of financial risks: (i) market risk; (ii) credit risk; and (iii) liquidity risk.

ENCE has a risk management structure and systems that enable it to identify, measure and control the
risks to which the Group is exposed, framed by the following basic lines of intervention:
e  Ensuring that the most important risks are correctly identified, assessed and managed.

e Segregating the risk-taking areas from the risk management function.
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® Ensuring that the level of exposure to a given risk in the course of carrying out its business
activities is consistent with the overall target risk profile.

6.1 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of a loss due to adverse changes in market prices. The Group is exposed to different
classes of market risk: pulp sales price risk; interest rate risk; and price risk with respect to the
commodities used in its manufacturing processes.

ENCE monitors its exposure to market risk via ongoing sensitivity analysis. it complements that analysis
with other risk measures when the nature of the exposures so warrants; those measures inciude the
establishment of maximum exposure limits, which are defined by the Management Committee and
supervised by an independent area tasked with risk management..

Pulp prices

BEKP prices are formed in an active market. The trend in pulp prices is a significant driver of the Group’s
revenue and profitability. Changes in pulp prices affect the cash flows generated by pulp sales.

In addition, pulp prices tend to be markedly cyclical in nature and have exhibited substantial volatility in
recent years. Price trends are primarily dictated by shifts in supply and demand and the financial situation
of the various sector players.

To mitigate this risk, in recent years the Group has invested significantly in reducing its production costs,
increasing productivity and enhancing the quality of the products it sells. Management also continually
monitors the scope for using derivatives to hedge pulp prices on future sales, although the availability of
these hedging instruments is limited.

Based an the Group's 2019 revenue, a 5% change in international pulp prices in euros would have had an
impact on revenue of approximately 3.2% (2018: 3.6%).

ENCE's exposure to the risks deriving from Britain's exit from the European Union (Brexit) is low. It only
sells pulp to the UK market, which accounted for 4.5% of its sales in 2019 (2018: 3.3%). The sales contracts
closed in that market take into consideration the potential exposure and layer in appropriate mitigating
measures.

Supply of timber

Eucalyptus timber is the main raw material used in making pulp and its price can fluctuate as a result of
changes in the balance between supply and demand in the regions in which the pulp biomills are located.

The risk of a shortfall in supply is mitigated mainly by means of inventory management, diversification of
supply sources and, when deemed appropriate, purchases from alternative international markets, usually
at higher logistics costs.

Based on the Group's timber purchases in 2019, a 5% increase in the price per cubic metre of eucalyptus
timber for use in the productive process would have decreased operating income by approximately €9.7
million (2018: €9.8 million).
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Exchange rate

Although the Group sells its pulp primarily in Europe, revenue from pulp sales is affected by the USD/EUR
exchange rate as sales prices are linked to benchmark international pulp prices quoted in USD. Since the
Group’s cost and financial structure is mainly denominated in euros, changes in the rate of exchange
between the dollar and the euro can affect the Group's earnings significantly.

ENCE monitors its exposure to exchange rate fluctuations constantly and actively manages positions that
expose it to this risk factor via its statement of profit or loss. Specifically, it arranges derivative financial
instruments in order to hedge that exposure.

Based on the Group's 2019 revenue, dollar appreciation against the euro of 5% would have increased
revenue before hedges by approximately 3.2% (2018: 3.6%).

Elsewhere, the sensitivity of its net profit and equity to dollar appreciation or depreciation against the
euro as a result of the impact of the derivative financial instruments arranged by ENCE at 31 December is
as follows: dollar depreciation of 10% would have the effect of increasing revenue, net profit and equity
by €20,262 thousand, €15,197 thousand and €4,268 thousand, respectively. In contrast, dollar
appreciation of 10% would have the effect of eroding revenue, net profit and equity by €36,187 thousand,
€27,141 thousand and €5,498 thousand, respectively.

Interest rate

Fluctuations'in interest rates can affect interest income and expense via the financial assets and liabilities
that carry or bear floating rates; they can also affect the fair value of financial assets and liabilities with
fixed rates. Moreover, interest rate movements can affect the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities via
changes in the applicable cash flow discount rates, returns on investments and the future cost of raising
finance.

ENCE's borrowing profile is the result of arranging the financial instruments that are most competitive at
any moment in time; it raises money in the capital markets or with banks depending on where market
conditions are more attractive. ENCE also arranges interest rate derivatives to reduce its exposure to
changes in its borrowing costs or in the fair value of its debt; those instruments are mostly designated as
hedging instruments.

Eighty-one per cent of the Group's exposure to floating-rate borrowings, which are concentrated mainly in
the Renewable Energy business, is hedged using interest rate swaps.

Moreover, the debt raised in the capital markets carries fixed rates, thereby minimising interest rate risk
(notes 27 and 29).

The sensitivity of net profit and equity to changes in interest rates as a result of the impact on the financial
instruments arranged by the Group at 31 December 2019 is as follows: a 50 basis point increase in interest
rates would reduce finance costs by approximately €710 thousand, increase net profit by approximately
£533 thousand and increase equity by approximately €5,108 thousand. Conversely, a 50 basis point decline
in interest rates would increase finance costs by approximately €710 thousand, decrease net profit by
approximately €533 thousand and decrease equity by approximately €5,298 thousand.

39

www.ence.es
Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails



2019 Financial Report
Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries N ence

ENERGIA & CELULOSA

Regulations

The generation of energy from renewable sources is a regulated business, which means the revenue it
generates is conditioned by the premiums set by the Spanish government (note 5).

Based on the Group's 2019 revenue and the average price for the year, a 5% change in the tariffs that
determine the revenue generated by the Renewable Energy business would have impacted revenue by
approximately 1.6%.

Elsewhere, environmental regulations in the European Union have focused in recent years on tightening
restrictions on wastewater discharges, greenhouse gas emissions, etc. Future changes in environmental
regulations could result in higher investments and expenditure to comply with new requirements.

6.2 Creditrisk

Credit risk is defined as the possibility that a third party fails to uphold its payment obligations, generating
a loss for the Group. ENCE assesses and monitors credit risk on an individual customer basis.

After the Group recognises a financiai asset, it checks reguiariy for objective indications of impairment.
The criteria used to do so include the availability of credit insurance cover, the age of the debt, the
existence of bankruptcy proceedings and analysis of the customer's ability to repay the amounts owed.

ENCE establishes limits on the amounts that can be invested or deposited per entity and those limits are
reviewed regularly. The breakdown of impaired financial assets, along with the impact on the consolidated

statement of profit or loss, is provided notes 17 and 20.

Trade and other receivables

ENCE has its own systems for constantly assessing the credit risk of all of its debtors and determining
exposure limits by third party. Those systems are based on available internal information and the credit
scoring analysis conducted by prestigious credit underwriters.

The allowances for the impairment of trade receivables at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were determined
as follows:

1. Pulp business. ENCE trades with customers with good credit histories. Moreover, this risk is covered
by a credit insurance policy that covers approximately 90% of outstanding balances. Credit risk is also
mitigated by demanding irrevocable letters of credit in certain transactions. The Group estimates
that the expected loss will not exceed the deductibles included in the credit insurance policy.

Using the credit ratings assigned by our credit risk underwriter, 43% of the balances outstanding in
the Pulp business at 31 December 2019 correspond to customers ciassified as low risk; 51% to
customers classified as medium risk; 3% to medium-high risk customers; and 3% to high-risk
customers.

2. Trade receivables - Renewable Energy business. As these balances are ultimately backed by the
Spanish state, the expected loss is considered to be nil.

3. Other balances. Scantly material and typically associated with the sale of forest assets. Provisions for
the impairment of receivables are recognised whenever there are indications that they might not be
collected and always when they are in arrears by more than 180 days.
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The ageing analysis of the "Trade and other receivables" past due but not impaired at year-end 2019 is
provided below:

Thousands
of euros
Less than 90 days 2,606
90 - 180 days -
More than 180 days -
2,606

6.3 Liquidity and capital risk

Adverse conditions in the debt and capital markets could make it hard or impossible for the Group to raise
the funding needed in the course of its business operations or to execute its business plan.

ENCE's liquidity management policy is designed to guarantee the availability of the funds needed to ensure
fulfilment of the obligations assumed and the ability to execute its business plans, keeping an optimal
amount of liquid assets at all times and striving to manage its financial resources as efficiently as possible.

Liquidity risk is one of the risk factors tracked most closely by ENCE, to which end it monitors and controls
its financing needs exhaustively. That work includes drawing up short-term liquidity forecasts and financial
plans to accompany the annual budget and business plan. It strives to maintain stable and diversified
sources of financing that permit tapping the financial markets efficiently, all framed by a financial structure
that is compatible with its credit ratings.

In keeping with this prudent financial policy, at year-end 2019, ENCE held sufficient cash and cash
equivalents and undrawn credit lines to cover all of its short-term obligations; that sum is similarly
sufficient to cover its short-term financial maturities by a factor of 7.

The Group has also set leverage targets to match the revenue volatility profile of its different businesses.
Specifically, the leverage target set for the Pulp business is 2.5 times recurring EBITDA, the latter derived
using mid-cycle pulp prices and average exchange rates. The leverage target established for the Renewable
Energy business is 4 times.

The Group's leverage, expressed as borrowings over EBITDA, in 2019 and 2018:

2019 2018
Pulp 4.1 0.6
Renewable Energy 4 3.5

The increase in leverage in the Pulp business in 2019 is attributable to heavy investing, coupled with the
correction in pulp sales prices in international markets during the year. The Group is already taking a
number of measures in order to minimise its cash cost and bring leverage down towards the target level in
the near term.
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Each of ENCE's two businesses is financed and managed separately and optimally in light of their unique
characteristics. The debt of each is non-recourse to that of the other and there are no cross-guarantees.

There are also policies establishing the maximum amount of equity that can be committed to projects
under development before the associated long-term financing has been arranged.

Note that the contractual maturity analysis in respect of the financial liabilities referred to in IFRS 7 is
provided in note 27.

7. Key accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of these consolidated annual financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles requires the use of assumptions and estimates that affect the measurement of
recognised assets and liabilities, the presentation of contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date
and the amounts of income and expense recognised during the reporting period. Actual resuits may differ
significantly from these estimates.

The accounting policies and transactions that incorporate assumptions and estimates that are material in
respect of the accompanying consolidated financial statements are:

The useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The tangible and intangible assets held by ENCE tend to be used for very extended periods of time. The
Group estimates their useful lives for accounting purposes based on the technical specifications of each
asset, the period of time for which they are expected to generate benefits for the Group and applicable
legislation.

Recoverable amount of non-financial instruments

As detailed in note 4.5, ENCE tests its cash-generating units for indications of impairment annually. Those
impairment tests imply estimating the future performances of the various businesses and the most
appropriate discount rates to be applied. ENCE believes its estimates are appropriate and caonsistent with
the current economic climate and its investment plans and that they adequately reflect the risks specific to
each cash-generating unit.

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations

ENCE accounts for business combinations in which it acquires control of one or more businesses using the
acquisition method. That method impiies recognising, on the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, equity instruments issued and any contingent consideration that depends on
future events or delivery of certain conditions, at their acquisition-date fair values, insofar as they can be
measured reliably (note 4.1).

Revenue from energy sales Regulated activity settiement

At every year-end, ENCE estimates how much revenue it has accrued and will receive from the regulator as
a result of its power generation activities, in keeping with the authorities' dicta in this respect. It bases
those estimates on the provisional settlement numbers already published and available sector
information.
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Provisions for liabilities and charges

ENCE recognises provisions for present obligations arising from past events, mainly lawsuits and claims, as
well as certain facility dismantling obligations. To do so it has to evaluate, using the best information
available, the outcome of certain legal, tax and other proceedings that are not final at the date of
authorising its consolidated annual financial statements for issue.

Calculation of income tax, tax credits and deferred tax assets

The correct measurement of income tax expense depends on several factors, including estimates regarding
the ability to utilise the benefits of tax credits and deferred tax assets and estimates as to the fiming of the
tax payments. Actual receipts and payments may differ materially from these estimates as a result of
changes in the business outlook or in tax regulations or the interpretation thereof and also as a
consequence of unforeseen future transactions with an impact on the Group's tax assets and liabilities.

8. Operating segments

The Group has defined the following reporting segments for which detailed and discrete financial
information is available and reviewed regularly along with the operating results by senior management to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segments and to assess their performance. Those
reporting segments are articulated around the two core lines of business, namely:

The Pulp business:
This business line encompasses the following reportable segments:

e Pulp. This segment includes the pulp production and sale activities carried out at the biomills located
in Pontevedra (Galicia) and Navia (Asturias) and the power co-generation and generation activities
related to the production of pulp and integrated therein using the parts of timber that cannot be
transformed in pulp, essentially lignin and biomass, as inputs.

e Forest Management. This operating segment essentially includes the forest cover that supplies raw
materials that are used in the pulp production process (forest assets located in northern Spain) or
sold to third parties (forest assets located in southern Spain).

e  Forest Services & Other. This segment includes residual business activities carried out by the Group,
including forest services provided to third parties, etc.

The Renewable Energy business:

This business line/segment includes the plants that generate and sell electric power using agricultural and
forestry biomass and solar thermal power; they are developed and operated independently.

In order to expand on the disclosures provided in this note, the Appendices include the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of cash flows for the years then ended broken down between the Pulp
and Renewable Energy businesses.

8.1 Operating segment reporting

The table below details the earnings performance by operating segment in 2019 and 2018, based on the
management information reviewed regularly by senior management:
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Thousands of euros
31 December 2019 PULP business
E
. . Forest ) qrest Adjustments ENERGY Adjustments Total
Statement of profitorioss Pulp Services & M Total Pulp  Business & el
Management & Eliminations & Eliminations
Other. Segment
Revenue:
Third parties 564.759 4.573 - (101) 569.231 167.918 {1.798) 735.351
Inter-segment revenue 1.339 12.081 850 (11.120) 3.150 35 {3.184) b
Total revenue 566.098 16.654 850 (11.221) 572.381 167.953 {4.982) 735.352
Earnings:
EBITDA (¥) 66.416 8.738 966 {964) 75.156 51.847 - 127.003
Qperating profit/{loss) 10.975 {1.250} 691 - 10.406 22.111, - 32.517
Financeincome 11.339 45 - (8.344) 3.040 485 {2.574) S$61
Finance costs (11.827) {2.543) (26} 2.562 {11.834) (14.415) 2574 {23.675)
Hedging derivatives - - - - - - - =
Net excharge gains/{losses) 1.513 (1) - - 1512 (22) - 1.490
Impairment of financial instruments {3.491}) (247) 3.550 1188} - - (188)
Share of profit/(loss) of investees
— ; . (2) i - 2) - - (2)
accounting for using equity method
Income tax (4.252) 1.680 (53} - {2.625) {565) 3.585 3585
Prafit/(loss) for the pericd 4.257 (2.328} 612 (2.232) 309 7.604 3.585 11.488
fit/( trributabi \on-
Pro.lt/(..oss_) attributabiete non N : } i . 2289 . 3289
controlling interests
Profit/{loss) attributable to awners of 4257 (2.328) 612 (2.232) 308 5315 3585 9.209
the parent
Capiiel expenditure (**} 170.608 4.470 - 175.078 112.219 {14.390} 272.907
‘o i ¢ far
Depreciation and depletion of farest (883.463)  (61.013} {2.581) - (947.057)  {301.923) - {1.248.980)
reserves
ravision and impairment charges {22.238) {7.885) {2.855) - (33.078) {1.390) - (34.468)

(*} Ameasurethatis not disclosed in the consolidated income statement. It is calculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and forest
depleticn charges, non-current assetimpairment charges, gains or losses on non-current assets and one-off items of incomeand expense that are not-part
of the Group's ordinary operating activities and therefore undermine the comparability of the numbers. This metric is not defined in IFRS.

(**) Does not include the balances corresponding to Right-of-use assets (note 18).

31 December 2018

Thousands of euros

PULP business

. Forest Fo.rest Adjustments & ESERGY Adjustments & Total
Puip Services & AR Tota! Pulp Business & Lo
Management Eliminations Eliminations
Cther Segment
Assets
Non-current 1,064,488 182,425 3,320 {131,095) 1,119,138 656,597 (403,673} 1,372,062
Current 195,467 5,650 1,354 (1,588) 200,523 152,424 (26,981} 335,966
Total assets {a} 1,259,855 188,075 4,714 {133,083) 1,319,661 809,021 (420,654) 1,708,028
Liabilities
Non-current 408,819 47,689 469 {40,682) 416,295 419,384 {75,177) 760,502
Current 218,922 4,550 834 {2,170} 223,137 85,904 {16,981) 292,060
Total liabilities (a) 628,742 52,239 1,303 (42,852} £39,432 505,288 (92,158) 1,052,562
(a) Coes notinclude either equity or deferred tax assets/liabilities
44

www.ence.es

Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails



2019 Financial Report

Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries

sence

ENERGIA & CELULOSA
Thousands cf euros
31 December 2018 PULP business
F
) Forest } o.rest Adiustments ENERGY Adjustments Total
Statement of profit or loss Pulp Services & = Total Pulp  Business & .
Management & Eliminations & Eliminations
Other Segment

Revenue:
Third parties 690.482 2.732 - - 693.214 138.768 - 831.982
{nter-segment revenue 1.574 10.840 850 (9.495) 3.769 149 {3.918) -
Total revenue 692,056 13.572 850 (9.495) 696.9_83 138917 (3.918) 831.982
Earnings:

EBITDA 237.998 7.294 1.277 (979) 245,590 45.286 - 290.876
Operating profit 173.574 9.474 792 - 183.840 25.772 (a6) 209.566
Financeincome 13.958 34 84 {3.605) 10471 489 (9.975) 985
Finance costs (30.878) (3.524) (82) 3.605 (30.879) (10.902) 3401 {38.380}
Hedging derivatives (1.682) - - - (1.682) - = (1.682)
Net exchange gains/{losses) 3.053 - {24) - 3.029 {(38) - 2.991
Impairment of financial instruments - (32) (217) - (249) - - (249)
Income tax {36.972) {1.092) (220 - (38.284) (3.708} 432 {41.560)
Profit for the year 121.053 4.860 333 - 126.246 11.613 (6.188) 131671
Proflt/(l.oss?attrlbutabxeto non- B B . ) ) 2541 ; 3541
controlling interests
Profit attributable to owners of the

rofit attributable to owners 121.053 4.860 333 - 126.246 9,072 (6.188)  129.130
parent
Capital expenditure 84.915 5.641 - - 90.556 147.772 - 238.328

- . .

De':::a“"” and depletionof forest o5, 500, (57.905)  (2.054) . (932709) (278.495) - (1.211.204)
res S
Provision and impairment charges {27.749) (9.872) (2.856} - (40.477) {2.335) - (42.812)

(*) Ameasure thatis notdisclosed in the consolidated income statement. It is calculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and

forest depletion charges, non-current assetimpairment c
are not part of the Group's ordinary operating activities and therefore undermin

harges, gains or losses on non-current assets and one-off items of income and expense that
e the comparability of the numbers. This metric is not defined in IFRS.

31 December 2018

Thousands of euros

PULP business

Forest FO_rESt Adjustments & E’\,IERGY Adjustments & Total
Puip Services & S Total Pulp  Business & L
Management Eiiminations Eliminations
Other Segment

Assets

Non-current 877,420 172,909 3,711 {129,555) 924,485 571,330 (354,283} 1,141,532
Current 294,832 8335 2462 {3,182} 302,447 244 860 {(23,089) 524,218
Total assets (a) 1,172,252 181,244 6,173 {132,737) 1,226,932 816,190 (377,372) 1,665,750
Liabilities

Non-current 303,969 76,494 2,515 (78,246) 304,732 13,764 (75,177} 543,319
Current 218,033 3,837 854 (3.268) 219,456 247,228 {23,089} 443,595
Total liabilities {a) 522,002 80,331 3,369 (81,514) 524,188 560,992 {98,266) 986,914

{a) Does notinclude either equity or deferred tax assets/liabilities.

The adjustments and eliminations between the various segments and businesses correspond to the
elimination of inter-segment balances and transactions. The Group does not have significant amounts of
non-financial assets outside of Spain.

8.2 Disclosures by productive plant

To complement the operating segment disclosures, the table below provides profit and loss disclosures by
pulp and energy production facility:

Www.ence.es
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Thousands of euros

Pontevedra

2019 biomil) Navia biomill Corporate Cther (a) Subtotal Eliminations Tota!
Business metrics:

Pulp output (ADt) 454,631 457,397 - - 912,028 . 912,028
Pulp sales vafume {ADt) 448,707 461,791 - - 916,499 - 910,458
Energy sales volume (MWh) 226,5. 482,619 1,047,162 1,756,365 1,756,365

Continuing operations:
Revenue 230,462 288,870 . 234,008 753,339 {48,036) 705,303
Cost of sales and other costs (119,280} {136,268) - (94,730) (350,278) 45,771 (304,506)
GRQSS PROFIT 111,182 152,602 - 139,278 403,062 {2,265} 400,797
Empioyee berefits expense (20,014} (24,445) {35,706) {12,89) (92,254) - {92,254}
Other operating expenses (52,795) (56,846 {8,233} (65,330) {183,804} 2,264 (181,54C)
Overhead passed on {16,035) (19,642) 43,939 {8,262) - - -
. EBITDA (*} 22,338 51,669 - 52,996 127,003 - 127,003
IA;:"I :’;:"‘:“i ation/amertisaWion and {10,473} 32,669) . {47,344) (90,486) . {90,486
Other non-recurring operating expenses {4,000) - - - {4,000} - {4,500}
OPERATING PROFIT 7,866 13,000 - 5,652 32,518 - 32,517
Net finance cost {2,268) {2,771) (16,375) (21,414} - {21,414)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 5,598 16,229 - {10,723) 11,103 - 11,103
income tax {1,400} {4,057) - 5,852 3955 - 365
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 4,199 12,171 - {4,872) 11,498 - 11,498
:::I,ZS(ESS) attrihutable to non-controlling A A R 2,289 2,286 N 2,289
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 4,199 12,171 - (7,161) 9,209 - 9,209

{a}) Includes the forestry activity, Renewable Energy business and inactive companies

(*) A measure that is not disclosed in the consolidated income statement. It is calculated as operating profit before
depreciation, amortisation and forest depletion charges, non-current asset impairment charges, gains or losses on
non-current assets and one-off items of income and expense that are not part of the Group's ordinary operating
activities and therefore undermine the comparabitity of the numbers. This metric is not defined in IFRS.
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Thousands of euros

2018 Pogit::ﬂm Navia biomill ~ Corporate Other (a} Subtotal Eliminations Total
Business metrics:
Pulp output (ADt) 437,505 530,463 - = 967,968 = 957,968
Puip sales volume (ADt} 429,633 517,833 - - 947,466 - 947,466
Energysales volume (MWh) 230,660 519,328 - 923,935 1,673,923 E 1,673,923
Continuing operations:
Revenue 298,264 390,062 * 180,134 868,460 (32,744) 835,717
Cost of sales and other costs {112,114) (144,388) - (67,670) {324,173) 31,262 {292,911)
GROSS PROFIT 186,150 245,674 - 112,464 544,287 (1,482) 542,806
Employee benefits expense {18,058) (23,274) (28,357) (7,983} (77.672) - {77,672)
Other operating expenses {53,876) ~ (58,144) (11,030) {52,690) (175,739) 1,482 {174,258)
Overhead passed on {15,620} (18,974} 39,387 (4,792) - -
EBITDA (*} 98,596 145,282 - 46,999 290,876 - 290,876
iA:p o :’me:;id Bitionjamettisation snt 18,261) (31,807) - (25,542) (65,610) - {65,610)
Other non-recurring operating expenses {5,000) (10,709) {15,700) (15,700)
OPERATING PROFIT 85,335 102,775 - 21,457 209,566 - 209,566
Net finance cost {15,248) {3,080} (18,007} (36,335 - {36,335)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 70,087 99,695 - 3,450 173,232 - 173,232
Income tax (16,815) {23,918) (828) (41,560} - (41,560)
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 53,273 75,777 - 2,622 131,672 - 131,672
:’rr‘i:irte/ilt:ss) attributable to non-controlling 2542 2542 B 2542
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent 53,273 75,777 - 81 129,130 - 129,130

(a) Includes the forestry activity, Renewable Energy business and inactive companies.
(*) A measure that is not disclosed in the consolidated income statement. It is calculated as operating profit before
depreciation, amortisation and forest depletion charges, non-current asset impairment charges, gains or losses

on non-current assets and one-off items of income and expense that are not part of the Group's ordinary
operating activities and therefore undermine the comparability of the numbers. This metric is not defined in IFRS.

9. Revenue

The breakdown of Group revenue by segment in 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

2019 2018
Renewable Consol. Renewable Consol.
Thousands of euros Pulp Pulp
Energy Group Energy Group
Business metrics
Pulp sales voiume (tonnes) 910,499 - 910,499 947,466 - 947,466
Energy sales volume (MWh) 710,191 1,047,162 1,757,353 749,988 923,935 1,673,923
Revenue
Pulp 476,029 . 476,029 601,744 - 601,744
Electric energy 73,338 167,097 240,435 82,837 137,935 220,772
Timber and forestry services 18,067 821 18,888 8,633 833 9,466
Inter-segment sales 4,947 35 - 3,769 149 -
572,381 167,953 735,352 696,983 138,917 831,982

(*) The difference between the figures presented under “Consolidated Group” for 2019 and 2018 and the
addition of the figures corresponding to the “Pulp” and “Renewable Energy” businesses corresponds to the
elimination of transactions performed between these business segments in 2019 and 2018 in the amounts of
€4,982 thousand and €3,918 thousand, respectively.
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The revenue associated with the generation of electricity includes an estimate of the 'adjustment for tariff
shortfall/surplus’ concept contemplated in electricity sector regulations in order to correct the impact of
deviations between the variables estimated by the regulator, for the purpose of calculating remuneration
on operations, most important of which estimated pool prices, and those that ultimately materialise. That
adjustment is determined every three years and its settlement is usually distributed over the remaining
useful life of each facility for regulatory purposes. ENCE estimates the amount of that adjustment annually
and recognises it in its financial statements. Accrual of that adjustment had the effect of reducing revenue
by €8,552 thousand in 2019 (and by €13,168 thousand in 2018).

in 2019, the Group companies made sales in currencies other than the euro, mainly US dollars, totalling
€221 million (2018: €309 million).

9.1 Geographic revenue split

All of the revenue from energy sales was generated in Spain. The breakdown of revenue from pulp sales by
geographic market is as follows:

Percentage of pulp sales 2019 2018
Germany 203 282
Spain 173 14.8
France 104 8.4
Poland 9.3 103
Turkey 8.4 6.1
Italy 53 7.2
UK 4.5 3.3
Austria 43 40
Other 20.2 1727
100.0 100.0

(*} Breakdown made on the basis of the location of each customer's registered office

In 2019, one customer accounted for 10% of revenue from pulp sales.

10. Cost of goods sold

Consumption of raw materials and other consumables breaks down as follows in 2019 and 2018:

2015 2018
Renewable Consolidated _ Renewabie Consolidated
Thousands of euros Pulp Pulp
Energy Group Energy Group
Purchases 242,579 44 515 283,196 234,284 35,503 268,104
Fhange:_n raw materials and other (8,849) (3,370) (12,219) 248 3325 3573
inventories
Other external expenses 30,101 7,536 36,553 25,132 4,723 28,628
263,831 48,681 307,530 260,264 43,951 300,297

(*) The difference between the figures presented under “Consolidated Group” for 2019 and 2018 and the addition of
the figures carresponding to the “Pulp” and “Renewable Energy” businesses corresponds to the elimination of
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transactions performed between these business segments in 2019 and 2018 in the amounts of €4,982 thousand and
£3,918 thousand, respectively.

This heading mainly includes timber, chemical products, fuel and other variable costs.
11. Employee benefits expense

The breakdown of the employee benefits expense incurred in the businesses carried on by ENCE in 2019
and 2018 is provided below:

2019 2018

Renewable Consolidated Renewable Consolidated

Thousands of euros Pulp Pulp

Energy Group Energy Group

Wages and salaries 59,926 9,354 69,280 53,160 6,383 59,543
Social Security 14,035 2,371 16,410 12,103 1,687 13,790
Contributions to pension plans {note 4,14} 1,983 195 2,178 1,887 122 2,009
QOther benefit expense 1,610 125 1,735 1,358 52 1,410
77,558 12,045 89,603 68,508 8,244 76,752
Long-term remuneration plans (note 4.15) 2,292 305 2,597 652 49 701
Termination benefits 47 7 54 214 5 219
79,897 12,357 92,254 69,374 8,298 77,672

11.1 Headcount figures

The average Group headcount in 2019 and 2018:

Average headcount during the year

2019 2018
Job category Men Women Total Men Women Total
Executives 8 2 10 6 2 8
Individual job contracts 277 120 397 244 93 337
Collective bargaining agreements 470 82 552 448 68 516
Temporary 128 35 163 102 35 137
883 239 1,122 300 198 998

The breakdown of the year-end Group headcount by job category and gender:
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Year-end headcount

2019 2018
Job category Men Women Total Men Women Total
Executives S 2 11 8 2 10
Individual job contracts 289 129 418 255 102 357
Collective bargaining agreements 476 84 560 460 77 537
Temporary 107 35 142 111 33 144
881 250 1,131 834 214 1,048

At year-end 2019, 13 employees had a disability of a severity of 33% or higher.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Board of Directors was made up of 14 members. In 2019 there were
10 men and four women on the Board {2018: 12 men and 2 women). Three of the directors represented
legal person directars in both years.

11.2 Long-term remuneration plans

2016-2018 long-term bonus plan

As contemplated in the plan rules, this remuneration plan was settled on 4 July 2019. Delivery of the
objectives was determined at 84% on average, resulting in a cost of €7,211 thousand, €2,163 thousand of
which was settled in cash and €5,048 thousand in shares (equivalent to 1,105 thousand shares net of the
corresponding withholdings). Approximately 52% of the overall long-term bonus plan was awarded to key
management personnel as of year-end 2018 (note 31).

The cost accrued under this plan in 2019 was €1,172 thousand (2018: 701 thousand).

20159-2023 long-term bonus plan

On 28 March 2019, at the Annual General Meeting, ENCE's shareholders approved the '2019-2023 long-
term bonus plan’, to be settled in a mix of cash and shares over several years.

The idea underpinning the new plan is to provide the management team with a performance incentive,
reinforce their orientation towards delivery of the objectives set down in the 2019-2023 Business Plan,
boost the Group's sustainability efforts in order to create vaiue in the long term and align management
with shareholders' interests and the goal of improving the workpiace climate.

ft is a five-year plan, which coincides with the horizon of the Business Plan, structured into two cycles.
Cycle | runs for three years from 1 lanuary 2019 to 31 December 2021; Cycle Ii spans five years, from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2023.

The Cycle | bonuses represent 40% of the total and will be paid out, if vested, in fuly 2022. The Cycle Il
bonuses represent 60% of the total and will be paid out, if vested, in July 2024.

For the bonuses to accrue, it is vital that the minimum level of target delivery be met, measured using the
criteria associated with the various targets, and for the beneficiaries to stili be providing their services to
ENCE (duly registered with the Social Security) on the corresponding vesting date, subject to the
exceptions customary in incentive schemes such as these.
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The bonus payment contemplated in this plan consists of a percentage of average annual fixed
remuneration over the period covered by the plan, which ranges between 85% and 500%, depending on
beneficiary job categories; it will vest depending on delivery of the following objectives:

i. EBITDA target: Forty-five per cent of the bonus is tied to the level of delivery of the cumulative
EBITDA targets (determined using constant pulp sales prices, exchange rates and discount rates)
for the Group and/or Pulp and Renewable Energy businesses, as set down in the 2019 - 2023
Business Plan, subject to maintenance of certain leverage ratios. The pay scale will range between
50% and 130%; to achieve the minimum payment, at least 80% of the EBITDA target must be met.

ii. Share price target. Thirty per cent of the bonus pool is tied to the level of delivery of the target
related with the performance of ENCE's share price as of the last quarter of each cycle relative to
the performance of a basket of comparable stocks made up of seven companies from the pulp and
renewable energy sectors. The pay scale will range between 50% and 130%; to achieve the
minimum payment, at least 80% of the share price target must be met. The valuation techniques
used to measure this commitment include Montecario simulation models for the quanto basket
stock options contained in certain remuneration schemes and the Barone-Adesi and Whaley model
for the American options in stock option plans.

iii. Sustainability target. Fifteen per cent is tied to the level of delivery of 10 targets related with
ENCE's sustainability efforts. The pay scale will range between 40% and 130%; to achieve the
minimum payment, at least four of the targets must be met by 2021 and six by 2023.

iv. Organisational climate target. Ten per cent is tied to the level of delivery of the organisational
climate improvement target. The pay scale will range between 40% and 130%; to achieve the
minimum payment the Group needs to obtain a score related with this target, to be measured by
an independent expert, which is below the sector average by no more than 3 points {the average
being rebased to 100).

The maximum payout under the plan, considering the current 118 beneficiaries and assuming 100% target
delivery, amounts to €21,780 thousand. Of that total, 49.5% corresponds to key management personnel
(note 31).

The bonuses will be paid 30% in cash and 70% in ENCE shares. The number of shares to be delivered will
be determined using a benchmark share price of €5.8031 (the average share price during the 20 days
before and after 31 December 2018). The Chairman & CEO and the members of the Management
Committee who are beneficiaries of the plan have committed to holding a portion of the shares received
for at least three years: a sum equivalent to two times his fixed remuneration in the case of the Chairman
& CEO and one times in the case of the committee members.

To determine the amount accrued in respect of this undertaking, estimates have been made which are
reviewed at each year end; the impact of any changes in those estimates is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss prospectively.

The charge accrued in this respect in 2019 amounted to €1,425 thousand and is recognised under: i)
“Other equity instruments” in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of the portion to
be settled in shares (€997 thousand before the related tax effect); and ii) “Non-current provisions” in the
consolidated statement of financial position (note 25} in respect of the portion to be settled in cash (€427
thousand).
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12. Other operating expenses

The breakdown of this consolidated statement of profit or loss heading in 2019 and 2018 for the
businesses carried on by ENCE was as follows:

2019 2018
Thousands of euros Pulp Renewabie Consolidated Pulp Renewahie Consolidated
Energy Group Energy Group

External services 129,854 47,787 174,253 134,667 35,523 166,494
Use of emission allowances (note 25) 3,014 1,683 4,697 2,342 718 3,060
Taxes other than income tax 2,406 1,282 3,688 2,832 985 3,817
tlectricity generation levy 3,771 8,837 12,508 4,316 7,521 11,837
Change in trade and other provisions 3,193 {53) 3,140 611 74 685
Other non-recurring operating expenses 4,000 - 4,000 15,7C0 - 15,70C

146,278 59,536 202,386 160,468 44,821 201,593

(*}  The difference between the figures presented under “Consolidated Group” for 2013 and 2018 and the addition
of the figures corresponding to the “Pulp” and “Renewable Energy” businesses corresponds to the elimination
of transactions performed between these business segments in 2019 and 2018 in the amounts of €3,428
thousand and €3,696 thousand, respectively.

“Other non-recurring operating expenses” in the table above includes the costs accrued in 2019 and 2018

in relation to the Environmental Pact entered into with the environment department of the regional
government of Galicia (note 33) and the impact of "Other provisions" (note 25).

12.1 External services

The breakdown of "External services" in 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

2019 2018
Thousands of euros Pulp Renewable Consolidated Pulp Renewable Consolidated
Energy Group Energy Group
Transport, freight and business expenses 37,226 687 37,913 35,861 1,242 37,003
Utilities 35,885 2,286 38,172 42,069 1,417 43,485
Repairs and upkeep 13,855 19,158 33,013 13,592 14,187 27,779
Rentand fees 774 443 1,217 4,862 346 5,145
Insurance premiums 3,455 1,391 4,846 2,991 850 3,841
Independent professional services 8,565 1,718 10,253 10,339 1,657 11,099
Banking and similar services 847 294 1,141 785 159 945
Advertising, publicity and public relations 2,047 ] 2,056 3,741 13 3,755
Research and develcpment costs 438 - 498 704 - 704
Other services 26,741 21,802 45,144 19,723 15,752 32,738
129,894 47,787 174,253 134,667 35,523 166,494

(*) The difference between the figures presented under “Consolidated Group” for 2019 and 2018 and the addition of
the figures corresponding to the “Pulp” and “Renewable Energy” businesses corresponds to the elimination of
transactions performed between these business segments in 2019 and 2018 in the amounts of €3,428 thousand
and €3,696 thousand, respectively.
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“Rent and fees” reflects the costs incurred in respect of short-term leases and variable lease payments.
ENCE has arranged civil liability insurance which covers its directors and executives against damages
caused by acts or omissions in the course of discharging their duties. The cost of that insurance was €46
thousand in 2019 (2018: €35 thousand).

12.2 Audit fees

The fees paid for financial statement audit work and other services to the auditor, Pricewaterhousecoopers
Auditores, S.L., and entities related to the latter in 2019 and 2018 are shown in the next table:

2019 2018
Thousands of euros
Audit services 183 166
Other services (*) 6 6

{(*) in 2019, this concept included other services related with the audit, mainly {i) the review over the internal control
over financial reporting system; and (i) the provision of a report containing the financial ratios needed to comply
with covenants under financing agreements.

In addition, the network to which the auditor belongs invoiced the Group €14 thousand for audit services
performed outside of Spain.

13. Finance costs

The breakdown of this heading in 2019 and 2018 was as follows:

2019 2018
Thousands of eurcs Pulp Renewable Puip Renewable
Erergy Total Energy Total
High-yieid / convertible bonds 4,30C - 4,800 8,409 - 8,409
Senior notes - 3,253 3,253 - 1,893 1,853
Loans, credit facilities & other 3,957 4,507 8,464 2,296 2,659 4,955
Fees and other charges 1,606 3,903 5,509 1333 2,407 3,740
Capitalised borrowing costs (rote 15) - {3,000) {3,000) - - -
Inter-business finance costs - 2,574 - - 3,401 -
Right-of-use assets {note 18) 1,343 268 1611 - - -
11,706 11,505 20,637 12,038 10,360 18,997
Costs associated with refinancing work:
Interest due on €250m high yield bonds - - - 6,741 - 6,741
Penalty for prepaying €250m high yield bonds - - - 6,982 - 6,982
Derecognition of arrangement fees - 1,375 1,375 5,052 - 5,052
- 1,375 1,375 18,775 - 18,775
Hedging derivatives:
Settiement of IR swap (note 29) 128 1,535 1,663 66 542 608
Fair value of IR swaps reclassified to profit or loss - - - 1,682 - 1,682
128 1,535 1,663 1,748 542 2,290
11,834 14,415 23,675 32,561 10,902 40,062

(*) The difference between the figures presented under “Consolidated Group” for 2019 and 2018 and the addition of
the figures corresponding to the “Pulp” and “Renewable Energy” businesses corresponds to the elimination of
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transactions performed between these business segments in 2019 and 2018 in the amounts of €2,574 thousand
and €3,401 thousand, respectively.

2019

[n 2019, having arranged a project finance facility to finance the acquisition in 2018 of the 50-MW solar
thermal power plant lacated in Puertollano (Ciudad Real) (note 20), the Group cancelled the bridge loan
arranged on 30 November 2018, which had been used to temporarily finance that acquisition {note 27).
The unamortised arrangement fees associated with the cancelled bridge loan - €1,375 thousand - were
reclassified to profit and loss.

2018

On 22 February 2018, the Board of Directors of ENCE resolved to issue bonds convertible into new-issue
ordinary shares or exchangeable for existing shares with a face value of €160 million {(note 27). The

proceeds were used primarily to voluntarily prepay the €250 million of high-yield bonds issued by ENCE in
2015.

The cancellation costs, i.e., the interest due until 30 November 2018 (the first prepayment date
contemplated in the offering terms and conditions) and cancellation penaity, totalled €13,723 thousand.
In addition, the unamortised arrangement fees associated with the prepaid issue - €5,052 thousand - were
reclassified to the profit and loss in 2018.

14. Goodwill and other intangible assets

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the various components of intangible assets and
accumulated amortisation and impairment in 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Thousands of eurcs

Balance at Additions/ Transfers Balanceat

31 December 2019 \
ecemboer 01/01/2019  (charges)  (note15)  31/12/2019

Goodwill (*) 6,173 931 - 7,104
Software 22,581 924 4,131 27,636
Development costs 18,452 - - 18,452
Prepayments 1,881 5,867 {(4,131) 3,617
Other intangible assets 44,595 46 - 44,641
Total cost 93,682 7,768 - 101,450

Software (16,728) (3,017) (6) (19,751)
Development costs (11,384) (1,033) - (12,417}
Other intangible assets (1,359) (1,384} - (2,743}
Total amortisation (29,471) {5,434} {6} (34,911)

Goodwil {498) (540) . (1,038)
Cevelopment costs (2,854) - - (2,854)
Other intangible assets (746) - - (745)
Total impairment (4,098) {540} - {4,638}

Total 60,113 61,901
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(*) The additions to "Goodwill" correspond to the acquisition of Ence Energia Termollang, S.A.

Thousands of euros

Changes in Transfers

. Balance at Additions/ Balance at
2018 (thousands of euros) 01/01/2018 con(sncc))'.t.es;;)pe (charges) (noteslé;S and 31/12/2018
Goodwill 2,737 3,436 - - 6,173
Software 20,324 231 364 1,662 22,581
Deve!opment costs 18,432 - 20 - 18,452
Prepayments 535 - 2,849 (1,503) 1,881
Other intangible assets 3,i67 20,428 21,000 - 44,595

Total cost 45,195 24,095 24,233 159 93,682

Software (13,688) (231) (2,808) (1) {16,728)
Development costs {10,348) - (1,036} - (11,384}
Other intangible assets (1,338) - (21) - (1,359)
Total amortisation (25,374) (231) (3,865) (1) (29,471)
Goodwil! {249) - (249) - (498)
Development costs (2,854) - - - (2,854)
Other intangible assets (745) - - - (746)
Total impairment (3,849) - (249) - (4,008)

Total 15,972 60,113

14.1 Additions and other movements

The Group continues to strategically upgrade the IT systems supporting its key business processes.

in addition, on 7 May 2018, Ence Energia, S.L.U. acquired power generation rights awarded via a public
auction held in 2016 to allocate the renewable remuneration regime to new generation facilities, securing
the right to build 58.5 MW of capacity entitled to this regime for £21.0 million. Those rights are going to be
used primarily at the biomass power generation plant in Puertollano.

The Group did not capitalise any own work within intangible assets in 2019 or 2018.

At 31 December 2019, there were fully-amortised intangible assets still in use with an original cost of
£21,704 thousand {year-end 2018: £€17,143 thousand).

14.2 Goodwill

The breakdown of the Group's goodwill at 31 December 2019 by the cash-generating units to which it has
been assigned is provided in the table below:
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Thousands of euras

CGU aliocated to Technology Goodwitl Impairment Carrying
amount
Renewahie Energy business:
Jaen 16 MW - Ciudad Real 16 MW Biomass 2,737 {747) 1,950
50-MW Puertollano Selar thermal 4,367 (291) 4,076
7,104 (1,038) 6,065

The goodwill will be amortised over the remaining regulatory useful lives of the power plants to which it
has been allocated. The goodwill balance is written down for impairment to reflect the reduction in the
plants' remaining regulatory usefu! lives with the passage of time. Factoring in those impairment charges,
the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill has been allocated are in line

with their carrying amounts.

15. Property, plant and equipment

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the various components of property, plant and equipment

and accumulated depreciation in 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

31 December 2019 Balance at Additions/ Derecognitions  Transfers Translation = Balanceat
01/01/2013 (charges} or decreases {note 14} differences 31/12/2019 °
Forest land 83,794 - 83,794
Other land 10,580 2,724 44 - 4 13,352
Buildings 112,291 998 (2,359) 13,679 124,609
Plantand machinery 1,684,500 4,070 (46,342} 149,393 1 1,791,522
Other PP&E 54,065 5,968 (86) 2,561 - 62,508
Prepayments and PP&E in progress 205,256 © 258,626 {121) (165,585) - 258,176
Right-of-use - Land (note 18} (*} - 45,082 (2,634) - - 42,448
Right-of-use assets - Other assets {note 18) (* - 13,143 (204) - - 12,939
Cost 2,150,486 330,611 {51,702) 48 5 2,429,448
Bui'dings (66,261) {2,148) 2,202 (66,207)
Plant and machinery (1,032,402) (67,949) 43,038 (2,531} (1) 1,059,845)
Other PP&E (35,381) (4,946) 6 2,489 - (37,832)
Right-of-use - Land (note 18) - (2,002) 11 ~ {1,991)
Right-of-use assets - Other assets {note 18} - (1,766) 92 - (1,674)
" Depredation - {1,134,044) (78,811) 45,349 (42} 1) (1,167,549
Land and buildings (1,985) - - - {1,985)
Plant and machinery (26,170) - 5,711 - - (20,459)
Other PP&E (1,151) - - - - {1,151)
Impairment {29,306) - 5,711 - - (23,595)
Carrying amount 987,136 1,238,304

{*) The additions recognised in 2019 include 53,349 thousand corresponding to the first-time application of iFRS 16 -

Leases (note 18).
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Thousands of euros

Changes in
2018 (thousands of euros) Balanceat consol.gscope Additions/ Derecognitions Transfers Translation Balance at
01/01/2018 (note 2) (charges) or decreases (note 14) differences 31/12/2018
Forest land 83,853 - {34) (25} - 83,794
Other land 10,533 - - 35 12 10,580
Buildings 111,591 - 1,064 (4,839) 4,475 - 112,291
Plant and machinery 1,486,020 232,553 3,413 {65,259) 27,772 i 1,684,500
Other PP&E 57,275 1,195 1,365 (267} (5,503) - 54,065
Prepayments and PP&E in progress 28,961 216 204,839 (1,859) (26,901} - 205,256
Cost 1,778,233 233,964 210,681 (72,258) (147) 13 2,150,486
Buildings (66,982) - (2,060) 2,781 - - (66,261)
Plant and machinery {938,585) (84,594} (60,215) 50,994 - {2) (1,032,402)
Other PP&E (31,041} (810) {3,689) 159 - - (35,381)
Depreciation (1,036,608} (85,404} (65,964) 53,934 - {2) (1,134,044)
Land and buildings (1,985) - - - - - (1,985)
Plant and machinery (45,388) - (2,746) 21,964 - - {26,170)
Other PP&E (1,579) - - 428 - - (1,151)
Impairment (48,952) - (2,746) 22,392 - - {29,306)
Carrying amount 692,673 987,136

Most of the Group's productive assets are located in Spain.

15.1 Additions

The Group invested in its productive facilities in both the Pulp and Renewable Energy businesses with a
view to making its production processes more efficient, boosting power generation and making them more
environmentally friendly. This capital expenditure breaks down as follows by facility:

Thousands of euros

2019 2018
Pulp business:
Pontevedra 47,422 39,631
Navia 123,336 42,431
Other 5,467 2,324
Renewable Energy business:
46-MW Huelva (*) 27,046 53,236
41-MW Huelva 13,135 7,642
50-MW Puertollano (*) 35,166 59,357
Other 20,814 6,060
Total additions 272,386 210,681
Total right-of-use assets added {note 18) 58,225 -
330,611 210,681

*)

www.ence.es
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Renewable Energy

The Group arranged two EPC agreements for the turnkey construction of two biomass power plants in
Spain, specifically in Puertollano, Ciudad Real (50 MW) and Huelva (46 MW), on 25 April 2018 and 8
November 2017, respectively. Both facilities are due for commissioning during the first quarter of 2020.

The 50-MW Puertollano plant is expected to entail a total investment of €126 million (including the €19
million investment in power generation rights). At 31 December 2019, €95 million of that capex had
already been incurred. The 46-MW Huelva piant, meanwhile, is expected to entail a total investment of
€101 million, €91 million having been incurred at year-end 2019. Those amounts include the capitalisation
of €3 million of borrowing costs in 2019 (note 13).

Pulp

In 2019, the Group executed most of its project for the expansion of pulp production capacity at its
industrial complex in Navia by 80,000 tonnes. That project is expected to entail a total investment of €121
million, €107.9 million of which had been incurred at year-end 2019.

Also in 2019, the Group added 20,000 tonnes of pulp production capacity at its industrial complex
Pontevedra, a project expected to entail a total investment of €19.1 million, €15.1 million of which had
been incurred at year-end. That project complements the work carried out in 2018 to increase its capacity
by 30,000 tonnes. The Group has also installed a new highly efficient condensation turbine.

Other capital commitments

In addition to the undertakings detailed in note 15.2 in exchange for the 10-year extension of the
concession term in Pontevedra, the Group was contractually committed to investing €20 million in the
Pulp business at the reporting date.

Capital commitments in the Renewable Energy business, in addition to the commitments outlined above
in connection with the ongoing construction of two biomass power plants in Huelva and Puertollano,
amounted to €10.4 million at 31 December 2019.

15.2 Public-domain concession - Pontevedra biomill

The Pontevedra biofactory is located on public-domain coastal land for which ENCE holds the
corresponding domain concession, to which end it is subject to the legal regime contemplated in Law
2/2013, of 29 May 2013, on coastal protection and sustainability and amending the Coastai Act, and the
General Coast Regulations enacted by means of Royal Decree 876/2014 (1C Cctober 2014).

That concession was granted to ENCE by Ministerial Order on 13 June 1958. On 20 lanuary 2015, the
Spanish Ministry of Agricuiture, Food and the Environment (currently the Ministry of Ecological Transition
and Demographic Challenges) agreed to extend the concession for 60 years, i.e., until 8 November 2073.

Of the agreed-upon 60-year extension, 10 years are conditional upon ENCE making certain investments at
the biomill related with increasing its capacity and efficiency, improving its environmental performance
and blending the facility into its surroundings.

in relation to that commitment, €58.8 million has already been invested and the Group is contractually
committed to investing another €4.7 million in 2020. These investment undertakings in Pontevedra have
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been similarly factored into the Environmental Pact entered into with the Environmental Department of
the regional government of Galicia along with other investment commitments (note 33).

15.3 Fully depreciated assets and assets out of service

The breakdown at year-end of the original cost of fully-depreciated items of property, plant and
equipment still in use is shown in the next table:

Thousands of euros 2019 2018
Buildings 34,348 34,815
Machinery & equipment 427,860 411,257
Tools 1,794 1,694
Furniture & fittings 6,547 5,511
Other 61,481 61,108
532,030 514,385

The lack of competitiveness of the industrial complex in Huelva caused, among other factors, by the impact
of the regulatory reforms undertaken in the Spanish energy sector, forced ENCE to announce, on 4
September 2014, its decision to specialise in renewable energy generation at the Huelva complex and to
cease the production of pulp, which meant that some of its industrial assets were no longer used for
productive purposes. Those assets' carrying amount at year-end 2019 (which is not significantly different
from their recoverable amount) comprised: an original cost of €105 million; accumulated depreciation of
£89 million; and impairment losses of €16 million.

15.4 Asset revaluations

The Group restated all its forest land to fair value as of 1 January 2004, the date of transition to IFRS-EU.
This value was determined by independent expert appraisers. As permitted under IFRS, these revalued
amounts were considered the land's deemed cost. The gain on the revaluation amounted to €54,102
thousand at year-end 2019 (€54,132 thousand at year-end 2018) and is included in “Valuation
adjustments” in equity (note 22).

15.5 Insurance cover

It is Group policy to take out the insurance policies necessary to cover the potential risks to which the
various items of property, plant, and equipment are exposed. The Parent’s directors and their insurance
advisors believe that the coverage provided by those policies at the reporting date is sufficient.

16. Biological assets

“Biological assets” exclusively comprises the Group’s forest cover; the forest land owned by the Group is
presented under "Property, plant and equipment - Forest land”. The reconciliation of the opening and
closing balances under this heading in 2019 and 2018:
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Thousands of euros

Balanceat  Additions/ Derecognitions Balanceat

31 December 2019
01/01/2019  (charges) or decreases  31/12/2019

Pulp business:

Forest cover 136,646 6,469 (9,303) 133,812
Depletion of forest reserve {45,760} (8,271) 6,839 {48,192}
Provision for impairment (8,478) (384) 1,974 (6,888)
82,408 (3,186) {490) 78,732

Renewable Energy business:
Forest cover 3,007 261 (545) 2,723
Depletion of forest reserve (1,928) (66) - (1,994)
Provision for impairment (330) - 545 (385)
149 195 - 344
82,557 79,076

Thousands of euros

Balanceat Additions/ Transfer to Transfers Balance at

2018 Derecognitions
01/01/2018  (charges) B held-for-sale  (note14)  31/12/2018

Pulp business:

Forest cover 147,987 3,273 (9,532) (5,072) (10) 136,646
Depletion of forest reserve (45,048) (5,699) 4,987 - - {45,760)
Provision for impairment (21,442} (1,655} 13,547 1,072 - {8,478}
81,497 {4,081) 9,002 {4,000) (10} 82,408

Renewable Energy business:
Forest cover 4,859 141 (1,993) - - 3,007
Depletion of forest reserve {3,639) (122) 1,833 - - (1,928)
Proviston for impairment {1,025) - 95 - - (930)
195 19 {65) - - 148
81,692 82,557

[n 2019, the Group planted 784 hectares of land (2018: 223 hectares) and carried out farest preservation
and protection work on 10,041 hectares (2018: 3,263 hectares), work which entailed investment totalling
£6,730 thousand.

In 2018, the Group sold the company that owned its biological assets in Partugal, specifically 1,743
hectares earmarked to crops for the production of pulp (note 2). Those assets were classified as "Non-
current assets held for sale” at year-end 2018.

The Group also capitalised €29 thousand of borrowing costs under forest cover in 2019 (2018: €35
thousand).

16.1 Breakdown of forest cover

An analysis of the Group’s forest cover at year-end 2019 and 2018 is provided below:
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Peninsula Ibérica

Year-end 2019 Pulp Erfrgy crops
Carrying Carrying
amount amount

Age (years) Hectares (€ 000) Hectares (€ 000)
>17 1,043 2,606 - -
14-16 3,553 10,478 - -
11-13 8,927 27,800 - -
8-10 10,508 22,629 = -
4-7 10,204 11,525 318 541
0-3 12,972 10,582 608 188
Impairment of biological assets - (6,888) - (385)
47,207 78,732 926 344

Spain & Portugal

Year-end 2018 Pulp Energy crops
Carrying Carrying
amount amount

Age (years) Hectares _ (€£000) Hectares (€ 000)
>17 1,161 2,282 -
14-16 1,889 6,420 - -
11-13 10,159 32,512 - -
8-10 11,840 27,183 - -
4-7 11,967 14,783 494 727
0-3 10,085 7,706 432 352
Impairment of biological assets - (8,478) - (930)
47,101 82,408 926 149

In addition, the land under management includes 2,594 hectares located in Portugal that the Group sold in
2013, having entered into an agreement with the buyer covering the purchase by the ENCE Group, at
market prices, of the timber produced from the land sold for a period of 20 years.

16.2 Derecognitions and impairment

In 2018, ENCE entered into several long-term agreements for the sale of timber produced at its forest
plantations in southern Spain. The prices agreed upon enabled it to reverse the impairment losses
recognised in prior years in the amount of €9,252 thousand.

At 31 December 2019, impairment losses accordingly stood at €7,273 thousand. A 3% increase in market
timber prices would allow the Group to reverse the impairment allowances in full. In contrast, a 3%
correction in timber sales prices would imply the need to recognise an additional €7.2 million of
impairment losses.
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16.3 Non-current assets held for sale

The breakdown of “Non-current assets held for sale” at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Thousands of eurcs - Balance at Derecognitions Balanceat

year-end 2019 01/01/2019 {note 2.1) 31/12/2018
Biological assets 4,000 (4,000) -
Total 4,000 {4,000) -

During the fourth quarter of 2018, ENCE initiated the sale of its forest assets in Portugal. Those assets were
measured at fair value, in line with non-binding bids received. Following the sale of Iberflorestal, S.A.U. on
30 May 2018, those assets no longer belong to the Group (note 2.1).

17. Financial assets

17.1 Cash and cash equivalents

“Cash and cash equivalents” includes the Group’s cash on hand and short-term bank deposits with original
maturities of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value.

The Group had €222,214 thousand of cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2019 (€101,312 thousand
of which corresponding to the Pulp business and €120,3802 thousand to the Renewable Energy business).

In assessing the availability of the Group's cash, readers should note that the financing taken on by the
Renewable Energy business requires it to maintain a minimum cash balance of €10 million, a sum that
could rise to €30 million depending on the extent to which it uses the credit facility contemplated in
tranche 4. There is an additional cash sweep requirement of €4.8 million under the terms of the
Termollano project finance facility to cover a forward six months' debt service requirement.

The year-end 2019 statement of financial position includes €5,800 thousand of cash denominated in US
dollars (year-end 2018: €3,459 thousand).

17.2 Other financial assets

The reconciliation of the carrying amount of this consolidated statement of financial position heading at
the beginning and end of 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Thousands of euros Current Neg Current e
current current
ENCE's share liquidity agreement (note 22.7) 2,571 - 295 -
Account receivable from iberdrola - Regulator claim - 1,288 - 11,787
Security deposits and other accounts receivable 1,879 6,071 1,929 1,671
4,450 7,359 2,224 13,458
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18. Leases
The application with effect from 1 January 2019 of IFRS 16 - Leases has implied the recognition of the

following balances in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended:

18.1 Right-of-use assets

The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the various components of "Right-of-use assets" and the
corresponding accumulated depreciation charges at the beginning and end of 2019:

Thousands of euros

Note Iia! Additions/ Derecognitions  31/12/2019

recognition {charges)

Cost:

Pontevedra biomill land 15 33,351 - - 33,351
Forest leases 15 11,088 643 (2,634) 9,097
Other (*) 15 8,910 4,233 (204) 12,939
Cost 53,349 4,876 (2,838) 55,387

Depreciation:
Pontevedra biomill land ' 15 - 744 744
Forest leases 15 - 1,258 (11) 1,247
Other (*) 15 - 1,766 (92) 1,674
Depreciation ’ - 3,767 (102) 3,665
Carrying amount 53,349 1,109 (2,735) 51,723

{*) Mainly includes the lease of the land on which the 50-MW Puertollano solar thermal plantis located, as
well as office and vehicle leases.

In 2019, the Group capitalised €1,510 thousand corresponding to payments for the right to use land
earmarked for the development of biological assets.

18.2 Lease liahilities

The recondiliation of the opening and closing balances of the various items reflecting the Group's
obligations under the lease agreements recognised under IFRS 16 at the beginning and end of 2019:

Thousands of euros

- ;
Note |n|t|Aa! Additions .nstall'ments Derecognitions  Transfers Interest 31/12/2C19
recognition paid
Current debt 27.2 4,333 - (5,080) (201) 1,556 1,862 2,471
Non-current debt 27.2 49,015 4,817 - (2,485) {1,556} - 49,792
53,349 4,817 (5,080) {2,685) - 1,862 52,263
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18.3 Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss:

The table below depicts the impact of the Group's leases on "Depreciation and amortisation" and "Finance
costs" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 2019:

Thousands of euros

Note Depreciation Finance Lease
expense payments
Depreciation of right-of-use assets:
Pontevedra biomill land 15 744 1,288 1,570
Other land 15 1,258 253 1,450
Other assets 15 1,766 321 2,060
3,767 1,862 5,080

Considering the leases in place at 31 December 2019, depreciation charges and interest expense related to
the Group's right-of-use assets will average €2.5 million and €1.7 million, respectively, in the next five
years.

19. Inventories

The breakdown of the Group’s inventories at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Thousands of euros . 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Timber and biomass 19,388 9,703

Other raw materials 3,110 2,758

Spare parts {*) 8,854 8,830

Emission allowances 4,639 2,692

Finished goods and work in progress 21,745 18,720

Prepayments to suppliers 78 842 W

Impairment - Realisation value (2,262) - k
56,552 43,545

{*) Presented net of impairment allowances of €14,460 thousand and €13,857
thousand at 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively.

There are no restrictions on title to inventories.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had entered inte agreements with suppliers for the purchase, during the
next three years, of (i) 2.1 million tonnes of biomass for use at the power plants constituting the
Renewable Energy business; and {ii) gas equivalent to 604 GWh PCS.

It s Group policy to take out the insurance policies necessary to cover the potential risks to which its
inventories are exposed and management helieves that coverage at year-end is adequate.
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19.1 Emission allowances

The reconciliation of the opening and year-end Group-owned emission allowance balances for 2019 and
2018 is provided in the next table:

2019 2018

Number of  Thousands of Number of  Thousands of

allowances euros allowances euros
Opening balance 190,642 2,692 143,136 1,713
Allocations 117,073 2,925 119,444 924
Delivered (*) (211,526) (3,089) (221,938) (2,323)
Purchased 130,000 2,111 150,000 2,378
Closing balance 226,189 4,639 190,642 2,692

(*) Corresponds to the allowances used during the previous period.

In November 2013, the Spanish Parliament approved the New National Allocation Plan for the allocation
of emission allowances free of charge in 2013-2020. The new plan upholds the criteria adopted by
Decision 2011/278/EU of the European Commission. Under the Plan, the Group received allowances
equivalent to 117,073 tonnes of carbon emissions, valued at €2,925 thousand, in 2019 (119,444 tonnes
valued at €924 thousand in 2018).

“Current provisions” on the liability side of the consolidated statement of financial position includes
£4,696 thousand in this respect at 31 December 2019 (£3,089 thousand at year-end 2018) corresponding
to the liability derived from the consumption of 231,014 tonnes of carbon in 2018 (211,526 tonnes in
2018) (note 25).

Elsewhere, the Group has contractually committed to the forward purchase of allowances covering a total
of 190,000 tonnes of carbon at a price of €16.24/tonne, exercisable in 2020. 1t is estimated that a portion
of the allowance purchases committed to, approximately 69 thousand allowances, will not be consumed
within the term of the current 2013-2020 Plan. At year-end 2019, the market value of the allowances was
above the forecast purchase price.

20. Trade and other receivables

The breakdown at year-end of “Trade and other receivables” on the asset side of the consolidated
statement of financial position is as follows:
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Thousands of euros 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Trade receivables:

Pulp 19,653 74,121
Energy 15,669 33,663
Other items 3,963 893
Sundry receivables 4,050 1,380
Provision for impairment (4,282) (3,135)
39,053 106,922

The balance receivable by the Group in respect of its share of the financing of the Spanish electricity tariff
deficit stood at €30,163 thousand at 31 December 2019 (€14,906 thousand at 31 December 2018). A
portion of that receivable has been discounted using the Group's factoring facilities.

The credit period on pulp sales averages between 58 and 63 days. The fair value of pulp receivables does
not differ significantly from their carrying amount.

At year-end, the Group had €2.8 million of US dollar-denominated accounts receivable (year-end 2018:
€31 million).

20.1 Factoring facilities

The Group has drawn down €100,654 thousand under several factoring agreements deemed non-
recourse, as all the risks intrinsic to monetisation of the underlying receivables have been transferred,
with an aggregate limit of €132,407 thousand at 31 December 2019 (€49,287 thousand and €95,000
thousand, respectively, at 31 December 2018). The Group pays interest equivalent to 3-month Euribor
plus a spread ranging between 0.80% and 0.95% on the receivables discounted under those agreements.

21. Trade and other payables

The breakdown at year-end of “Trade and other payables” on the liability side of the consolidated
statement of financial position is as follows:

Thousands of euros 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Trade and other payables 154,578 161,258
Payable to fixed-asset suppliers 61,630 65,195
Employee benefits payable 9,271 8,571
Adjustments for tariff shortfall /surplus (note 28) 1,390 -

226,869 235,024

The average payment period on goods and services purchased ranges between 60 and 65 days. The fair
value of trade payables does not differ significantly from their carrying amount.

The Group had drawn down €92,596 thousand under non-recourse reverse factoring agreements with an
aggregate limit of €151,000 thousand at 31 December 2019 (€79,097 thousand and €147,000 thousand,
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respectively, at 31 December 2018). The balances arising from the use of reverse factoring facilities are
classified as trade accounts payable. The reverse factoring agreements arranged by ENCE do not
contemplate the provision of guarantees.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had €60 thousand of US dollar-denominated accounts payable {year-end
2018: €29 thousand).

Spanish Law 15/2010 (5 July 2010) on addressing non-payment of commercial transactions stipulates
certain disclosure requirements in the notes to the annual financial statements on transaction settiement
performance. Against this backdrop, the table below details the trade payables settled in 2019 and 2018
and the amounts outstanding at year-end (excluding intra-group transactions and payments to fixed asset

suppliers):
2019 2018
Average supplier payment term (days) 62 63
Paid transactions ratio (days) 63 64
Outstanding transactions ratio (days) 47 42
Thousands of euros
Total payments made 633,670 628,296
Total t tst ingb
otal payments ou. standing by more 37,028 34,482
than the legally-stipulated term
22. Equity

22.1 Issued capital

The share capital of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. at 31 December 2019 was represented by 246,272,500
fully subscribed and paid bearer shares, each with a par value of €0.90.

Since ENCE’s shares are represented by the book entry method, it is not possible to ascertain its precise
shareholder structure. The table below presents significant direct and indirect holdings in the share capita!
and financial instruments issued by ENCE at year-end 2019 and 2018 as reported by the holders of those
securities to the official registers of Spain's securities market regulator, the CNMV for its acronym in
Spanish, or to the Company itself, in keeping with Spanish Royal Decree 1362/2007:
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%

Shareholder 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Juan Luis Arregui / Retos Operativos XXi, S.L. 29.44 29.28
Victor Urrutia / Asta Inversiones, S.L. 6.34 6.34
Joselgnacio Comenge / La Fuente Salada S.L. 6.38 6.01
Systematica Investments Limited - 1.02
Bestinver Gestidn S.G.l.1.C. S.A. 3.12

invesco Limited 1.10 -
Own shares 134 0.64
Directors with ownership interest of < 3% 0.55 0.43
Free float 51.73 56.28
Total 100.00 100.00

The Company’s shares are represented are officially listed on the Spanish stock exchanges and traded on
the continuous market. All of its shares confer equal voting and dividend rights.

22.2 Legal reserve

In accordance with the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act, 10% of profits must be
transferred to the legal reserve’each year until it represents at least 20% of share capital. The Parént's legal
reserve of £€45,049 thousand covers the stipulated 20% of share capital.

The legal reserve may be used to increase capital in an amount equal to the portion of the balance that
exceeds 10% of capital after the increase. Otherwise, until it exceeds 20% of share capital and provided
there are no sufficient available reserves, the legal reserve may only be used to offset lasses.

22.3 Share premium

The Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act expressly permits the use of the share
premium account balance to increase capital and provides no specific limitation with respect to the
availability of this reserve.

22.4 Reserves in fully-consolidated companies

The next table breaks down “Equity — Reserves in fully-consolidated companies” by the various companies
comprising the ENCE Group at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Pulp business:
Celulosas de Asturias, S.A.U.
Norte Forestal, S.A.U.
Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A.U.
iberflorestal, S.A.U.
Ibersilva, S.AU.

Ence Investigacion y Desarrollo, S.AU.

Maderas Aserradas del Litoral, S.A.
Sierras Calmas, S.A.

Renewable Energy business:
Celulosa Energia, S.AU.
ENCE Energia, S.L.U.
ENCE Energia Huelva, S.L.U.
ENCE Energfa Extremadura, S.L.U.
Energia de la Loma, S.A.

Energias de la Mancha Eneman, S.A.

Bioenergia Santamaria, S.A.
Ence Energia Solar, S.L.
Ence Energia Termollano, S.A.

Consolidation and other adjustments

125,232 125,232
(2,649) 770
6,257 6,802
0 (6,348)
(17,835) (18,166)
(4,713) (5,087)
(5,311) (5,311)
5,472 5,776
25,852 30,377
(28,773) (32,798)
(4,131) (10,533)
(9,566) (12,165)
559
1,485 -
(2,118) (2,118)
3,472 -
(3,958) -
26,395 6,777
115,670 83,208

companies.

(*) Dividends paid out are considered additions to reserves at the receiving

yence
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The balance of reserves in consolidated companies that is restricted stood at €21,492 thousand at year-
end (year-end 2018: €19,334 thousand) and corresponds mainly to the legal reserves endowed by the
various Group companies.

22.5 Proposed appropriation of the Parent's profit

The Company's directors have re
£56,014 thousand for shareholder approval at the upcoming

consolidated profit amounted to €9,209 thousand):
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Thousands of

euros

Basis of appropriation:

Profit/(loss) for the period 56,014

Appropriation:

Interim dividend - paid out in September 2019 {note 23} 12,493

Capitalisation reserve 5,426

Retained earnings (prior-year [osses) 38,095
22.6 Earnings per share
The basic and diluted earnings per share calculations are shown below:

Earnings per share 2019 2018
Group profit attributable to owners of the 9,209 129,130

parent (€ 000)
Weighted average ordinary shares

) 242,974,647 244,706,211
outstanding (*)

Weighted average diluted shares (**) 265,868,377 263,097,948
Basic earnings per share (€) 0.04 0.53
Diluted earnings per share (€) 0.018 0.478

{(*)  Number of shares outstanding less those held as treasury stock

(**} Average number of ordinary shares outstanding plus potential issuable shares associated with financial
instruments canvertible intc shares

The diluted earnings per share calculations use the Group's profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Parent less the expense accrued, net of the related tax effect, in respect of the convertible financial
instruments, which amounted to €4,323 thousand in 2019 (2018: €3,382 thousand).

22.7 Own shares

The reconciliation of "Own shares" at the beginning and end of 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

70

www.ence.es
Free translation from the original in Spanish. in the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails



2019 Financial Report
Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries N ence

ENERGIA & CELULOSA

2019 2018
No. of shares Thousands of No. of shares Thousands of
euros euros
Opening balance 1,566,289 4,352 1,496,062 4,016
Purchases 16,240,986 76,443 9,462,282 63,864
2016-2018 LT bonus plan {note 11.2) (1,105,436) (3,944) - -
Sales (13,403,986) (65,068) (9,392,055) (63,528)
Closing balance 3,297,853 11,783 1,566,289 4,352

On 30 April 2019, the Company's Board of Directors agreed to execute a share buyback programme in
order to allow it to meet the Group's obligations under ENCE's 2019-2023 long-term bonus plan (note
11.2). Under the scope of that programme, which was completed by 17 May 2019, 2,439,000 shares were
repurchased for a total of €10,410 thousand, yielding an average price of €4.27 per share.

The own shares held by the Company at 31 December 2019 represent 1.34% of its share capital (0.64% at
31 December 2018) and were carried at €2,968 thousand (€1,410 thousand at 31 December 2018). Those
shares were acquired at an average price of €3.57 per share. The own shares held as treasury stock are
intended for trading in the market and for delivery under the "Long-term 2016-2018 bonus plan" and the
"Long-term 2019-2023 bonus plan" (note 11.2).

ENCE has a liquidity agreement with a financial broker the object of which is to foster the frequency and
regularity with which the ENCE's shares are traded, within the limits established at the Annual General
Meeting and prevailing legislation, specifically, CNMV Circular 1/2017 on liquidity agreements.

22.8 Valuation adjustments

The breakdown of "Valuation adjustments" at year-end is provided below:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Thousands of euros Fair value Tax effect Afjjustn?ent Fair value  Tax effect Af:ijustrr?ent
in equity inequity

Land revaluation reserve (note 15.4) 54,102 13,509 40,593 54,102 13,509 40,593
Hedging transactions (note 29)

IR swap (6,822) (1,706) (5,116) (2,853) (713) (2,139)

Exchange rate (4,679) (1,171) (3,508) (16,901) (4,225) (12,676)

42,601 10,632 31,969 34,348 8,571 25,778

There was no significant movement in the land revaluation reserve during 2019. The changes in the fair
value of the hedging transactions recognised directly in equity are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in 2019 and 2018.

22.9 Other equity instruments

The reconciliation of the carrying amount of "Other equity instruments” at the beginning and end of 2019
and 2018 is as follows:
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Balance at Reclassified to Balance at
Thousands of euros Settlement Tax effect
ousands oteur 31/12/2018 MM profitortoss  2X© 31/12/2019
Convertible bonds (note 27) 10,913 - - . 10,913
Long-term Bonus Plan (note 11) 3,152 {3,767) 1,817 {454) 748
14,065 (3,767} 1,817 (454} 11,661
) Balance at Reclassified to Balance at
Th ds of ‘ Additions Tax effect
ousands ofeuros 31/12/2017 MO orofitorloss 1@ 31/12/2018
Convertible bonds (note 27) - 14,551 - (3,638) 10,913
Long-term Bonus Plan (note 11) 2,783 - 491 {122) 3,152
2,783 14,551 491 (3,760) 14,065

22.10  Corporate credit ratings

On 12 November 2019, Moody's reaffirmed its long-term credit rating of Ba2 and changed its outlook from
stable to negative. On 18 November 2019, Standard & Poor's reiterated its long-term credit rating of BB

and similarly changed its outlook from stable to negative. In both cases the decision to change the outiook
mainly reflects the correction in pulp prices.

22.11 Non-controlling interests

The reconciliaticn of the carrying amount of this consolidated statement of financial position heading at
the beginning and end of 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2019 Profit/{loss)
Balanceat attributable Dividend Other Balance at
Company 01/01/2019 to NCI payments movements 31/12/2019
Energia de la Loma, 5.A. 4,661 126 (314) - 4,473
Energias de fa Mancha Eneman, S.A. 4,429 1,287 (683) - 5,033
Bioenergia Santamaria, S.A. 550 379 {531) - 398
Ence Energia Termollano, S.A. 8,632 497 (458) {325) 8,346
Total 18,272 2,289 (1,986) {325) 18,250
Thousands of euros
2018 Profit/(loss) Changes in
Company Balanceat attributable Dividend consolidation Balance at
01/01/2018 ta NC! payments  scope (note 2} 31/12/2018
Energia dela Loma, S.A. 4,600 627 (566) - 4,661
Energias dela Mancha Eneman, S.A. 4,070 1,366 (1,007) - 4,429
Bioenergia Santamaria, S.A. 1,233 531 (1,214) . 550
Ence Energia Termollanag, S.A. - 17 - 8,615 8,632
Total 9,903 2,541 (2,787} 8,615 18,272
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Shareholder remuneration

ENCE's dividend policy contemplates the distribution to its shareholders of an amount equivalent to
approximately 50% of Group profit after tax (PAT) for the year, structured into two interim dividends, one
approved at the end of the first half and the other in November, and a final dividend, to be put before the
its shareholders for approval at the Annual General Meeting, as warranted. This dividend policy is
conditional upon delivery of the financial discipline criteria laid down in the Business Plan as well as the
legal and contractual obligations of the Parent and other Group companies.

The next table itemises the dividends declared in 2019:

Dividend Thousands
per share of euros

Final - 2018 earnings 0.054 13,112
Interim - 2019 earnings - July 0.051 12,493
25,605

At the Annual General Meeting held on 28 March 2019, the shareholders of Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A.
ratified the motion to pay a final dividend against 2018 profits in the amount of €0.054 per Ence Energia y
Celulosa, S.A. share (before withholdings). That dividend, which totalled €13,215 thousand, was paid out
on 11 April 2019.

At a meeting held on 30 July 2019, the Board of Directors of the Parent resolved to pay an interim
dividend from 2019 profits of €0.051 per share (before withholdings), in cash. That dividend implied an
outlay of €12.4 million euros and was paid on 19 September 2019.

The table below sets out the related forecast liquidity position, as required under article 277 of the
Consolidated Text of the Corporate Enterprises Act, evidencing the existence of sufficient liquidity at Ence
Energia y Celulosa, S.A. to justify payment of the above interim dividend:

Euros

Available liquidity as of 30 June 2019:

Cash 104,607,750

104,607,750

Interim dividend payment {maximum amou nt) (12,493,277)

Forecast net cash flows until date of approval of interim dividend
Forecast liquidity as of date of approval of interim dividend B 92,114,474
Forecast cash receipts until 30 June 2020

Cash fiows from operating activities (proceeds net of payments) 36,514,576

Dividends 66,500,000
Forecast cash outflows until 30 June 2020

Capital expenditure & income tax {57,1356,980)

Financing transactions {principal repayment, interesta nd dividend payments) (4,000,000}
Forecast liquidity as of 30 June 2020 133,992,070
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24. Grants

The reconciliation of the carrying amount of this consolidated statement of financial position heading at
the beginning and end of 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Subsidised  Grants relating Emission
Thousands of euros allowances Other Total
Ioans {note 27) {0 assets (note 19.1)
Balance at 1/1/2018 360 8,750 - 86 9,196
Additions, new grants (¥} B 92 - - 92
Emission allowances granted - - 924 - 924
Reclassified to profit or ioss (147} (1,215) {924) - (2,286)
Other - - - (86) (86)
Balance at 31/12/2018 213 7,627 ' - - 7,840
Additions, new grants (¥) - 299 = - 299
Emission allowances granted - - 2,924 - 2,924
Reclassified to profitor loss (108} {1,262) (2,924) - (4,254)
Other - (19) - - {19)
Balance at 31/12/2019 105 6,645 - - 6,750

{*} Net of expenses incurred in obtaining them.

The Group has been granted non-repayable grants by several public bodies to finance investments
earmarked to enhancing the productive structure with a significant impact on job creation, energy savings
and efficiency and recovery of the energy generated.

In addition, the Group has been extended loans on advantageous rates of interest with terms of up to 10
years. These loans finance projects undertaken by the Group to expand and upgrade the productive
capacity of its pulp biomiils as well as the Group's research and development work.

The difference between market rates and the subsidised rate as per the loan agreement is considered a
grant and is recycled to the consolidated income statement over the life of the loans on a systematic
financial basis (note 27).

In addition, the Group has been awarded €2,249 thousand of aid by IDEA (acronym in Spanish for the

energy savings and diversification institute) to fund projects which [ead to significant energy savings. That
aid will be recognised and received oice the related investments and projects have been executed.

25. Provisions, impairment charges, guarantees and contingent liabilities
25.1 Provisions and impairment charges

The reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of current and non-current provisions in 2019 and
2018 is as follows:
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Thousands of euros
31 December 2018 Balance at Additions/ Derecognitions Balanceat
01/01/2019 {charges) or decreases 31/12/2019
Non-current:
Employee commitments (note 11.2) - 427 - 427
Dismantiing provision 9,155 190 - 9,345
Other 3,132 626 (720) 3,038
12,287 1,243 (720) 12,810
Current
Employee commitments (note 11.2) 1,801 352 (2,153)
Emission allowances {notes 12 & 19.1) 3,089 4,696 (3,089) 4,696
Discontinuation of pulp production in Hueiva {note 15) 1,767 356 (811) 1,312
Pontevedra Environmental Pact (notes 12 & 33) 5,000 4,000 - 9,000
Other provisions 10,700 - - 10,700
22,357 9,404 (6,053) 25,708
Thousands of euros
Changes in
. - -
s acemer 208 cest s/ peonitons s U SO
{note 2}
Non-current:
Employee commitments {note 11.2) 1,590 277 - (1,867) -
Onerous contracts (note 18) 491 - (491) - - -
Discontinuation of pulp production in Huelva 453 - (394) - - 59
Dismantling provision - 14 . - 9,141 9,155
Other 1,633 2,367 (927) - - 3,073
4,167 2,658 (1,812) 9,141 12,287
Current
Employee commitments (note 11.2} - (66) - 1,867 - 1,801
Emission allowances (note 18) 2,351 3,089 (2,351} - - 3,089
Dis continuation of pulp production in Huelva 4,735 - {2,968) - - 1,767
pontevedra Environmental Pact (note 30) - 5,000 - - - 5,000
Other provisions (note 12) - 10,700 - - - 19,700
7,086 18,723 (5,319) 1,867 - 22,357

The solar thermal power generation plant consolidated by the ENCE Group for the first time in 2018 is
located on a leased property where a series of dismantling costs are contemplated at the end of the
plant's useful life. The line item “Dismantling provision” recognises the present value of the estimated cost
of that work, discounted at a rate of 2% - 3%.

“Other provisions” mainly recognises the maximum estimated amount that ENCE foresees having to pay
to terminate certain agreements arranged in 2008, related. with timber and finished product logistics
services at the Navia biomill, which are no longer competitive in light of currently available alternatives.

25.2 Guarantees extended to third parties

At 31 December 2019, several financial institutions had extended the various Group companies
guarantees for an aggregate amount of approximately €149,398 thousand (€67,199 thousand at 31
December 2018), as broken down in the table below.
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Thousands
of euros

Government p(.ermlttl ng - renewable energy 105,921
power generation plants
Subsidised loans (note 27) 11,632
Receivables discounting lines {note 20) 8,000
Tax claims (note 25.3) 4,836
Executien of forest projects 4,139
Pontevedra cancession (note 15} 3,050
Electricity market security deposit 3,051
Participation in irrigation community works 2,533
Environmental 1,603
Payments to suppliers 1,286
Puertoilano works performance bond 1,241
Other 2,106

149,398

The directors do not expect the amounts guaranteed or the guarantees extended to result in material
liabilities for the Group.

25.3 Contingent assets and liabilities

At year-end 2019, the Group is party to legal claims and controversies that arose in the ordinary course of
its business. The most significant claims are detailed below:

Energy sector regulations in Spain — Energy crops

In 2013 and 2014, the Spanish government passed a series of laws and regulations which have had the
effect of modifying the remuneration and tax regime applicable to the generation of energy from
renewable sources, including generation and co-generation facilities fuelled by biomass.

These new regulations, which put energy crops in the same category as forest and agricultural waste for
remuneration purposes, obliged ENCE to abandon the management of its energy crop plantations in an
orderly fashion, a process it concluded in 2015. Moreover, the regulatory changes were undertaken
without any consideration whatsoever for compensating developers for these heavy investments,
triggering the need to write down the investments in energy crops and other assets for impairment and
recognise provisions to cover the costs of unwinding the related lease agreements and other associated
costs.

As a result, on 14 july 2014, for the unlawful economic damages caused directly to ENCE and certain Group
companies (Ence Energia, S.L. Unipersonal; Ence Energia Huelva, S.L. Unipersonal; Ence Energia
Extremadura, S.L. Unipersonal; Silvasur Agroforestal, S.A. Unipersonal; and Ence Investigacion y Desarrollo
S5.A. Unipersonal; hereinafter, the “ENCE Group Companies”) on account of the undue retroactive
application to periods prior to 14 July 2013 of the new remuneration regime introduced for facilities
generating power from biomass sourced from energy crops, the ENCE Group Companies presented a claim
for damages from the Spanish state (hereinafter, the "Claim") before the Spanish Ministry of Industry,
Energy and Tourism (the "Energy Ministry"). Quantification of the award sought was conditional upon
presentation of a repert compiled by an independent expert.
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Accordingly, on 31 July 2014, the ENCE Group Companies delivered a first report compiled by an
independent expert which quantified the ongoing damages already sustained in respect of 'costs incurred'
at €51,190 thousand, albeit noting that the harmful consequences of the government's actions would
continue to materialise in the immediate future.

Having delivered the documentation required by the Energy Ministry in order to complement/remedy the
Claim on 28 January and 27 February, on 11 December 2017, another report was submitted, similarly
compiled by the same independent expert, quantifying the damages caused by the application of the
above-mentioned remuneration regime with retroactive effect at €63,300 thousand.

The case is currently pending ruling by the government.

Pontevedra public-domain concession

As a result of a Supreme Court ruling dated 11 July 2014 (upholding a ruling issued by the Appellate Court
on 19 May 2011), the Pontevedra Provincial Coastal Service initiated proceedings seeking termination of
the concession for the use of the public-domain coastal land on which ENCE's factory in this Spanish
province sits.

That case was resolved by means of a resolution by the-then Ministry of Agriculture, Food and the
Environment (currently the Ministry of Ecological Transition and Demographic Challenges, hereinafter, the
"Environmental Ministry") on 24 July 2015, That resolution declared the concession partially terminated,
specifically in respect of the land affected by the wastewater treatment plant in Piaceres, the existing
underwater discharge pipeiine and the sports facilities, enabling the continuation of ENCE's activities at the
Pontevedra Operations Centre.

The 24 July 2015 resolution was challenged by the town council of Pontevedra and a local association,
Asociacién pola Defensa da Ria de Pontevedra (hereinafter, the "APDR"), before the National Appellate
Court (Chamber for Contentious Administrative Proceedings), giving rise to two separate proceedings.

In both cases ENCE is acting as co-defendant, upholding the legality of the Environmental Ministry's
actions.

The proceedings brought by the town council of Pontevedra (Ordinary Proceedings 85/2016), seeking a full
concession termination declaration, were dismissed by section four of the National Appellate Court on 7
December 2018, ordering the claimant to bear the legal costs. That sentence has not been appealed and is
thus now a final ruling.

The proceedings brought by the APDR (Ordinary Proceedings 373/2016) were voted and decided on 10
December 2019. Notification of the sentence is pending.

Elsewhere, the Environmental Ministry, via the Directorate General of Coastal and Marine Sustainability
(the "Directorate General"), issued another resolution on 20 January 2016 granting the extension of the
public-domain concession for the land on which ENCE's factory in Pontevedra is located for a total term of
60 years (10 years of which subject to the performance of specific investments in the energy efficiency,
water savings and environmental areas). That resolution has also been challenged firstly through
administrative channels and subsequently in court by the town council of Pontevedra and two
environmentalist associations: Greenpeace Spain and the APDR.
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Those chailenges gave rise to four consecutive court proceedings before the National Appellate Court
(Chamber for Contentious Administrative Proceedings), two of which have since been rolled into ohe,
leaving three. ENCE has appeared in court in all the cases in its capacity as co-defendant, arguing the
legality of the actions of the Directorate General in extending the concession.

in all three lawsuits, the Directorate General has since acquiesced to the claimants' claims by means of
written deeds submitted on 6 March 2019, despite having maintained strenuously and unanimously
thraughout the proceedings that the Ministerial Order/Resolution of 20 January 2016 was fully lawful.
ENCE is opposing the acquiescence vehemently. The Directorate General's acquiescence happened when
the proceedings brought by the APDR and Greenpeace Spain {on 3/9/2019 and 26/04/2019, respectively)
were declared ready for sentencing.

As a result of the state's acquiescence, the Works Committees at ENCE's head offices and at the biomill in
Pontevedra have appeared in court for all three cases,

As for the legal proceedings brought by the town council of Pontevedra, the case is in the final stages of
processing and is close to being ready for sentencing.

The Company, in an act of transparency, published a price-sensitive notice on 15 March 2019, outlining its
assessment of the financial consequences of the worst-case scenario, specifically that in which: (i) the legal
proceedings pursued by the Company to defend the validity of the concession extension awarded by the
state government in 2016, including all ordinary and extraordinary remedies presented at the highest
possible level, conclude without success; (i) the Company is unable to find an acceptable alternative for
continuing the activities of the Pontevedra biomill; and (i) the foregoing leads to discontinuation of
operations at the Pontevedra complex. It was estimated that that scenario would have a one-off and
extraordinary impact of €185 million, of which €74 million would entail an outflow of cash (dismantling
work, contract terminations and employee layoffs).

In addition, on 19 March 2019, the Environmental Ministry began to process draft legislation with the aim
of amending the General Coast Regulations enacted by means of Royal Decree 876/2014. The Company
presented its arguments on 29 March 2019, within the deadline granted to that end.

The Company believes that the legal arguments in favour of the legality of the Ministerial Order of 20
January 2016 extending the concession for the use of the public-domain coastal land are solid and that it
will possibly receive a favourable ruling in that respect. If it does not, based on the solidity of the
arguments put forward in its case defending the validity of the contested Ministerial Order, the Company
will exhaust all actions available to it in the legal system, including appeals at the highest courts of appeal.

Tax contingencies

The Spanish tax authorities concluded several tax inspections encompassing several Group companies
during the first half of 2013. As a result of that process, the income tax assessments for 2007-2009,
seeking a settlement in respect of unpaid taxes and late-payment interest of €6,730 thousand (in the
opinion of the inspection team, the object of the assessments is not subject to fine), were signed under
protest; of this balance, just €4,037 thousand would result in an outflow of cash.

ENCE appealed the assessments before the National Economic-Administrative Court, which rejected its
appeal on 16 June 2016. ENCE lodged a new appeal against this ruling before the National Appellate Court,
which was also overturned.
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In light of the solidity of the line of defence put forward by ENCE and the strong probability that it has an
appeal case, these assessments are being brought before the Supreme Court. In the opinion of ENCE and
its tax advisors, there are solid arguments in favour of a positive ruling on the appeals lodged before the
latter court, which is why it has not recognised any provision in this respect.

Levy on the Value of Electricity Output {("generation levy"}

Several ENCE Group companies have paid and subsequently claimed (firstly before the tax authorities and
subsequently before the National Economic-Administrative Court) the reimbursement of sums unduly paid
in the returns corresponding to the generation levy in 2013-2017, based on the grounds that the tax in
question is not environmental in purpose and the fact that the regulations governing the tax go against
European Community law and the principles of legal certainty, equality, ability to pay and non-confiscatory
taxation enshrined in the Spanish Constitution. The amount being sought amounted to €83.6 million at 31
December 2019.

26. Financial instruments by category

The table below reconciles the Group’s financial instruments by category and the consolidated statement
of financial position headings at year-end:

2019 , Fair va’l'ue through
other
Amortised comprehensive  Fair value through Total a
Thousands of euros Note cost income profitor loss 31/12/2019
Inversiones contabilizadas por el método de participacion - - 49 49
Derivative financial instruments 29 - 1,419 - 1,419
Trade and other receivables 20 39,053 = - 39,053
Other financial assets 17.2 11,845 . - 11,845
Cash and cash eguivalents i7.1 222,214 - - 222,214
Total financial assets 273,112 1,419 49 274,580
Derivative financial instruments 29 - 16,361 - 16,361
Trade payables 21 226,869 - - 226,869
Other accounts payable 28 26,105 = - 26,105
Bonds and other marketable securities 27.1 239,941 - - 239,941
Bank borrowings 271 384,184 - - 384,184
Other financial liabilities 27.2 115,245 - - 115,245
Total financial liabilities 992,344 16,361 - 1,008,705

79
www.ence.es
Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails



2019 Financial Report
Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries _;t! ence

ENERGIA & CELULCSA

2018 Fair value through
cther
Amortised comprehensive  Fair value through Tota!l at
Thousands of euros Note cost income profitor loss 31/12/2018
Derivative financial instruments 29 = 268 - 268
Trade and other receivables 20 106,922 - - 106,922
Other financial assets 17.2 15,682 - - 15,682
Cash and cash equivalents 17.1 348,623 - - 348,623
Total financial assets 471,227 268 - 471,495
Derivative financial instruments 29 - 23,645 - 23,649
Trade payables 21 235,024 - - 235,024
Other accounts payable 28 12,665 - 6,300 18,965
Bonds and other marketable securities 27.1 236,162 - - 236,162
Bank bhorrowings 271 370,815 - - 370,815
Other financial liabilities 27.2 48,692 - - 48,692
Total financial liabllities 903,358 23,649 6,300 933,307

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value are mostly derivative financial instruments. They
are valued using different quoted price variables that are abservable either directly or indirectly using
valuation techniques (note 4.8).

The convertible bonds issued by ENCE were trading at 94.26% of par at 31 December 2019. The fair value
of the rest of the Group's financial assets and liabilities is not significantly different from their carrying
amounts.

“

27. Borrowings
27.1 Bank borrowings and capital markets issues

The breakdown of bank borrowings at 31 December 2019 and 2018 corresponding to [oans and
discounting facilities, classified by their respective maturities, is as follows:

Maturity
Current
Year-end 2019 - Thousands of euros Limit Drawn down 2026 2021 2022 2023 Beyond T‘:a' "°t"'
UrTery
Borrawings - Pulo business
Notes issued 150,494 150,494 - - - 150,494 150,494
Revolving credit facility 70,000 E - - . .
Banklcans 155,000 155,000 - 14,543 46,904 68,286 25,267 155,000
Arrangement fees {1,802) {561} {570} {579) (92) {1,802)
tnterest and coupons payable and other . 1,131 1231 . - - N -
375,494 304,823 1,131 13,982 46,334 67,707 175,669 303,692
Borrow!ngs - Renewasle Energy business
Notes issued 93,000 93,000 - - - = 93,000 93,000
Revolving credit fazility 20,000 - - - . - .
Bank loans 146,000 131,000 17,000 25,900 26,400 24,067 37,633 114,000
Project finance facility - Termollano 101,208 101,208 7,990 7,897 7,117 8,206 70,000 93,226
Arrangement fees - (6,068) - (1,316) {1,069) (816) {2,868) {6,068)
Interest and coupors payable and other - 160 160 - = - - -
360,208 319,300 25,150 32,481 32,448 31,457 197,765 294,152
735,702 624,123 26,281 46,463 78,782 99,164 373,434 597,844
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Maturity
Current Non-current
Year-end 2018 - Thousands of euros Limit Drawn 2019 2020 2021 2022 Beyond dotal notn-
curren
Borrawings - Pulp business
Notes issued 147,694 147,694 - = = 147,694 147,694
Revolving credit facility 70,000 - - - -
Bank loans 110,000 110,000 . 4,075 22,925 35,574 47,4286 110,000
Arrangement fees - {2,250) (528) (537) {545) (640) {2,250)
Interest and coupons payabie and other - B892 892 - - - -
327,694 256,336 892 3,547 22,388 35,029 194,480 255,444
Borrowings - Renewable Energy business
Notes issued 93,000 93,000 - - 93,000 93,000
Revolving credit facility 20,000 - - - - - -
Bank loans 285,500 264,000 153,000 16,100 22,400 22,400 50,100 111,000
Arrangement fees - (6,493) {1,375} (1,136) {1,009) (793) {2,180) {5,118)
interest and coupons payable and other - 134 134 - - - - -
398,500 350,641 151,759 14,964 21,391 21,607 140,920 198,382
726,134 606,977 152,651 18,511 43,779 56,636 335,400 454,326

Going forward, debt service payments in the Pulp Business, assuming current borrowing levels, will be
approximately €3.5 million to €5.8 million per annum. In the Renewable Energy business, those future
payments are estimated at approximately €6.1 million to €8.4 million.

In addition, the Group has receivables factoring facilities with a limit of €132,407 thousand (note 20) and
reverse factoring lines with a limit of €151,000 thousand (note 21).

At the date of authorising the accompanying financial statements for issue, ENCE and its subsidiaries were
in full compliance with their financial obligations, including any covenants that could trigger the
prepayment of their borrowings.

Borrowings - Pulp business

Convertible bond issue and revolving credit facility

On 5 March 2018, ENCE placed €160 million of bonds convertible into ordinary shares with qualified
institutional investors.

The main terms and conditions of the issue:
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Issue size: 160,000,000 €
Face value: . 100,000€
Ranking: Seniof unsecured
Issue date: 05/03/2018
Maturity: 05/03/2023
Coupon 1.25%
Effective interest rate: 1.58%
Conversion price: 7.2635
Conversion premium: 40%
Cenversion ratic {shares / bond): 13,767
Maximum no. of shares to be issued: 22,027,948
Potential dilution (% increase in share capital): 8.21%
Traded on: Frankfurt stock exchange
ISIN X51783932863
Issuance costs: 2,075,000€

The bondholders are entitled to exercise their conversion rights at any time. ENCE, meanwhile, is entitled
to prepay the issue at any time after 26 March 2021, so long as ENCE's share price exceeds €9.443 during a
set period of time and at any time if 15% or less of the bonds remain outstanding.

The terms and conditicns inciude, as is customary in convertible bond issues, a change of control clause
(triggered in the event of the acquisition of 50% of more of the Company's voting shares or obtention of
the right to appoint a majority of directors) entitling the bondhoiders to call the conversion of the bonds
at a price that varies depending on the remaining term to maturity but subject to a minimum equivalent to
par value. Other clauses have the effect of potentially adjusting the conversion price as a function of the
dividends paid out by ENCE annually.

The convertible bonds are unsecured and imply no restrictions on the use of capital. The bonds rank pari
passu with the rest of the Company's unsecured and unsubordinated borrowings.

Having analysed the terms and conditions, ENCE has concluded that it constitutes a compound instrument
and measured the equity component at the time of issuance at €14,551 thousand and the liability
component at €145,449 thousand, which is equivalent to an estimated coupon for a bond of similar
characteristics with no conversion option of 3.25%. if the bondholders want to be repaid in cash they are
only entitled to the bonds’ par value plus any accrued and unpaid interest. All other cancellation options
contemplate settlement in shares, applying the ‘fixed-for-fixed' rule. This financing meets the
requirements for recognition as new financing rather than the modification of existing financing.

Under the scope of this issue, the Group also arranged a €70 million revolving credit facility with a
syndicate of Spanish and international banks. That facility accrues inierest at a rate benchmarked to
EURIBOR and matures in 2023. It was fully available for draw down at the reporting date. The interest rate
on the facility may vary annually as a function of the Sustainalytics environmental sustainability rating
obtained by ENCE, which assesses that debt as "green" financing.

The proceeds from the issue were used to prepay, on 1 June 2018, the €250 million of non-convertible
bonds issued on 30 October 2015 and to cover general corporate needs in the Pulp Business.

Against this backdrop, on 1 June 2018, ENCE voluntarily prepaid 100% of the €250 million of high-yield
bonds it had issued in 2015; those bonds accrued interest at 5.375% and were originally due on 22
November 2022. The costs associated with their prepayment totalled €18,775 thousand (note 13).
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In parallel, ENCE cancelled the revolving credit facility arranged in conjunction with the high-yield bonds
with a syndicate of Spanish and international banks. That facility had a limit of €90 million and was
originally due in 2021.

Loans

At 31 December 2019, ENCE had arranged several loans to finance specific investments contemplated in
its 2019-2023 Business Plan in a combined amount of €155 million; those loans fall due in 2023 and 2024.

A portion of the loans, with a face value of €110 million, accrues interest at fixed rates ranging between
1.75% and 1.90%. The remainder mainly accrues interest at EURIBOR plus a spread of between 1.35% and
1.45%. Those loans are guaranteed by several Group companies belonging to the Pulp business (none of
the Renewable Energy companies are guarantors).

Borrowings - Renewable Energy business

Recourse borrowings

On 25 November 2017, Ence Energia, S.L., the holding company for ENCE's Renewable Energy business,
arranged a senior loan with a syndicate of 12 banks and one Spanish insurance company with a drawdown
limit of €170 million, initially structured into four tranches; it also placed €50 million of notes in a private
placement which was subscribed by a fixed-income fund.

On 8 December 2018, Ence Energia, S.L., the holding company for the Renewable Energy business,
arranged to increase the limit on that senior loan by €17 million and placed €43 million of notes in a
private placement, which was subscribed by two fixed-income funds.

The key terms of those loans are as follows:

Thousands of euros Interest
Undrawn Drawn Maturity rate (*)
Senior notes {iv) 50,000 50,000 Dec. 2025 (ii) 3.45%
Tranchel . 63,000 63,000 Dec. 2024 1.75%3.25%
Tranche 2 6,000 6,000 Dec. 2025 (ii) 3.45%
Tranche 3 {iii) 60,000 52,000 Dec. 2024 1.75%3.25%
Tranche 4 20,000 - Dec. 2024 1.25%-2.75%
Senior notes {iv) and (v) 43,000 43,000 Dec. 2025 (ii) 3.45%
Tranche 5 (v) 17,000 10,000 Dec. 2025 1.75%3.25%
259,000 224,000

(i) 6-month EURIBOR plus a spread which varies depending on the leverage ratio (net debt-to-
EBITDA) in the Renewable Energy business.

(i)  Duein a single bullet payment on the date indicated.
(iiiy Finances the ongoing construction of a 46-MW biomass power plant in Huelva (note 15).
(iv) The notes have been admitted to trading on the Frankfurt exchange (Freiverkehr).

(v) Finances the ongoing construction of a 50-MW biomass power plant in Puertollano (Ciudad
Real) (note 15).
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The main coilateral provided to secure those loans is a pledge over the shares of the Group companies
encompassed by the Renewable Energy business (other than those associated with the thermal solar
power plant acquired in 2018; note 2} and over their present and future assets and collection claims.

The financing similarly includes certain cbligations, which are customary in these types of facilities, mainly
related to the disclosure of specific business and financial information, compliance with certain solvency
and profitability financial ratios and a requirement to maintain a minimum biomass stock buffer
(warehoused and supply agreements), equivalent to three months' consumption.

The covenants also stipulate a cash sweep in the Renewable Energy business of at least €34.3 million,
including any amounts drawn down under tranche 4, compliance with certain ratios related with the
business's leverage, financial position and cash flow generation capabilities and certain restrictions
regarding the payment of dividends and ability to secure additional financing.

The commissions paid and other charges incurred to arrange this funding totalled €5,813 thousand.

In order to hedge the risk deriving from this floating-rate facility, ENCE restructured the hedge
agreements it had arranged for the purposes of its previous facilities. The new interest-rate swaps cover
83% of the financing drawn down and lock in an average rate of 1.35% (note 29).

Standard & Poor's assigned the Renewable Energy business's loan - considered “green" finance, an E1
rating, the highest score on its Green Evaluation spectrum.

This financing is not recourse to the Group companies comprising the Pulp business.

Project finance facility at the Puertollano thermal solar power plant

On 29 March 2019, Ence Energia Solar, S.L.U., 100%-owned by ENCE Energfa, S.L.U., and Ence Energia
Termollano, S.A., 90%-owned by Ence Energfa Solar, S.L.U., arranged a project finance facility with a
syndicate of four financial institutions to finance the acquisition of a 56-MW thermai solar power plant
located in Puertollano (Ciudad Real); that acquisition closed at the end of 2018.

The amount of this project finance facility initially drawn down was €109,570; it matures on 31 December
2031. The key terms of the facility:

Interest
Thousands of euras Drawn Maturity rate
Tranche1l 23,203 dic-2026 6m Euribor + 1.95% - 2.3%
Trancha?2 78,005 dic-2031 6m Euribor + 1.95%- 2.3%

101,208

The proceeds were used to cancel the bridge loan arranged on 30 November 2018 by Ence Energia Solar,
S.L.U. to initially finance the above-mentioned acquisition (note 2) and also to cancel €7,002 thousand
contributed by IDAE (acronym in Spanish for the energy savings and diversification institute}, the plant's
minority shareholder.

The arrangement and other costs incurred to obtain this facility totalled €2,178 thousand.
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The project finance facility includes guarantees related exclusively to the asset it finances (i.e., it is not
recourse to the rest of the companies comprising the Pulp business), including a pledge over 90% of the
shares of ENCE Energia Termollano, S.A. (the plant owner), over 100% of the shares of ENCE Energia Solar,
S.L.U., and over its current and future assets and credit claims. It also implies a series of obligations
related to the disclosure of certain business and financial information, which are customary in these types
of facilities, and the requirement to comply with certain solvency and profitability financial ratios based
on the consolidated financial information of Ence Energia Solar, S.L.U. Lastly, the facility includes certain
restrictions, mainly related to the ability to pay dividends and obtain new financing and the requirement
to maintain a cash sweep equivalent to coverage of 6 months' debt service.

Based on the corresponding analysis, it was concluded that this financing meets the requirements for
recognition as new financing rather than the modification of existing financial liabilities (the original
bridge loan).

In order to hedge the risk deriving from this floating-rate financing facility, ENCE arranged interest-rate
hedges with the project financiers for a notional amount equivalent to 70% of the drawdowns estimated
over the term of the loan, locking in a fixed rate of 2% (note 29).

Standard & Poor's has assigned the facility - considered "green” finance, an E1 rating, the highest score on
its Green Evaluation spectrum.

Bridge loan — Solar thermal plant in Puertollano

On 30 November 2018, Ence Energia Solar, S.L.U., 100% owned by ENCE Energia, S.L.U., arranged a €139
million loars due 30 November 2019 with a bank in order to temporarily firance the acquisition of the
solar thermal power plant located in Puertollano (note 2).

That loan accrued interest at a floating rate benchmarked to Euribor plus a spread ranging between 1%
and 2.5%. The fees paid in 2018 to arrange this funding totalled €2,240 thousand.

In 2019, the bridge loan was taken out by a new facility tailored in terms of size and maturity schedule to
that plant's cash generation capabilities.

27.2 Other financial liabilities

The breakdown of these liabilities at year-end:

Maturity
Current Non-current
Year-end 2019 - Thousands of euros Drawn down 2020 2021 2022 2023 Beyond ot no:1-
current
Other financial liabilities - Pulp business
Financing granted by public organisms 62,029 4,618 3,391 5,848 8,242 39,930 57,411
tiabilities for right-of-use assets {note 18) 43,657 2,124 1,575 1,343 1,119 37,496 41,533
Other 953 953
106,639 7,695 4,966 7,191 9,361 77426 98,944
Other financial liabilities - Renewable Energy business
Liabilities for right-of-use assets {note 18} 8,606 347 333 333 328 7,265 8,259
8,606 347 333 333 328 7,265 8,259
115,245 8,042 5,299 7,524 9,689 84,691 107,203
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Maturity
Current Largo plazo
Year-end 2018 - Thousands of euros Drawndown 2019 2020 2021 2022 Beyond ~ °% “°t”'
curren
Other financlal liabilities - Pulp business
Financing granted by public organisms 39,600 2,408 3,340 3,382 5,848 24,613 37,292
Other 2,089 2,088 o
41,689 4,497 3,340 3,392 5,848 24,613 37,192
Other financ!a! liabilities - Renewable Energy business
Financing extended by NC! 7,002 437 437 437 437 5,254 6,566
7,002 437 437 437 437 5254 6,566
48,692 4,934 3,777 3,829 5,285 29,866 43,758

The line item “Financing granted by public organisms” corresponds mainly to loans obtained, usually at
advantageous rates, to finance projects undertaken by ENCE to expand and upgrade the productive

capacity of its pulp biomills, as well as its research and development work.

Most are loans extended under the scope of the so-called Re-industrialisation and Manufacturing
Competitiveness Stimuius Programme and the proceeds are being used to finance certain investments at
the Pontevedra and Navia pulp biomills. The loans are repayable over a 10-year term and bear interest at
fixed rates ranging between 1.65% and 2.29%. There is a three-year grace period.

fn 2019, the line item “Financing extended by NCI” included loans awarded by IDEA, a minority
shareholder in Ence Energfa Termollano, S.A. which were cancelled in the course of arranging the solar

thermal power plant's project finance facility in 2019 (note 27.1).

27.3 Statement of cash flows

Below is a reconciliation between the changes in the Group's borrowings (bank borrowings, capital
markets issues and other financial liabilities) and the cash flows from financing activities presented under
“Proceeds from and repayment of financial liabilities” in the 2019 statement of cash flows:

Cash flows Movements nat entalling cash flows
2alance at In‘itial. lvssues and  Repayments/ Arrangement Char}gs reiated  Unwinding of Balanceat
Thousands of euros 01/01/2019 application drawdowns lnshll_me.-.rs Interest pa'd Interestacerued fees acerued toright-of-use  discountand 31/12/2019
cFIFRS 16 {net of fees) ._paid assels other
Barrowings - Pulp business
Notes and bonds [rote 27.1) 145,443 (122) 570 2,800 148,692
Bankfoans 110,000 70,000 25,000) - - 155,000
Other financ!al liabilities 41,257 23,698 {2,599) 80 62,437
Other non-currentliacilities 2,608 1,798 - 267 4,673
Interest and coupons payable and other 1,323 - - {3.666) 4,003 = 1,680
Liabilities related with right-of-use assets N 46,049 {2,688) (1,573} 1,573 - 237 o - 43,657
300,631 46,348 85,374 {30,288} (5,239} 5,596 570 297 3,147 416,137
Derivatives associated with inanzing 263 - - - 1126) - - - 164 301
300,853 46,049 95,374 {3¢,288) (5,365) 5,596 570 297 3,311 416,438
Borrowings - Renewabte Energy business
Notes and bonds 90,719 - - 530 91,249
Barkloans 259,789 15,943 (153,000) 1,951 128,683
Project finance fac!iity - Termollanc - 107,392 18,362} 178 99,208
Ctrer financial liabilities 7,300 - {7,000) - c
Other ron-currentliab;lities 16,357 6,743 - - {1,667) 21432
Interest and coupons payakle and other 134 - - - 17,572} 7,599 - 161
Liabilities related with right-of-use assets - 7,300 - (529) {289} 289 - 1,835 8,606
374,000 7,300 132,078 {168,891) (7,861) 7,888 2,658 1,835 (1,667) 349,341
Derivatives associated with finarcing 7,536 - - 3,565) - - - 5,983 9,960
381,536 7,300 134,078 1168,891) {11,430) 7,888 2,659 14835 4,326 359,31
682,429 53,349 229,451 {189,178} (16,795) 13,484 3,229 2,132 7,538 775,739
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In 2018 the main reconciliation items were arrangement fees recognised in profit and loss and interest
accrued and outstanding.

28. Other non-current liahilities:

The breakdown of these liabilities at year-end:

Maturity
Current
Year-end 2019 - Thousands of euros Total 2020 2021 2022 2023 Beyond 0% non
. current
Other non-current liabilities - Pulp business
Adjustments for tariff shortfall 4,866 193 208 223 2393 4,003 4,673
4,866 193 208 223 239 4,003 4,673
Other non-current liabilities - Renewable Energy business
Adjustments for tariff shortfall 18,314 1,197 1,285 1,381 1,483 12,968 17,117
Other 4,315 - 4,315 - - - 4,315
22,629 1,187 5,600 1,381 1,483 12,968 21,432
27,495 1,390 5,808 1,604 1,722 16,971 26,105
Maturity
Current
T 1 -
Year-end 2018 - Thousands of euros Total 2019 2020 2021 2022 Beyond 'Ot:r' no:
] curren
Other non-current liabilities - Pulp business
Adjustments for tariff shortfall 2,608 - 104 111 119 2,274 2,608
2,608 - 104 111 119 2,274 2,608
Other non-current liabilities - Renewable Energy business
Adjustments for tariff shortfall 10,057 - 665 714 767 7,911 10,057
Other (note 2) 6,300 - 6,300 - - - 6,300
16,357 - 6,965 714 767 7,911 16,357
18,965 - 7,069 825 886 10,185 18,965

"Adjustments for tariff shortfall/surplus” includes the Group's payment obligation to the sector regulator,
the CNMC, under the scope of Spanish Royal Decree 413/2014, regulating the production of electric power
using renewable sources, co-generation and waste (note 5). The balance due in 2020 in this respect
amounts to €1,390 thousand and is recognised in "Trade and other accounts payable" in the
accompanying consolidated statement of financial position.

29. Derivative financial instruments

in keeping with the financial risk management policy outlined in note 6, the Group arranges derivative
financial instruments primarily to hedge its financial risks.

The breakdown of this consolidated statement of financial position heading at 31 December 2019 and
2018 (showing the fair value of the derivatives at year-end), is provided in the next table:
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Non-current assets Nan-currentliabilities Current liabilities
Thousands of euros 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/201% 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Cash-flow hedges:
IR swap - - 7,435 6,221 3,850 3,129
IR swap arrangement fee - - (1,021) (1,548) E
Currency hedges 1,419 268 - - 6,097 15,847
Total 1,418 268 6,414 4,673 9,947 18,976

These financial instruments have been measured subsequent to initial recognition by reference to
observable market data, either directly (i.e., prices), or indirectly (i.e. inputs derived from prices).

The changes in the fair value of the derivatives designated as hedging instruments that were reclassified to
profit or loss in 2019 and 2018 are shown below:

Thousands of euros - gain/{loss) 2019 2018

Impact on operating profit

Currency hedges (30,049) 3,734

Impact on net finance costs
IR swap (note 13) (1,663) {608)
Total (31,712) 3,126

The derivatives arranged by ENCE qualify for hedge accounting under the prevailing standard.

29.1 Currency hedges

ENCE hedges its exposure to fluctuations in the dollar-euro exchange rate, which have a significant impact
on pulp sales prices, using tunnel options (Asian options). The breakdown at 31 December 2019:

=

Strike price  Strike price Notional amount

Underlying Maturity Call Put {USD m)
EUR/USD 1G20 1.157 1.233 107.0
EUR/USD 2Q20 1.158 1.202 1110
EUR/USD 3Q20 1.141 1.196 103.0
EUR/USD 4Q20 1129 1.189 820

403.0
EUR/USD 1021 1103 1.177 67.0
EUR/USD 2Q21 1.103 1.178 10.0
77.0

The contracts outstanding at 31 December 2019 cover approximately 74% and 28% of forecast pulp sales
in 2020 and the first half of 2021, respectively.
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Those instruments presented a negative market value of €4,678 thousand at 31 December 2019 (a
negative market value of €15,579 thousand at year-end 2018).

29.2 Interest rate swaps:

The interest rate derivatives arranged by the Group and outstanding at year-end 2019 and 2018 are shown

below:
Fair Notiona! amounts at reporting date:
Thousands of euros value 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
2019
Pulp business 300 20,000 20,000 12,000 4,000 -
Renewable Energy business 10,985 264,621 247,953 218,413 188,781 160,371 46,314 37,422
2018
Pulp business 262 20,000 20,000 12,000 4,000 - - -
Renewable Erergy business 9,088 184,400 169,950 147,850 125,750 105,633 - -

In order to hedge the interest rate risk associated with the floating-rate project finance facility funding the
Termollano power plant, in 2019, ENCE hedged 70% of the amount arranged at a fixed rate of 0.49% (note

27).

In 2018, ENCE arranged interest rate hedges over floating-rate loans arranged by the Pulp business
covering a notional amount of €20 miillion at a fixed rate of 0.375%, and over 81% of the floating-rate
financing arranged by the Renewable Energy business at a fixed rate of 1.35% (note 27).

30. Tax matters

The balances receivable from and payable to the tax authorities at year-end 2019 and 2018 are shown

below:

Thousands of euros

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Taxes Taxes Taxes Taxes
receivable payable receivable payable

Non-current:
Deferred tax assets 54,042 - 56,477 -
Deferred tax liabilities - 37,575 - 40,017

Total 54,042 37,575 56,477 40,017
Current:
VAT (note 20.1) 1,493 548 14,669 2,789
Current tax on profits for the year 8,641 438 1,363 1,828
Electricity generation levy 978 4,238 357 16
Sundry other taxes 719 3,035 459 5,020

Total 11,831 8,259 16,848 9,653
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30.1Regimes applied and tax groups

Group companies resident in Spain for tax purposes:

For income tax purposes, ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. files its tax returns under the consolidated tax
regime provided for in Chapter Vii of Titie Viil of the Consolidated Text of the Spanish Corporate Income
Tax Act, as the parent of Tax Group 149/02, created in 2002.

Application of this regime, on a perpetual basis unless expressly waived, means that the various
companies included in this tax group {namely, all the Spanish companies itemised in note 2 in which ENCE
has a shareholding of over 75%) do not file their taxes individually.

The statutory income tax rate in Spain is 25%.

Group companies resident in Uruguay and Portugal for tax purposes:

For income tax purposes, the Group companies located in Uruguay pay income tax under the general tax
on income from economic activities regime at a statutory rate of 25% of accounting income adjusted for
applicable prevailing deductions.

Group company Iberflorestal, S.A., meanwhile, pays income tax under the general Portuguese corporate
income tax regime at a statutory rate of 21%.

Tax consolidation group

Taxable income is not determined on the basis of the Group's consolidated accounting profit but rather
the aggregate of the individual taxable incomes of the companies comprising the tax group, determined in
accordance with their respective individual tax regimes, which are then restated for eliminations and
adjustments.

30.2 Reconciliation of accounting profit/ (loss) to taxable income/ {tax
loss)

The reconciliation of accounting profit/ (loss) to taxable income/ (tax loss) in 2019 and 2018 is provided
below:
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Thousands of euros

2018 2019
Profit before tax (*) 173,231 11,103
Permanent differences:
Arisingin profitor loss 1,660 15,234
Arising in equity (85) (130)
Capitalisation reserve (4,691) (182)
Temporary differences:
Arising during the current year 14,363 8,858
Arisingin prior years (15,397) (9,671)
Consolidation adjustments (2,147) (16,800)
Utilisation of tax losses (40,264) {(2,000)
Taxable income/(tax loss) 126,670 6,412

(*) Profit before tax was generated exclusively by continuing operations

The temporary differences arise from the recognition of income and expense in different periods due to
differences between prevailing accounting and tax legislation. A breakdown of these differences by nature
is provided in section 30.4.

30.3 Reconciliation of accounting profit and tax expense

The reconciliation of accounting profit/ (loss) to taxable income/ (tax loss) in 2019 and 2018 is provided
below:

Thousands of euros

2018 2019
Profit before tax (*) 173,231 11,103
permanent differences arising in profit or loss 1,660 15,234
Capitalisation reserve (4,691) {182)
Tax credits recognised - (2,077)
Elimination of the accounting profit of entities not resident in Spain 847 349
Consolidation adjustments and eliminations (3,812) (15,210)
Taxable income/(tax loss) 167,235 9,217
Tax payable before adjustments 41,809 2,304

Deductions and adjustments in respect of prior year (292) (2,706)
Tax corresponding to entities not resident in Spain . 43 7

Tax expense /f(income) 41,560 (395)

(*) Profit before tax was generated exclusively by continuing operations
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The breakdown of tax expense / (income) in 2019 and 2018:

Thousands of euras

2018 2019
Current tax and other 41,302 (598)
Deferred tax 258 203
Tax expense /(income) 41,560 (395)

30.4 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

The reconciliation of the related consolidated statement of financial position headings at the beginning

and end of 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Thousands of euros

2019
Balance at Transfers & Balance at
31/12/2018  Increases Decreases other 31/12/2018
Deferred tax assets recognised in profit or loss:
Non-current asset depreciation 5,556 - (1,042} - 4,514
Non-current asset impairment 7,161 144 (1,073) 6,232
Provisions 2,924 1,130 (95) - 3,959
Employee commitments 2,063 356 {1,499} 76 996
Current-asset impairment 1,168 328 - - 1,496
Other 268 118 {42) 344
Non-resident companies and consoiidation adjustments 1,182 143 {378) 947
Unused tax losses 25,853 682 (750) (438) 25,347
Unused tax credits 4,723 1,801 {204) 158 6,578
50,898 4,802 {5,083) (204} 50,413
Deferred tax assets recognised in equity:
Hedging derivatives (nete 29) 5,579 992 {2,943) - 2,629
5,579 992 (2,943) - 5,629
Total 56,477 54,042
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Thousands of euros
2018
Balance at Transfers & ABAIMIONS X0 galance at
31/12/2017  Increases  Decreases other scope (note 3, /1572018
Deferred tax assets recognised in profit or loss:
Non-current asset depreciation 6,912 (940} (1,032) 616 5,556
Non-current assetimpairment 11,304 934 (2,242) {2,835) 7,161
Provisions 1,137 2,677 (561) {(337) 8 2,924
Employee commitments 2,022 175 (134) 2,063
Current-asset impairment 123 226 {149) 968 - 1,168
Other - - (42) 310 - 268
Non-resident companies and consolidation adjustments 1,073 9c {1,545) 1,564 1,182
Unused tax losses 35,768 - (10,066} 151 - 25,853
Unused tax credits 1,547 - (327} 138 3,365 4,723
59,886 4,102 (15,872) (1,207) 3,989 50,898
Deferred tax assets recognised in equity:
Hedging derivatives {note 29) {103) 5,682 - - - 5,579
{103) 5,682 - - - 5,579
Total 59,783 56,477

Spanish Law 27/2014 on Corporate Income Tax eliminated, with effect from 1 January 2015, the deadline
for utilising tax losses, and extended the general term for utilising all tax credits by at least 15 years.

Management has recognised deferred tax assets in the statement of financial position as it believes it is
probable that they will be realised within a period of approximately 10 years. In making this judgement,
Management factored in the outlook for the Pulp business following the recent capacity additions and the

earnings stability contributed by the Renewable Energy business.

The deferred tax assets correspond mainly to asset impairment allowances and provisions for liabilities,
charges, non-performance and other items that are not deductible at the time of recognition and the
temporary limit on the deductibility of depreciation charges introduced in 2013 and 2014 which the Group

began to revert in 2015.
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Deferred tax liabilities
Thousands of euros
2018
Balance at Transfers & Balance at
31/12/2018  Increases Decreases other 31/12/2019
Recognised in profit or loss:
Accelerated depreciation (RDL 4/2004) 13,173 - {956) - 12,217
Finance costs 100 - (16} - 84
Consolidation and other adjustments 9,092 - {739) - 8,353
22,365 - {1,711) : 20,654
Recognised in equity:
Revaluation of ferest land (note 15) 13,510 - - 13,510
Convertible bonds {note 27) 3,941 - (1,261) (303) 2,377
Censolidation and other adjustments 201 1,604 {1,073) 303 1,035
17,652 1,604 (2,333) - 16,922
Total 40,017 37,575
Thousands of euros
2018
Balance at Transfers &  Additions to Balance at
31/12/2017  Increases Decreases other scope (note 2} 31/12/2018
" Recognised in profit or loss: ’
Accelerated depreciation (RDL 4/2004) 1,462 - {186) - 11,897 13,173
Finance costs - - (16) 116 - 100
Consolidation and other adjustments 5,687 510 {1,808} (304) 5,107 9,092
7,048 510 (2,010} {188) 17,004 22,365
Recognised in equity:
Revaluation of forest land (note 15) 13,518 - (8) - - 13,510
Convertible bonds (rote 27) 3,271 3,638 (2,968} - - 3,941
Consolidation and other adjustments {15) 340 {312} 188 - 201
16,774 3,978 (3,288) 188 - 17,652
Total 23,823 40,017

30.5 Years open to inspection and tax inspections

Under prevailing tax regulations, tax returns may not be considered final until they have either been
inspected by tax authorities or until the inspection period in effect in each tax jurisdiction has prescribed
{four years in Spain and Portugal and five years in Uruguay). The directors believe that the tax
contingencies that could arise from the investigations underway and from the review of the returns still
open to inspection, if any, will not have a material impact on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.
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31. Director and key management personnel pay and other benefits
31.1 Compensation paid to the members of the Board of Directors

As stipulated in articles 42 and 43 of the Articles of Association, the directors, in their capacity as members
of the Board and in exchange for discharging the supervisory and decision-making duties intrinsic to Board
membership, are entitled to receive a fixed annual payment and attendance fees that on aggregate may
not exceed the ceiling established to that end at the Annual General Meeting; it is up to ENCE's Board of
Directors to determine the precise amount payable within that limit and its distribution among the various
directors, factoring in the duties and responsibilities attributed to each, membership of the Board's
various committees, the positions discharged by each within the Board and any other circumstances they
deem pertinent.

The cap on annual remuneration payable to the directors as a whole in their capacity as such, as set down
in the Director Remuneration Policy approved at the Annual General Meeting of 22 March 2018, is €1.9

million.

The remuneration accrued by the members of the Board of Directors in 2019 and 2018 in their capacity as

directors:
Thousands of euros
2019
2019 - Director Type Fixed . Attendance Total Total
remuneration fees & other 2018

Juan Luis Arregyi Ciarsolo Proprietary 75 74 149 242
Retos Operativos XXI, S.L. Proprietary a4 53 97 85
Pedro Barato Triguero Other external 11 20 31 121
Fernando Abril-Martorel! Herndndez Other external 44 61 105 114
José Guillermo Zubia Guinea Other external 44 91 135 141
José Carlos del Alamo Jiménez Independent 44 69 113 105
isabel Tocino Biscaroiasaga Independent 44 73 117 113
Javier Echenique Landiribar Other external 44 46 90 115
Victor de Urrutia Vallejo Proprietary 44 32 76 85
Luis Lada Diaz Independent 11 17 28 97
Rosa Maria Garcia Pifieiro independent 44 59 103 64
La Fuente Salada, S.L. Proprietary 44 39 83 70
Turina 2000, S.L. Proprietary 44 63 107 107
Irene Hernandez Alvarez Independent 33 32 65 -
Miren Amaia Gorostiza Teilerfa Independent 33 29 62 -
Mendibea 2002, S.L. Proprietary - - - 23
ignacio de Colmenares Brunet Executive 165 - 105 44

708 758 1,466 1,524

The non-executive directors only receive the indicated fixed remuneration and attendance fees; they are
excluded from the Company's short and long term performance-based bonus schemes.

ENCE has arranged insurance to cover its directors as a group against the following accident risks: death,
permanent outright disability and permanent partial disability. In addition, it offers its directors and their
spouses an annual medical check-up. It also has a health insurance policy in the name of the Honorary
Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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ENCE has not extended its directors any advances or loans. The directors did not conclude any
transactions with ENCE or any its subsidiaries outside the ordinary course of business or on terms other
than on an arm’s length basis in either 2019 or 2018.

ENCE has no pension or alternative insurance related obligations to its directors, except for its Chairman &
CEO, the latter in connection with the performance of his executive duties.

31.2 Key management personnel remuneration
Key management personnel comprise the officers who report directly to ENCE's Chairman & CEO or sit on

the Management Committee, as well as the head of the Internal Audit function and any other executives
the Board of Directors deems as such. Below is a list of the Group's key management personnel:

Name Position

ignacio de Colmenares y Brunet Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Alfredo Avello de ia Pefia Finance, Corporate Development and Forest Assets Officer
Jordi Aguilé Jubierre Pulp Operations Officer

Felipe Torroba Maestroni Independent Energy Plants Officer

Alvaro Eza Bernaola Supply Chain Officer

Reyes Cerezo Rodriguez-Sedano (**) general Secretary | Sustainability Officer

Modesto Saiz Suérez Pulp Sales and Logistics Manager “

Maria José Zueras Saludas Human Capital Officer

Faustino Martinez Rodriguez (*) Health, Safety and Environment Manager

Luis Carlos Martinez Martin Communication and Institutional Relations Officer
.Fernando Gonzalez-Palacios Carbajo (***) Planning and Control Manager

Angel 1. Mosquera Lopez-Leyton fnternal Audit Manager

(*) Joined ENCE on 1 April 2019

(**}  Named Sustainability Officer on 19 December 2019

(***}  Appointed to the Management Committee on 24 September 2019

(****) Joaquin Bohérquez Crespi de Valldaura joined the Finance and Corporate Development Department during
the first half of 2019, at which point he ceased to qualify as a member of key management personnel.

Below is a breakdown of the remuneration and other benefits provided to the Group's key management
personnel, including that corresponding to the Chairman & CEO in respect of the services he provides, in
2019 and 2018:

Thousands of euros

2019 2018
Fixed remuneration 2,801 2,700
Variable remuneration 909 1,790
2016-2018 LT bonus plan (note 9.2) 4,855 -
Other 478 449
9,043 4,939
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The Chairman & CEO and the members of the Management Committee enjoy certain company benefits,
including mixed savings, life and accident insurance coverage. In terms of the savings portion of the policy,
the beneficiaries contribute 1% of their fixed remuneration to the plan and the Company contributes an
additiona! amount equivalent to 5.25% of the latter; the risk component is borne 50/50. The contingencies
covered by the insurance include retirement, total permanent disability, full permanent disability, severe
disability and death. The sum of capital underwritten is equivalent to 35 times' their fixed monthly
remuneration {twice that in the event the contingencies result from an accident). ENCE also provides the
members of its Management Committee with a range of in-kind compensation, including company cars,
health insurance and an annual medical check-up.

Lastly, the Chairman & CEO and the key management personnel were and are beneficiaries of the 2016-
2018 long-term bonus plan and 2019-2023 long-term bonus plan, respectively (note 11).

The Chairman & CEO is entitled to a termination benefit equivalent to one year's pay if the Company
terminates his contract, unless the termination is the result of a breach attributable to him or he decides
to leave totally voluntarily (two years' pay in the event of a change of control}. That same agreement
includes a two-year non-compete clause. The Chairman & CEO's remuneration also includes the premium
paid for a retirement insurance policy in his name. The benefit payable under this plan is one year's
remuneration, to be received upon termination of his contract, so long as this happens at the age of 62 or
over.

The breakdown of the remuneration received by the Chairman & CEO in exchange for performance of his
executive duties is provided in the Annual Report on Director Remuneration. Note that section C.1.39 of
the Annual Corporate Governance Report discloses the termination benefits to which the directors and
members of the Group's key management personnel are entitled. In addition, the contracts with the Pulp
Operations Officer, the Independent Energy Plants Officer and the Supply Chain Officer include non-
compete clauses ranging between one and two year vis-a-vis firms and activities considered analogous to
those of ENCE.

31.3 Other developments

The Board of Directors of ENCE named Ignacio de Colmenares Brunet Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Juan Luis Arregui Honorary Chairman on 23 April 2019.

In addition, the composition of the Board of Directors of ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. changed as follows
in 2019: Irene Herndndez Alvarez and Miren Amaia Gorostiza Telleria joined the board, while Pedro Barato
Triguero and Luis Lada Diaz stepped down.

In 2018, the composition of ENCE's Board of Directors underwent the following changes: Rosa Maria
Garcia Pifieiro joined the board; the legal person director Mendibea 2002, S.L. was replaced by legal
person director La Fuente Salada, S.L., represented in both instances by José lgnacio Comenge Sanchez-
Real; and Javier Arregui Abendivar stepped down as the natural person representing Turina 2000, S.L. and
was replaced by Gorka Arregui Abendivar.

Note that, as per the notifications provided in this respect by the members of the Board of Directors, no
direct or indirect conflicts of interest arose during the reporting period on the part of the directors or their
related parties vis-a-vis the interests of the Company, as defined in article 229 of Spain's Corporate
Enterprises Act.
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32. Related-party transactions

The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties in 2019 and 2018:

Thousands of euras
Related party Item 2019 2018

Pedro Barato Triguero (*) Rendering of services 33 167
{*) Pedro ceased to be a member of ENCE's Board of Directors on 28 March 2019

Those transactions were arranged on an arm’s length basis. The transaction with Pedro Barato
correspands to the services provision agreement entered into on 1 March 2018 and terminated on 1
March 2019.

32.1 Transactions with investees accounted for using the equity
method

The year-end balances outstanding with investees accounted for using the equity method:

Thousands of euros
Investee ftem 2019 2018

Cleoenergia e Puertollano, S.L Currentloans 35 E

There were no transactions with investees accounted for using the equity method in 2019.
33. Environment

A strong environmental commitment is part of ENCE's vision and one of the guiding principles of its
sustainability policy. Indeed, ENCE's very business model helps protect the environmental! as follows:

v As a leading European manufacturer of eucalyptus pulp, it puts renewable and recyclable products on
the market that can be substituted for other materials with a bigger carbon foatprint, such as plastics.

7 By generating power from renewable sources, it is cantributing to the decarbonisation of the
generation mix and preventing harmful emissions.

In addition, Ence cares for the areas surrounding its operating facilities meticulously, minimising the use
of resources and implementing all of the measures within its reach to reduce the environmental impact of
its activities in terms of waste generation, emissians, discharges, noise and biodiversity.

ENCE's environmental commitment translates into significant investments to introduce prevailing best
available techniques and improve process efficiency. It also strives to continually improve its
environmental performance, an effort which is spearheaded by its senior management and shared by the
entire organisation.

ENCE extends its commitment to caring for the environment to every link in its value chain: from its
forestry activities to its puip production and renewable energy generation activities, emphasising the
potential environmental ramifications of its activities and of its supply chain, urging its suppliers to
similarly meet the highest standards of environmental excellence.
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ENCE is also mindful of the world's pressing environmental challenges such as climate change and the
need to protect biodiversity and transition towards a circular economy and factors these concerns into its
environmental strategy and targets.

Compliance and best available techniques

ENCE's environmental commitment is underpinned by (i) rigorous and exhaustive compliance with
prevailing legislation, which establishes the requirements to be met by all of the activities related with the
production of pulp and the generation of power from renewable sources and {ii) adaptation to the best
available techniques (BAT) reference documents (BREFs) for the pulp and paper industry and for large
combustion plants approved by the European Commission.

The integrated environmental permits held by each of the biomills and energy plants establish the
environmental requirements for industrial facilities. The goal is to prevent, or at least minimise, and
control air, water and soil emissions with a view to protecting the environment as a whole.

To this end, the permits set emission limits for each facility based on best available techniques as well as
surveillance plans in respect of all relevant environmental parameters. ENCE avails of all measures within
its reach to meet or even surpass the limits set in the permits and reports to the corresponding
authorities on its performance in this respect on a timely basis.

Environmental management systems

Framed by its aspiration to make a real contribution to protecting the environment, ENCE's environmental
management efforts go beyond compliance with prevailing legislation. ENCE implemented its total quality
mariagement (TQM) programme as a model for cultural and managenient practice transformation, which
addresses matters related .to quality, health and safety, environmental protection and pollution
prevention as one, in 2011. Under the scope of that mode! it has defined its environmental policy, which
sets the Group's general objectives in this arena and a series of key improvement targets that are clearly
focused on the environment and aimed at:

e Reducing odour pollution

¢ Reducing noise

e Reducing air quality impact

e Improving the quality of wastewater

e Boosting energy efficiency

e Reducing water consumption

e Reducing the consumption of raw materials
e Cutting waste generation

¢ Improving the management systems

Under the scope of the TQM model, ENCE has developed the operating standards needed to optimally
control and manage potential environmental fallout. Improved process control thanks to the Plan-Do-
Check-Act (PDCA) and Standardise-Do-Check-Act (SDCA) cycles and improvements in the key process
indicators (KPls) are delivering results that evidence the effectiveness of this management model.

At its biomills in Pontevedra and Navia and the energy operations centres in Huelva and Termollano, ENCE
has developed an integrated management system with the overriding goal of ensuring that all of the
Company’s activities are carried out under the scope of the management policy set by senior
management and the defined targets and goals are met. This integrated system is certified by an
accredited organism which audits it annually. The management system is articulated around processes
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that are identified and evaluated in order to facilitate control tasks and their continuous improvement.
The integrated management system complies with the following international standards:

UNE-EN-ISO 5001 - quality management

°  UNE-EN-ISO 14001 - environmental management

OHSAS 18001 - workplace health and safety management

The biomiils and the Huelva energy operations centre also participate in the Community eco-management
and audit scheme (EMAS) governed by Regulation (EC) No. 1221/2009. Validation of the environmental
statement enables continued participation by these facilities in this scheme, each of which was the first in
their respective regions to assume this demanding voluntary commitment which only a limited number of
companies uphold today.

(]

The excellent environmental records of ENCE's biomills means that the pulp produced in Pontevedra and
Navia has carried the Nordic Swan seal (the official Scandinavian ecolabel, created in 1989 by the Nordic
Council of Ministers representing Sweden, Denmark, Finland, Iceland and Norway) certifying compliance
with the most stringent environmental standards since 2014. The goal of this ecolabel is to help
consumers take environmentally-friendly purchasing decisions.

Obtained following a rigorous assessment of the environmental impact of the Company's products
throughout their entire life cycle, this ecolabel promises compliance with the seal's stringent
requirements in the areas of climate charnige mitigation, energy efficiency and resource consumption
(water, chemical products and raw materials).

In addition, in 2019, the pulp made at the Navia and Pontevedra biomills was certified as a qualifying raw
material in accordance with Commission Decision (EU) 2019/70 of 11 January 2019 establishing the EU
Ecolabel criteria for graphic paper and the EU Ecolabel criteria for tissue paper and tissue products.

Climate change and carbon footprint mitigation

ENCE's business model directly helps combat climate change. Thanks to the power it generates from
renewable sources, ENCE is helping to change the Spanish energy mode!, contributing a type of energy -
that generated from biomass - that is not only renewable but is also manageable, a facet other renewable
generation technologies do not present.

The use of surplus biomass represents a sustainable energy alternative with major environmental and
emission-reducing benefits and contributes to the transition towards a low-carbon energy model, in line
with European Union guidelines and Spanish energy policy. ENCE's commitment to mitigating climate
change is embodied in its 10-Point Declaration on the Sustainability of Biomass, which includes a pledge
to minimising carbon emissions all along the biomass value chain.

Meanwhile, with its pulp-making business, ENCE is helping to change society's consumption patterns by
offering renewable, recyclable products with smaller carbon footprints than alternative products such as
plastic.

In parallei to the contribution it makes through its business model, ENCE is working to reduce the
greenhouse gas emissions generated by its operations. To that end, in 2019, it conducted exhaustive
analysis of the carbon footprint of the organisation and its products, using 2018 as the base year for
reference purposes.

That exercise was conducted in keeping with the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting
Standard and its calculation tools for the pulp and paper industry and ISC 14064-1:2019 for calculation of
the organisation's carbon footprint and PAS 2050 and !SO 14067:2018 for calculation of the products'
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footprint, benchmark documents in Europe and Spain as far as emissions are concerned. The results for
the base year were then submitted for assessment by an independent external expert to provide
reasonable assurance as to their accuracy and the appropriateness of the calculation protocol and tools.

33.1.Pulp

Navia biomill

In October 2019, the Navia biomill upgraded and optimised the facility's technology. That work included
the implementation of best available practices in a significant number of productive processes that will in
turn lead to an increase in capacity of 80,000 ADt, as well as improving the biomill's environmental
performance by enhancing equipment and system technology throughout the productive process.

in order to implement the environmental targets contemplated in the project, specifically including
higher quality liquid discharges and lower emissions of total particles and SOz, ENCE first conducted an
environmental impact assessment, introducing changes that were then introduced into the
environmental permit. The main environmental improvements introduced:

@)

www.ence.es

Improvements in the cooking phase and continuous digester, which will increase production
capacity from 1,800 ADt/day to 2,100 ADt/day, while enhancing the quality of the pulp
produced, reducing energy consumption and eliminating associated diffuse emissions.

Improvements in the pulp washing phase, derived from the improved quality of the liquors
and the replacement of the existing vacuum filters with a new DD-washer, which will in turn
lower fugitive emissions of odorous gases generated during washing and cut chemicals
consumption significantly.

Implementation of a second pulp drying line which will increase annual production at the
facility from 605,000 tonnes at present to 685,000 tonnes, thanks to the increase in
production eked out by fine-tuning the cooking phase and the elimination of other
bottlenecks.

Optimisation of the recovery boiler which will increase the production of steam and the
current electrostatic precipitators' ability to eliminate particles, adding a new field.

Optimisation of the evaporation line, making better use of the condensates (thermal and
direct) from the line with the aim of achieving dry material concentration levels of 80%. Also,
improvements in the lime kilns and furnaces to fine-tune the preparation of the white liquor,
improving the ability of the existing electro-filter to reduce particles and control over the
nitrogen oxides generated in it.

Improvements at the wastewater treatment plant in order to better filter the waters by
enhancing the existing biological and refrigeration systems, as well as replacing the current
primary clarifier (to be used as a secondary clarifier) with a new dissolved air flotation (DAF)
clarifier.

Maximum utilisation of the existing back-pressure turbine's capacity to increase its energy
yield (from 40 MWe to 44 Mwe) by boosting the steam originating from the bark furnace and
making use of the low and medium pressure steam extracted from the turbine.

Improvements in the raw water and demineralised water treatment systems and the supply
of compressed air at the facility to adapt them for the new operating conditions and
production capacity.
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These higher standards will lead to operational excellence, one of the cornerstones for achieving the
impact improvement targets set for the Navia biomill. Environmental capital expenditure at this plant
totalled €25.5 million in 2019.

Significant progress was also made on reducing pulp and paper sector specific nuisance cdours in 2019:
odours in minutes decreased by 65% year-on-year at the Navia biomill, this being one of the key aspects
of the environmental improvements achieved via the operational control enhancements.

Thanks to the improvements and changes introduced at this facility, the greenhouse gas emissions
authorisation was revised to state biomass as the main fuel used to produce electricity at the facility.

Contribution to the surroundings in Navia

ENCE strives to improve the reputation of its facilities in the vicinity of its Navia biomill by highlighting the
effort made to care for the environment and its role as an engine for economic growth in the town,
specifically a source of wealth and employment in that part of Asturias. To that end, in 2019, it planned
and executed a community relations plan which encompasses a!l of the activities related with local and
regional entities, neighbourhood, sports, cultural and community assaciations and environmentalists.
That plan also pools and channels all the information generated by the biomill to its community
stakeholders and provides for sponsarship and patronage activities in the area.

The most important such initiative is the collaboration agreement with the Navia town council, signed in
July 2017 and in effect since then. That agreement centemplates earmarking €100,000 to sponsorship of
community and environmental activities each year; a commitment to ensuring that 50% of new hires hail
from the municipality; priority contracting of local suppliers; the development of job skills by offering
work practice to university graduates; undergraduates and post-graduates and support for projects that
enhance and care for nature in Navia.

Under the scope of that agreement, in 2019 ENCE spearheaded the sponsorship and patronage of
multiple community, cultural and sports events and heiped with the donation of gear to local residents.
Most notably, 2019 marked the conclusion and inauguration of sports grounds in the area of Navia known
as El Pardo. That facility has been considerably upgraded thanks largely to funds donated by ENCE.

Pontevedra biomill

Kraft pulp mills generate odorous compounds during certain stages of the process which, if not managed
correctly, can escape into the air, generating nuisance smells in the vicinity of the biomill. Aware of this, in
Pontevedra ENCE has been working for years to improve its processes, facilities and operations in order to
prevent and at least manage its odorous gases. It is working towards a 'zero odour" target. That effort is
articulated around a Zero Odour Plan which began in 2010, since when odour emissions from stationary
sources have been slashed by 98%.

As for liguld waste, the Ponievedra biomili improved its performance once again in 2019 with respect to

e limits set in its environmental permit. All of the biomill's wastewater readings are well below the
I|m|ts set in the permit, notable among which its chemical oxygen demand (COD) - the key measure of
wastewater quality - which outperformed the limit by 65%, coming in at 2.46 kg/ADt, compared to the
stipulated threshold of 7 kg/ADt.

The trend in this metric evidences the progress the biomill has made on improving the quality of its end
wastewater. Note, additionally, that COD in Pontevedra is 88% better than the upper end of the reference
range set for this parameter in the pulp sector BREF.

Efficient management of water resources, particularly reduction of water consumption, is one of the
biomill's environmental priorities, to which end it has been introducing specific measures to foster water
usage efficiency and reuse. Thanks to that effort, in 201S ENCE managed to cut this biomill's water
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consumption per tonne of pulp produced by 11% compared to 2018, cementing a 20% reduction in
consumption over the past four years.

ENCE also applies circular economy principles in its own productive processes, prioritising the prevention,
minimisation and recovery of waste via strict operational control over its processes. As part of that
ongoing effort, in 2019, the Pontevedra biomill attained certification in accordance with the Zero Waste
Regulation requirements stipulated by AENOR, Spain's certification body, making it one of the first
companies in Spain and the first in its manufacturing sector to obtain it. That milestone evidences the
excellence of ENCE's waste management model. Indeed, it has cut waste generation by 25% since 2014
and achieved recovery rates of over 99%.

Elsewhere, the process of getting the Madrid regional environmental authorities to authorise a subsidiary
calied Sostenibilidad y Economia Circular S.L. as a waste manager continued. The aim is to create a mobile
plant capable of making soil improvers for use in the recovery of degraded land (mines, refills, etc.).

As in Navia, work was undertaken at the Pontevedra biomill to increase annual capacity to 515,000
tonnes, accompanied by measures designed to boost its process efficiency and environmental
performance. Environmental capital expenditure at this biomill totalled €7.4 million in 2019.

Lastly, in keeping with its commitment to transparent reporting, the Pontevedra biomill's environmental
readings are available for consultation on its website, at www.encepontevedra.com.

Pontevedra Environmental Pact

ENCE and the environment department of the regional government of Galicia entered into an
“Environmental Pact” on 28 June 2016 triggering the rollout of a five-year programme comprising
environment-related investments and projects designed to contribute to economic development in
Pontevedra and Galicia and boost the sustainability of the activities performed by ENCE at its Pontevedra
Operations Centre under the scope of its corporate social responsibility strategy.

The Pact is a legal concept provided for in Galician legislation and already used by ENCE and the regional
government in the past. Under such a pact, a company undertakes to-bring its environmental
management beyond that stipulated in prevailing environmental legislation by pursuing best available
techniques in this arena.

Under the pact, ENCE has committed to:

¢ Introducing environmental upgrades at the Pontevedra industrial complex, specifically with the aim
of reducing water consumption, improving energy efficiency, better integrating the factory into the
landscape, reducing emissions and improving wastewater quality.

o  Fostering job creation by using regional forest resources.

s Creating a research centre focused on the generation of specialist jobs and helping to refurbish a
building to house this centre.

o Installing a biomass-fuelled co-generation plant and three bioenergy centres, which is expected to
entail €94 million of capital expenditure.

o Negotiating a collaboration agreement, which was signed on 28 July 2016, designed to enhance the
living standards of all residents of Galicia, particularly those living in the Pontevedra Bay area, their
safety and their development, the environment and the natural, community and economic
surroundings and their sustainability. The following measures are envisaged to facilitate execution of
the Pact:
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I. A commitment to contribute up to €15 million to any investments mandated by the regional
government's department for the environment and planning and the regional public water
body in relation to the expansion and modernisation of the urban waste treatment facility in
the city of Pontevedra;

[l. A commitment to contribute up to €5 million to the refurbishment of Pazo de Lourizdn, an
equivalent building or new build to house the research centre in the process of being set up
and up to €1 million to the construction of a football pitch in the vicinity of Lourizan;

lll. Creation of a framework agreement for application in tandem with ENCE's corporate social
responsibiiity policy with annuai funding of up to €3 miilion for the foiiowing iines of initiative:
forest sustainability, energy efficiency, renewable energy, environmental reliability,
environmental quality, safety, sustainable development, social progress, equal opportunities,
education and training, joh training, talent and entrepreneurship, grassroots sports and sports
facilities, research and science and community relations.

Effectiveness of these commitments and projects is contingent upon effectiveness and survival of ENCE's
concession rights in Pontevedra and the grant of the necessary permits and authorisations, which have
been applied for from the competent bodies of the regional government of Galicia, some of which are still
being processed.

The Pact was modified via addenda signed on 16 January 2017 and 5 March 2018, as a result of which,
exceptionally and with effect solely in 2017 and 2018, respectively, ENCE assumed the commitments
outlined in the “Framework agreement far the specific crystallisation in the area of Lourizén of Ence's
corporate policy”, which contemplates annual funding of up to-€3 million. The 2018 addendum also
included the commitment to contribute up to €5 million to upgrading and modernising the urban waste
treatment plant [ocated in the city of Pontevedra and up to €3 million to the construction of a new
building to serve as the head offices of the Research Centre, in the event the regional government of
Galicia contracted and executed the related works that year.

A further addendum to the Pact was signed on 16 September 2019 under which, exceptionally and with
effect solely in 2018, ENCE has once again assumed the commitments outlined in the “Framework
agreement for the specific crystallisation in the area of Lourizan of Ence's corporate policy”, endowed
with up to €3 million. It has also been agreed to negotiate a new addendum to cover 2020. The addendum
currently under negotiation contemplates the assumption of a number of commitments of up to €9
million (hote 25).

Forestry

ENCE maintained its position and role as the leading private forest manager and a key player in the
timber-based product market in Spain throughout 2019. It also reinforced its position as benchmark buyer
of biomass for conversion into energy.

ENCE manages its forest assets end-to-end (from plantation to harvesting); those assets include forest
iand it owns and acreage operated under consortia and leased from third parties through its forest
management companies, Silvasur and Norte Forestal. The purchase of standing timber (where ENCE is
responsible for the purchase, harvesting and transport of the timber) and of timber straight from
suppliers (where ENCE purchases directly from timber specialists) is managed by the Group's corporate
supply chain depariment.

In both cases - forest management and purchases from third parties - the internal management
requirements are framed by an integrated forest management system which is in turn articulated around
applicable regulatory requirements and the benchmark sustainable forestry management and chain of
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custody standards: FSC® (Forest Stewardship Council®) (with license numbers FSC-C099970 and FSC-
C081854) and PEFC® (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes).

Thanks to the 10-Point Declaration on the Sustainability of Biomass presented by ENCE in 2017 and the
effort to reach out to benchmark NGOs, the resulting primary agricultural biomass (direct sub-product) is
now managed as a formal operating process, which is systematically monitored and assessed, and specific
action plans. As with timber, the related requirements are adapted for the various sources of production
{managed forest land, purchase of standing timber and/or direct purchases from traders).

The corporate supply chain department is tasked with ensuring that all the raw materials sourced for the
production of timber and energy, whether produced on owned forests or purchased from third parties
(standing timber and directly from traders) comply with prevailing legal and regulatory requirements.

The procurement of timber and biomass generates income and jobs in rural communities, with knock-on
effects on the economy in areas in which raw material production activities constitute one of the main
ways of earning a living. ENCE's contribution to the rural economy goes beyond development of its direct
businesses by helping its stakeholders raise their capabilities: financing schemes for certification groups;
nursery discounts; transfer of know-how to forest owners and companies; training and education,
biomass collection technological developments, assistance with regulatory compliance for forest owners
and companies etc., all with the aim of accelerating genuine sector development framed by the Group's
environmental and community policies.

As noted, management and monitoring of these activities is framed by prevailing legislation and
regulations. ENCE is a forestry sector benchmark in terms of compliance with labour, technical and
regulatory requirements and is positioned to assure that all of the activities performed by it and its
partners are compliant with the European due diligence regulation with respect to the legal origin of
timber (EUTR). Its biggest challenge lies with the development of stakeholder policies {owners, suppliers,
sellers of standing timber, associations, etc.). To overcome that challenge it reaches out continuously to
its partners with the aim of communicating the desirable and expected management requirements, which
are focused on compliance with community and, naturally, environmental standards, such as forest asset
longevity, impact minimisation, structural and specific diversity preservation, alternative uses for goods
and services, ongoing innovation, forestry principles in rural areas, active engagement with stakeholders
and forest certification.

The fruits of this policy are evident in the gradual increase in the percentages of incoming timber that is
certified, which have risen from 42% and 6% at Navia and Pontevedra, respectively, in 2011 to levels of
92% and 71%, at year-end 2019, respectively. Dual certification (PEFC+FSC), an initiative being
spearheaded by Ence in the market, remains high, at standard-setting levels (89% and 63% of incoming
timber at Navia and Pontevedra, respectively).

in 2019, ENCE managed to produce 216,832 cubic metres of timber, 97% of which certified. Elsewhere,
ENCE invested over £€6.6 million in its forest assets as a whole in 2019, money which was earmarked
primarily to forestry care, reforestation, infrastructure upgrades and fire protection.

ENCE's proprietary forestry management activity was audited in accordance with the sustainable forest
management standards during the first half of the year with satisfactory outcomes. As a result, ENCE's
management of its owned forests remains a benchmark not only in terms of robust technical
management at the national level but also as a source of timber, for the large part doubly certified.

On the technical management front, the following benchmark projects stand out:
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e Project for the recovery of eucalyptus plantations affected by fire, managerial shortcomings or
pests and diseases.

e Continuation of the GONIPTERUS project for the biological treatment of this pest in eucalyptus
plantations for the fourth year running. Since the Group embarked on this pest control strategy in
2016, over 155,000 hectares of eucalyptus plantations, including proprietary plantations and
others owned by individuals and associations in Galicia and Asturias, have been treated in this
manner.

e Rollout of a programme for the selection of trees that are more resistant to the Teratosphoeria
nubilosa fungus.

e Rollout of the RENOVA project, designed to make use of every last bit of the tree.

e  Expansion of the experimental network in the Forestry R&D area with the installation and rollout of
34 new test plots for genetic and forestry care experimentation purposes in forestry land owned by
the Group and other plots owned by individuals and associations.

e Improvements in the supply of Eucalyptus globulus and E. nitens plants to the sector. This falls
under the strategy of transferring technology to the sector, which includes the provision of
technical advice to owners with respect to selecting the best materials for planting and
recommendations regarding the best forestry care solutions for each situation.

e The project dubbed "Improved ownership accreditation” designed to pinpoint the location of
mature and extra-mature eucalyptus plantations in Galicia and Asturias in order to inform their
owners of their value, mobilise existing idle resources and possibly present bids, getting them into
the market.

e Project designed to draw out oversized timber in order to attract mature plantations, with high
tonnage per hectare, onto the market.

s  Agricultural biomass supply project at the energy plants in southern Spain designed to foster the
recovery of waste, and not only forest but above all agricultural sub-products, preventing it from
being burned and unlocking value.

ENCE's forest management activity is a source of technical support and knowledge that underpins an
important know-how sharing process (the provision of training and support for producers and
associations via forums, talks and financing formulae addressing issues such as forest care, plant selection,
pest control, legal compliance and forestry certification) and the promotion of standing timber and
supplier purchases, as well as fostering communication and debate in general on relevant forestry matters
with the rest of the sector, the public authorities and civil society. ENCE participates in the main sector
associations as a partner in some instances and as an observer in others. It engages actively in sector
debates, the development of sector standards and technical or management requirements.

In 2019, ENCE also carried out the compulsory traceability audits in accordance with the FSC® and PEFC®
schemes encompassing all of its business activities (the entire chain, from timber production through
purchases and procurements tc pulp and timber sales to ather customers), including an extracrdinary
Assurances Services International (ASI) FSC audit under the scope of its Transaction Verification policy. in
all instances the audit resuits were paositive in respect of the stock of timber managed by ENCE, which in
2019 amounted to a total of 2,284,616.4m3 of factory-certified timber.

The improvements introduced to the forest logistics process gathered traction during the year
{reorganisation of logistics tasks; fleet diversification and flexibility; LNG-propelled trucks; load
geolocation tracking during vehicle assignment, etc.)
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On the safety front, the Group continues to foster implementation of a safety culture by the firms it works
with by means of initiatives on the ground related with employee health and safety awareness-raising by
means of seminars, talks and oversight of critical interventions such as manual felling.

33.2.Renewable Energy business

In 2019, ENCE continued to execute the projects aimed at adapting the energy operations centres for
implementation of best available technigques ahead of effectiveness in 2021 of the BREF for Large
Combustion Plants. The focus during the initial phase of adaptation was on preparing for compliance with
the new emission limits, planning different emission treatment systems depending on each power plant's
needs. The rest of the interventions needed will be concentrated in 2019 and 2020 and will focus on the
introduction of all the required technological, operational and managerial improvements which, while not
associated with specific new thresholds, will enable ENCE not only to guarantee compliance with the
various regulatory requirements but also to achieve sustained environmental excellence. That work will
be evident in the revisions to the environmental permits planned for 2019-2020.

During 2019, ENCE also continued to execute the so-called Reliability of Environmental Indicator
Measurements project, investing in redundant continuous emissions measurement equipment and
equipment for the automated capture and processing of data. That effort was complemented by specific
internal and external training initiatives.

Framed by its circular economy strategy, ENCE is prioritising the prevention, minimisation and recovery of
waste via strict operational control over its processes. In fact, the percentage of waste sent to landfill in
2019 was below 10% at all plants except for the Termollano plant.

ENCE plays a key role in helping other sectors to close the circle, e.g., it helps the agriculture sector by
using vine shoots and olive pomace produce power. Not only does ENCE address the issue of what to do
with that waste, it monetises it and prevents potential environmental damage as a result, for example, of
uncontrolled burning or other non-sustainable forms of treatment.

Huelva operations centre

The Huelva operations centre is a prime example of the production of power from biomass as it is home
to two important plants (HU41 and HU50) with another one under construction (HU46). Considerable
progress was made on the construction of the new plant during 2019, with the various processes
undergoing their first tests in May and June. The plant was successfully commissioned during the first
quarter of 2020.

On the environmental front, all of this facility's wastewater readings, both the volume discharged and the
main indicators tracking the quality of the effluents discharged, remained below the thresholds stipulated
in the environmental permit. New investments are planned for 2019 to improve the analysis of the
centre's water readings in order to make further progress on the targets for enhancing the use of water
and for separating the effluents and treating them onsite.

As for air emissions, following the annual stoppage at the HU-41 MW biomass furnace, both the bag filter
and the emissions desulphurisation system contemplated in the plan for getting ready for the sector BAT
are operational.

Projects to improve the air quality and noise levels were ongoing; specifically, action plans for reducing
particle emissions from diffuse sources continued to be designed and executed. A noise map was drawn
up at the plant, factoring in the installations to be dismantled.
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As for waste, in 2019 a range of projects were studied for the use of ash and slag in mine restoration, soil
improvers and also as a by-product in the manufacture of fertilisers.

Lastly, in terms of the dismantling of the pulp-making facilities, in 2019, the work continued as scheduled,
complying notably with the stipulated workplace safety and environmenta! standards, particularly those
related with diffuse emissions, noise and waste management.

In 2019, ENCE obtained the required 'non-substantial modifications’ permit for the capacity to be added
via the new biomass plant and for the related changes in the emission limits and the addition of new
emission points.

It has also secured environmental authorisation for the plans to include 858 kWp of photovoitaic panels to
enable generation for self-consumption, and that was duly added to the plant's environmental permit.

Capital expenditure on environmental projects totalled €4.2 million at this plant in 2019. Those
investments were earmarked primarily to enhancing the management of wastewater, emissions and air
quality and improving the biomass storage facilities.

Merida operations centre
In 2019 Merida continued to comply with its wastewater and emissions requirements.

The most important investment made during the year was the installation of selective non-catalytic
reduction (SNCR) technology to reduce NOx emissions in combustion gases. That technology is currently
being tested under warranty and is producing very positive results. The project is framed by the process of
readying the centre for more stringent emissions controls ahead of looming effectiveness of the Best
Available Techniques. :

within the plant's operational management, a series of periodic activities have been adapted and
introduced at the centre to encourage ENCE's employees, operations and maintenance subcontractors
and other people working at the plant to keep sustainability in mind. For example, waste handling
awareness courses, the implementation of a suggestions box for ideas for how to improve the plant's
environmental performance and monitoring of the environmental aversight programme designed for the
facility.

With the aim of furthering the sustainable economy model at this centre, meetings have taken place with
the Extremadura regional government's sustainability team addressing the possibility of introducing the
degraded mine land recovery project in Salamanca into the region. The authorities have expressed
interest in this circular economy initiative and work is underway to speed up the permitting process.

Lastly, the plant continues to collaborate with other companies in the region on the LIFE ICIRBUS Circular
Economy project, researching how to recover the ash produced in the furnace. This project is in its final
phase and the results for the harvests collected at which this fertiliser was used are being analysed. The
prototype has been installed and the Lobdn (Badajoz) urban waste treatment plant is operating
continuously.

In Merida, ENCE is also participating in the Life Renatural NZEB sustainable construction project, the goal
of which is to develop buildings which consume barely any energy and have a low carbon footprint, using
natural and recycled materials and products.

It is also worth highlighting the financial effort being made to reduce the activity's noise impact in the
surrounding areas: phase one, involving a number of interventions at the furnace area, is underway and
will be expanded on during a second phase that will start following the corresponding assessment.

In all, environmental investments totalled €1.4 million in 2019 and were concentrated in projects related
with noise, waste and emission reduction and air quality.
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Enemansa operations centre

The priority at Enemansa for 2019 in terms of improving the plant's environmental performance was to
enhance the management of the discharges by making progress on the project for connecting up with the
municipal treatment facility. As a result, the ability to send discharges outside of the plant has been
reestablished and the separation of the various flows within the plant has been improved.

Another area of significant improvement at this facility was the environmental data reliability initiative.
Indeed, that was this plant's most significant project cost-wise, entailing an investment of €300 thousand
and an annual maintenance agreement worth around €80 thousand. That project has been executed and
was fully functioning by the first half of 2019.

As for air emissions, all of the plant's existing emission points comply with the limits stipulated in its
integrated environmental permit.

On the noise front, work continued on the projects planned for 2019 with follow-up targets already set for
2020.

In all, environmental investments totalled €0.7 million in 2019 and were concentrated in projects related
with noise and wastewater reduction and air quality.

La Loma operations centre

Important upgrade work was carried out at this centre in 2019, including the impiementation of a forced
evaporation system for the plant’s discharges, the installation of noise screens and improvements to
wastewater tank. In 2020, the centre plans to continue to execute other projects started in 2019 such as
diversification of the evaporation systems, modification of the discharge point and wastewater
separation.

As for emissions, aware of the air guality situation in the town near Villanueva del Arzobispo, the plant
boasts excellent results in terms of the particle emissions from the biomass plant.

On the waste management front, again taking a circular economy approach, this facility continues to
manage its ash as a byproduct and not as waste, having filed the corresponding information with Spain's
environment ministry and notified the regional department of the environment.

In all, environmental investments totalled €0.7 million in 2019 and were concentrated in projects related
with noise, wastewater and discharge reduction.

Lucena operations centre

Execution of a range of efficiency and environmental performance improvement projects continued at
this plant in 2019. Those projects included fitting a bag filter at the biomass furnace emissions point, a
noise emissions reduction project and the project for improving the reliability of the plant's
environmental readings.

The atmospheric emissions and wastewater readings remained within the limits established in the
environmental permit.

in 2019, within the stipulated deadline, the application was duly filed for the allocation of free emission
allowances for Phase 4 of the European Union Emissions Trading System (EU ETS), which are granted in
two periods: 2021-2025 and 2026-2030. The CHP plant successfully completed the application verification
and registration process and awaits notice of the linear reduction factors applicable to the plant as a new
entrant.

In all, environmental investments totalled €2.2 million in 2019 and were concentrated in projects related
with emissions and wastewater.
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Termollano operations centre

in 2019, the work at this plant consisted of integrating the Renewable Energy business's dynamics and
standards, implementing and certifying the UNE EN iSO 14001-based environmental management system.

Among the various environmental upgrade investments undertaken at this plant, it is worth highlighting
the installation of thermal imaging cameras for the early detection of possible heat transfer fluid leaks and
the improvements made to the solar field connection systems. A benchmarking exercise is also underway
with respect to the improvements being made to heat transfer fluid management at the plant to ensure
sustained application of prevailing best available techniques at the Puertollarc plant.

34. Events after the reporting date

No significant events have taken place since 31 December 2019, other than those already disclosed
herein, that would imply modifying the accompanying 2019 consolidated financial statements.
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Appendix

Statement of financial position
at 31 December 2019 and 2018
and statement of profit or loss
and of cash flows

for the years then ended for the
PULP and RENEWABLE ENERGY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS BY BUSINESS FOR 2019 AND 2018

(ence

"= ENERGIA & CELULOSA

2018 2018
Thousands of euros Pl Renewable  Adjustments CONSOLIDATED Pl Renewable  Adjustments &  CONSOLIDATED
b N Energy & Eliminations  TOTAL Gl Energy Eliminatians TOTAL
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before tax from continuing operations 2,934 8,169 = 11,103 164,530 15321 (6,620} 173,231
Adjustment for:
Depretiation and amortisation 64,055 28,267 92,322 58,652 16,998 75,650
Changes in pravisions and other deferred expense (net) 18,587 1,286 19,873 22,504 265 - 22,869
Impairment of and gains/{losses) an disposals of Intangible assets, PP&E and financial {2,371) 503 - (1,868) {11,388) 1,614 46 (9,728)
Finance income and casts (net) 7377 13,319 - 21,296 19,799 10,413 5574 36,786
Grants taken to incame {1,116) (254) - (1370} (1,108) (254) - (1,362)
86,532 43,721 B 130,253 88,458 29,136 6,620 124,215
Changes in working capitak:
Inventories (12,267) {4,045) - (16,312) (2.177) 2,675 - (6,502}
Trade and other receivables 68,460 14,389 - 82,849 (7.478) 3,414 - (4,064)
Short-term investments (2,226) - - (2,226) 4,151 - - 4,151
Trade payables, other payahles and other liabilities (4,206) 5393 - 1,187 12,106) {1.624) - (3,730)
49,761 15,737 - 65,498 (14,610} 2,365 - 10,145)
Other cash fiows from oparating activitias:
Interest pafd, net {including right-cf-use assets) (4,770} (11,050) - (15,820) (19,893} (10,016) - (29,908}
Dividends received from group companies - - - - 6,574 - (6,574) -
Income tax paid (7.505) (2,143) - (3.648) {26,675) (2,132) - (28,807)
Other amounts received/(paid) (4.724) (159) - {4,883} {1321) - - (1321
(16,999) {13,352) - (30,351) (41,315) 112,148) (6,574) (60,037)
Net cash from operating activitles 122,228 54275 - 176,503 197,064 36,774 {6,574) 227,264
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for investments:
Property, plant and equipment (155,683) (129,920) - {285,603) (77,988) (88,313) 2,542 (163,759)
Intangible assets (6,416) (14,728) 14,390 (6,754) (1,999) {22,235) - (24,234)
Businass combinations - {6,300} - {6,300) - (124,852) - (124,852)
Financial assets (35,210} {123} 35,000 333 (78,179) 1817 78779 2,817
{197,309) (151,071) 49,390 (298,930) (158,166) (233,583) 81321 (310,428)
Proceeds from disposals:
Property, plant and equipment and biclogical assats 705 133 - 838 2,158 57 {860) 1,355
Financial assats 4,302 - - 4302 - - - =
5,007 133 - 5,14¢ 2,158 57 {860) 1,355
Net cash used in Invasting ectivities 192,302) {150,938} 49,390 (293,850) (156,008) {233,526) 80451 (308,073)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from/(payments for) equity instruments:
Proceeds from issuance of own equity instruments - 49,350 {49,350) - - 80,461 (80,461) -
Procesds from issuance of convertible bonds, net of arrangement fees - - - 14,551 - 14,551
Buyback of own equity instruments {76,443) - - {76,443) (63,864) - - (63,864}
Disposal of own equity instruments 64,419 - - 64,419 63,368 - - 63,368
(12,02a) 49,390 (49,390} (12,024) 14,055 80,451 {30,461) 14,055
Procesds from/(repayments of) financial liabilities:
Group companies and associates (4,547) 4,547 - {5,937) 5,937 -
Proceeds from issuanca of convertible bands (118) ) (122) 142,767 41,523 184,290
Repayment of bonds and other marketable securities = . - {250,000) - {250,000)
Increase/{decrease) in bank borrowings, net of issuance costs 45,003 (34,029) . 10,974 84,285 171,177 255,462
Repayment of other borrowings 22,500 (260) - 22,640 21,661 4,217 25,878
Payments under finance leases (2,589) (529) (3,218) - - :
Grants received 304 {25) - 279 50 25 - 115
60,853 {30,300) - 30,553 (7,134) 222,879 - 215,745
Dividands and payments on other equity instruments
Dividends from related parties - - - - - (6,574 6574 -
Dividends paid to ENCE sharehalders {25,605} - (25,605) (67,110) - - {67,110)
Dividends pald to minerity shareholders - {1,986} - {1,986) - 12,786} - {2,786)
(25,605) (2,986) - (22,591) {67,110} {2,360} 6574 {69,896)
Net cash fram /{used In] financing activitles 23224 17,104 149,39€) (9.962) {60.189) 293,980 (73,887) 159,904
MET INCREASE/{DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (45,850) (79,559) - (126,409) (18133) 97,228 - 78,095
Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance 148,161 200,462 - 348,623 167,294 103,234 - 270,528
Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance 101,311 120,503 - 223214 148,161 200,462 - 348,623
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ENCE Energia y Celulosa, S.A. and subsidiaries

2019 Group Management Report

Introduction

This Management Report has been drawn up in keeping with the terms of article 49 of Spain's Code of
Commerce, as worded by Spanish Law 16/2007 (of 4 July 2007), revising and adapting the accounting aspects
of company law for international harmonisation purposes, article 262 of the Spanish Corporate Enterprises Act
and the recommendations issued by the Spanish securities market regulator, the CNMV, in its “Guide for the
preparation of management reports for listed companies”.

The Management Report also includes the following reports, which are included as Appendices:

¢ The non-financial statement, drawn up in keeping with the requirements stipulated in Spanish Law
11/2018 (of 28 December 2018), which amends the Code of Commerce, the consalidated text of the
Corporate Enterprises Act enacted by means of Royal Legislative-Decree 1/2010, and Spain's Audit Act
(Law 22/2015) with respect to non-financial and diversity reporting.

It was drawn up also taking into consideration the guidelines on non-financial reporting issued by the
European Commission (2017/C 215/01) in response to Directive 2014/95/EU. The sustainability report
constituting the non-financial statement was prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI) standards {In-Accordance option: core).

The information included in the non-financial statement has been assured by an independent assurance
firm,

= The report about the Group's activities in 2019, which includes a detailed assessment of ENCE's business
performance during the year, provides additional details about the markets it operates in and the key
trends in the main income statement, cash flow and capital structure indicators. That report also includes
information about ENCE's share price performance.

The Annual Corporate Governance Report.

With the aim of avoiding overiap in the information provided in this Management Report, below is 2 list of the
main sections included in the CNMV's "Guide for the preparation of management repoits for listed
companies” which are addressed in the Appendices:

1. The non-financial statement provides information about environmental matters (mainly in the
section headed “Sustainable growth drivers - Safe and eco-friendly operations), its R&D efforts
(mainly in the section titled “Committed to doing better - R&D”} and about employee matters (mainly
in the section titled “Sustainable growth drivers - ENCE's people and values); it also provides the non-
financial key performance indicators.

2. The report providing details about the Group's activities in 2019 provides detailed information about
the business trends and performance, ENCE's liquidity and financial resources, its share price
performance and the alternative performance measures used by ENCE to report on its financial
performance.

Free translation from the original in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails
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3. The annual financial statements to which this Management Report is attached include disclosures
about significant developments occurring since the end of the reporting period (note 34 of the
consolidated financial statements), own share transactions (note 22) and the average supplier
payment term (note 21).

Governance structure

The highest governing bodies at Ence Energia y Celulosa, S.A. (the “Company”) are the Annual General Meeting
and the Board of Directors, vested with the duties stipulated in company law and the bylaws. The Board of
Directors is tasked with supervision, management and control of the Company. It is responsible for calling the
Annual General Meetings; authorising the financial statements; approving the Company's financial and non-
financial information and its publication; approving the directors' remuneration regime within the limits
established at the AGM:; evaluating the performances of its committees, chairman, directors and the board as a
whole and of the Company's CEO; debating and approving the business plan of the Company and its Group,
including definition and revision as needed of its mission and values and its financial, social and environmental
objectives; approving corporate policies, including, among others, the sustainability policy, the risk control and
management policy and the dividend policy; determining the Company's and Group's corporate governance
regime; and approving the corporate crime prevention and detection model.

The Board’s actions are guided at all times by the criteria of maximising the value of the Company in the
interest of its shareholders, framed by the observation of its corporate social responsibility and sustainability
principles.

The Board of Directors is made up of executive, proprietary, external and independent directors. The Board has
an Executive Chairman; the chairmanship is currently held by the CEO. The positions of Board Secretary and
Vice-Secretary are currently held by two individuals who are not directors.

The Board of Directors is entitled to delegate duties falling under its purview in committees made up of
directors and/or chief executive officer(s), albeit exercising due oversight over these bodies and setting the
guidelines under which they should operate.

The Board is supported by an Executive Committee (in which it has delegated all of the powers that can be
delegated) and three advisory committees tasked with providing it with information, advice and proposals on
the matters falling under their respective remits: the Audit Committee, the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee and the Sustainability Committee.

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the Company's everyday management. He is
supported in this work by the Management Committee, specifically the heads of the various business units and
corporate departments: the Pulp Operations Officer, the Independent Energy Plants Officer, the Supply Chain
Officer, the Financial, Corporate Development and Forest Assets Officer, the Human Capital Officer, the
Communication and Institutional Relations Officer, the Sales Manager, the Health, Safety and Environment
Manager, the Sustainability Officer and General Secretary and the Planning and Control Manager. The officers
report directly to the Company's CEO.

At the executive level, the Company is also assisted by a Compliance Committee, an Executive Sustainability
Committee and an Qperational Excellence Committee.

The Compliance Committee reports to the Audit Committee and is made up of the heads of the corporate
Human Capital and Health, Safety and Environment Departments, the General Secretary and the head of the
Internal Audit Department, who chairs it. The Compliance Committee's duties in respect of the Company's
Code of Conduct include fostering familiarity with it and its application, communication and enforcement at
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ENCE; overseeing its application at all Group companies; issuing binding interpretations of the Code; approving
and implementing rules and procedures to implement and enforce it; and receiving notifications submitted via
ENCE's whistle-blowing channel and issuing the corresponding findings and responses.

As for the Corporate Crime Prevention and Detection Protocol, the Compliance Committee controls, supervises
and evaluates compliance with the rules and procedures set down in the Crime Prevention Protocol, updating
them regularly as required, to ensure that all of the controls and oversight measures established by the
Company to prevent or mitigate the risk of criminal conduct within the organisation are duly identified and
detailed. This Committee is also in charge of drawing up plans for remedying, updating, creating or modifying
the measures and controls that constitute ENCE's Corparate Crime Prevention and Detection Protocol.

it additionally supervises compliance with all of the regulations related with the General Data Protection
Regulation.

The Executive Sustainability Committee reports to the Board's Sustainability Committee and is made up of the
CEO, who chairs it, the General Secretary and Sustainability Officer and the heads of the corporate Health,
Safety and Environment Department, Human Capital, Pulp, independent Energy Plant Operations, Finance and
Corporate Development, Supply Chain and Communication and Institutional Relations Departments. That
committee's permanent members also include the head of corporate sustainability and the designated
sustainability officers in each business unit. Its main duties include execution at the operating level of the
corporate sustainability strategy set by the Board committee, work which includes setting targets and
monitoring their delivery, That committee also approves ENCE's membership of sector or cross-sector
initiatives for the promotion of sustainability and establishes the channels for engaging with stakeholders. It
also coordinates the preparation of the non-financial reports for presentation to the Board's Sustainability
Committee.

The Operational Excellence Committee is made up of the CEQ, who chairs it, the members of the Management
Committee and the management teams at the pulp biomills and the energy plants. That committee meets
weekly to monitor the pulp biomills' and the energy plants' key performance indicators with respect to
employee safety, environmental matters, workplace climate, sales matters related with customers and
products, operational and cost indicators and matters related with the procurement of timber and biomass.

in addition, ENCE has an Internal Audit Department which reports directly to the Audit Committee.

The Company is the parent of a group of companies (the "Group"), whose management is fully integrated and
centralised within the former in the case of the wholly-owned subsidiaries, as the scape of the specific duties
assigned to the Company’s executive team extends to all the Group companies. Indeed, the Company is the
sole director of its Group companies, other than those in which there are non-controlling interests.

The companies with non-controlling interests are: Energia la Loma, S.A, Energias de la Mancha ENEMAN, S.A,
Bioenergia Santamaria, S.A. and Ence Energia Termollano, S.A., in which Ence Energia, S.L.U, 100%-owned by

Ence Energfa y Celulosa, S.A., holds ownership interests of 64.06%, 68.42%, 70% and 90%, respectively.

The above five companies are governed by a board of directors and the other shareholders are represented on
three of them.

Group activity
ENCE has articulated its activities around two core businesses: the production of pulp, which represented 59%

of Group EBITDA in 2019, and the generation of energy from renewable sources at standalone power plants,
which accounted for 41%.
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3.1. Pulp production

ENCE has two eucalyptus pulp biomills in Spain: a 685,000-tonne-capacity facility in the town of Navia, Asturias,
and a 515,000-tonne-capacity complex in Pontevedra, Galicia.

As an integral part of its pulp production process, ENCE uses the lignin and forest sub-products derived from its
manufacturing to generate the energy needed for the process. To this end, it operates a 34.6-MW CHP plant,
integrated within the Pontevedra biomill, and a 40.3-MW CHP plant and a 36.7-MW biomass generation plant,
both of which are integrated within the pulp production process at the Navia biomill. The energy produced at
these power plants is sold to the grid and subsequently repurchased.

The Pulp business therefore includes the production and sale of pulp; the generation and co-generation of
energy at the plants involved in the productive process; and the supply of timber from the plantations
managed by the Company.

Pulp is the basic raw material used to manufacture the various kinds of paper that form part of our everyday
lives. More specifically, ENCE makes pulp from cultivated eucalyptus timber acquired in Galicia and along the
Cantabria coast.

The eucalyptus tree is a natural, renewable and indigenous resource. It grows abundantly in the north of Spain
but is scarce in most of the world as it only grows in very specific climate conditions, normally warm subtropical
regions.

In addition, eucalyptus timber is very valuable because it provides the best quality pulp for the manufacture of
tissue paper, i.e. sanitary paper products, such as kitchen paper, facial tissues, paper napkins, toilet paper, etc.

3.2. Renewable power generation

ENCE's Renewable Energy business encompasses the generation of power from renewable sources at
independent plants with aggregate installed capacity of 316 MW that have no relation to the pulp production
process.

ENCE has eight power plants fuelled by forestry and agricultural biomass with aggregate installed capacity of
266 MW: three plants in Huelva (with capacity of 50 MW, 46 MW and 41 MW); two in Ciudad Real (50 MW and
16 MW); one in Merida (20 MW); one in Jaen (16 MW); and a complex in Cordoba (27 MW). In addition, Ence
owns a 50-MW solar thermal plant in Ciudad Real.

Two new agricultural and forestry biomass plants - a 46-MW plant in Huelva and a 50-MW facility in Ciudad
Real - will start up during the first quarter of 2020.

Those assets position ENCE as one of Europe's largest hardwood pulp (BHKP) producers, with installed capacity
of 1,200,000 tonnes between the two biomills in Galicia and Asturias, and as the leading generator of biomass-
fuelled renewable energy, with installed capacity of 112 MW integrated within the pulp biomills and another
316 MW distributed between nine standalone plants located in Andalusia, Extremadura and Castile la Mancha.
Moreover, ENCE is the leading player in the end-to-end and responsible management of forest land and crops
in Spain.
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3.3. 2019-2023 Business Plan
Market context

ENCE has articulated its activities around twc independent yet complementary businesses, both of which
present solid long-term growth prospects. The first consists of the manufacture of special pulp and the second,
the generation of power from renewable sources. The first is a cyclical business, while the second providés
earnings stability and visibility.

Rapid growth in urban populations and improving living standards in emerging markets are the key factors
driving growth in demand for pulp for hygiene products and for viscose for use in the textile industry. Those
demographic trends are being complemented by a substitution effect: pulp is a natural, sustainakle, renewable
and biodegradable raw material with a smaller carbon footprint than other materials such as plastics and
synthetic fibres.

The growth in renewable energy is being driven by the targets set nationally and internationally as part of
climate action. The European Union, for example, in its Climate and Energy Policy Framework 2030, is looking
to have the share of the energy mix represented by renewable sources account for at least 32%. That
Framework was adopted by the European Council in Octcber 2014; in October 2018, the renewable energy and
energy efficiency targets were revised upwards.

To achieve that target, Spain will double its renewable energy generation capacity within the next decade.
Specifically, Spain's National Integrated Energy and Climate Plan contemplates the development of 22 GW of
wind power, 30 GW of photovoltaic solar power, 5 GW of solar thermal power, 3 GW of pumped hydrcpower
and 1 GW of biomass power.

Moreover, the European Green Deal presented by the European Commission in December 2019, laying out the
roadmap for achieving climate neutrality in Europe in 2050, proposes tightening current emission-cutting and
decarbonisation objectives for the energy sector, marking an even greater thrust for the renewable electricity
generation industry.

2019-2023 Business Plan

At the end of 2018, ENCE presented its Business Plan for 2019 - 2023, articulated around four key lines of
initiative:

1) Growth

By executing its new Business Plan, ENCE's objective is to virtually doubie Group EBITDA {assuming constant
pulp prices) and mitigate earnings cyclicality. To that end it is planning to increase pulp capacity by 40% and
triple operating profit in the Energy business, achieving a minimum run rate of €150m.

2) Diversificacion

In order to tap potential growth opportunities, ENCE s strategically committed to diversification, which will

also increase the solidity and flexibility of its business model. That diversification is not only centred on
products but also raw materials and renewable power generation technologies.
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PULP

In the Pulp business, the Business Plan contemplates the addition of two new products to the special pulp
portfolio: pulp for absorbent hygiene products and pulp for viscose for application in the textile industry. Both
present higher growth rates than the various types of pulp currently sold by ENCE for manufacture into paper.

In addition, the Plan contemplates diversifying the species of trees used by ENCE as raw material for the
manufacture of pulp. In addition to stepping up the use of the Nitens eucalyptus species, ENCE is planning to
use pine in its productive process. By diversifying its raw materials the goal is to increase the availability of
timber and be able to offer customers higher value-added products.

RENEWABLE ENERGY

In the Renewable Energy business, ENCE similarly wants to reap the benefits of diversification. On the one
hand, it plans to add new sources of agricultural and forest biomass to its supply sources to increase availability
and reduce costs. It also plans to diversify its renewable energy generation technologies, on the other.

3} Excelionce in suztainabilily
The third pillar underpinning the 2019 - 2023 Business Plan is excellence in sustainability, applicable across all
of the Company's business activities. ENCE has earmarked a budget of up to €140 million over the time horizon

contemplated by the Business Plan for investment in reinforcing the reliability, flexibility, environmental
excellence and safety of its facilities.
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In its 2019-2023 Sustainability Master Plan, the Company has set down its priority lines of action and the
roadmap for achieving the excellence it aspires to in sustainability within the same time horizon as its Business
Plan. The Master Plan is described in detail in the Group's non-financial statement.

d} Financial discipline

To achieve its Business Plan objectives, ENCE has designed an investment plan articulated around various
independent projects that will be executed in stages in order to guarantee ongoing financial discipline. Each
project must be reconfirmed by the Board before proceeding in order to:

e Ensure compliance with the return criteria;

* Ensure that the leverage thresholds set for each business are not surpassed (net debt-to-EBITDA of
2.5x in the Pulp business at mid-cycle prices and 4.5x in the Renewable Energy business);

e After paying out 50% of net profit in dividends.
Change in the state's criteria regarding the sxtension of the biomill concession in Ponicvedra
Following the change in criteria regarding the extension of ENCE's concession in Pontevedra, in March 2019,
the Board of Directors decided to concentrate the Business Plan investments for the Pulp business at the Navia
biomill, reiterating in the interim the approved targets for growth, diversification, sustainability and financial

discipline.

As of the end of 2019, ENCE continues to defend the legality of the extension of its concession in Pontevedra
until 2073 in the courts.

Progress on execution of the 2019-2023 Business Plan

Pulp Business

The Business Plan contemplates four independent projects for the Pulp business to which an investment
budget of around €600 million has been allocated.
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The first two projects, the addition of 20,000 tonnes of capacity at the Pontevedra biomill and 80,000 tonnes at
the Navia biomill, were executed in 2019 and have increased pulp production capacity by 9%.

Progress was made in parallel during the year on the engineering and permitting work and on negotiating the
EPC contracts for the other two projects: staggered adaptation of the Navia biomill to permit the manufacture
of absorbent hygiene products; and the construction, also in Navia, of a new swing line. The swing line would
have the capacity to produce up to 340,000 tonnes of pulp for making paper or, alternatively, up to 200,000
tonnes of dissolving pulp for viscose, or any combination thereof, depending on market conditions.

The kick-off of both projects is currently pending, in keeping with the commitment to executing the Business
Plan gradually in order to guarantee financial discipline.

By executing these four projects, ENCE is pursuing the following three objectives:
v~ Pulp capacity expansion to 1.36 million tonnes.

v Addition of two new products: pulp for absorbent
hygiene products and pulp for viscose textiles.

¥  Reduction in the cash cost of our pulp for paper
(BHKP) to €365/tonne.

In 2019, ENCE launched a cost-cutting programme in order to
ensure delivery of the cost targets set down in its Business Plan.

Renewable Energy business

For the Renewable Energy business, the 2019-2023 Business Plan contemplates €475 million of investments,
including the construction in 2019 of two new biomass plants with combined capacity of 96 MW which are
expected to be commissioned in the first quarter of 2020.
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Those two new plants will increase installed capacity ir the Renewable Energy business by 44% to 316 MW:
266 MW of biomass plants and a 50-MW solar thermal plant in Puertollano (Ciudad Real) acquired for €140
million in December 2018.

With that acquisition, ENCE took its first step towards diversifying into new renewable energy technologies.

By acquiring that facility in the vicinity of the new biomass ptant which the Company is building in that same
town, ENCE is committing to the hybridisation of two technologies - solar thermal power and biomass furnaces;
the aim is to increase capacity utilisation (hours) and thus convert a non-controllable asset into a manageable
one without major investment.

In order deliver the Business Plan targets, ENCE has a pipeline of 405 MW of grid-authorised projects for which
locations have been secured: 240 MW of photovoltaic solar pawer, 140 MW of biomass and 25 MW of hybrid
solar thermal power. Development of the latter two technologies is pending implementation of the European
and Spanish renewable energy plans.
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4. Key risks and sources of uncertainty

ENCE's enterprise risk management (ERM) system is a process that is embedded within the organisation and is
designed to identify, assess, prioritise, address and monitor situations that pose a threat to the Company's
activities and objectives. Various areas of ENCE participate in the process, each with specific responsibilities
which, combined, constitute the end-to-end system.

ENCE identifies and evaluates emerging risks continuously and systematically. It also monitors developments
with respect to risks identified and those that have dissipated or materialised in prior years. The purpose of
this monitoring and control process is to ensure execution and effectiveness of the agreed-upon action plans
and guarantee continuous supervision of the Company's key risk factors.

The result of this process is the Risk Register and Map, which is presented to the Management Committee for
joint debate and review. Subsequently, the Risk Register and Map is presented to the Audit Committee for
approval and subsequent reporting to the Board of Directors.

ENCE's risk control and management process assigns the following specific roles and responsibilities:

1. The risk management officers are tasked with executing the-action plans and establishing the controls
needed to provide the agreed-upon response to the risks identified within their respective purviews.

2. Throughout the year the Internal Audit Department closely monitors: the level of progress on
executing the risk mitigation plans, providing the Board's Audit Committee with regular updates on
these matters.

3. The Audit Committee is in charge of proposing the risk mitigation plans (risk controls and action plans)
assigned to the various identified risks to the Board of Directors. It also conducts periodic oversight of
the level of execution of the various action plans and the effectiveness of the controls put in place
with a view to managing the risks to which the organisation is exposed.

4. Lastly, the Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the integrity and overseeing the correct
working of ENCE’s ERM system, monitoring to this end both the risks identified and the controls and
action plans agreed to manage the threats to delivery of the Company's strategic objectives.

This general modus operandi ensures that all those participating in executing, reporting, monitoring, controlling
and supervising the risk management measures taken are duly coordinated.

ENCE’s ERM system takes into consideration the possible threats to delivery of the strategic objectives of all of
the Group’s businesses (pulp, energy and forestry) as well as other activities undertaken by the organisation's
various support areas.

This system encompasses the entire Group, understood as each and every one of the companies in which Ence
Energia y Celulosa, S.A. holds, directly or indirectly, a majority shareholding, a majority of the voting rights or in
which it has appointed or has the power to appoint the majority of the members of their boards of directors,
giving it effective control over the investees.

The ERM contemplates threats to the various types of objectives established by the organisation. Specifically it
refers to objectives classified as:

1. Strategic

2. Operational

3. Financial Information and Reporting
4

Compliance

The risks addressed by ENCE's ERM model are in turn classified as follows:
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Environmental Risks

Risks associated with Decision-Making information
Financial Risks

Organisational Risks

Operational Risks

Corporate Crime Risks

No s woN e

Tax Risks

In keeping with ENCE's Risk Management and Control Policy, the Company has a methodology for assigning
specific risk appetite thresholds depending on the activities involved. Its risk tolerance levels are contingent
upon ensuring that rewards and potential risks are fully understood before decisions are made, to which end it
establishes reasonable risk management measures as required.

ENCE analyses each situation based on the risk-reward trade-off. This analysis contemplates multiple factors
including strategy, stakeholder expectations, prevailing legislation, the environment and third-party relations.

1. ENCE takes a zero-tolerance stance towards any situation which could compromise the health or
safety of its employees.

2. Its approach is to minimise its exposure to situations related with compliance with the faws and
regulations applicable to the Company, particularly'in respect of the impact of its operations on the
environment or its facilities' surroundings, the Group's reputation in the eyes of others and business
sustainability.

3. ENCE has a team of external advisors and expert in-house staff wha lay down the guidelines for
ensuring compliance with tax requirements so that it assumes no risk whatsoever in this arena.

4. ENCE's appetite for situations related to product research, development and innovation can be
described as moderate, the aim being to provide solutions that fully satisfy its customers' needs so
that the Company remains a benchmark in the pulp market.

5. In addition, aware of prevailing economic complexity, ENCE is committed to the pursuit of financial
discipline such that it can control the organisation's overall debt and maintain enough liquidity to
ensure its ability to service its payment obligations and fund its priority investments. Against this
backdrop, its risk appetite for speculative financial trades is low.

6. Nevertheless, a significant percentage of ENCE's transactions are exposed to the exchange rate
between the dollar ($} and the euro (€). ENCE, knowledgeable of the prevailing economic situation and
trends in the rate of exchange between these two currencies, has defined a low risk appetite strategy
in this arena, managing its currency exposure rigorously in keeping with the guidelines set by the
Executive Committee of the Board of Directors and the Finance Department, as warranted.

The chief risks to delivery of the organisation’s fundamental objectives and the associated response plans for
mitigating their potential impact are detailed in this section:

Goal: Financial discipline

In complex economic environments, such as that in which ENCE does business and operates, demands in terms
of business profitability and development tend to increase. Against this backdrop, ENCE is aware of the need to
impose financial discipline so that it is capable of maintaining the ability to finance potential investments within
reasonable leverage thresholds. Delivery of this objective is exposed to the following risk factors:
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PULP PRICE VOLATILITY

Pulp prices are formed in an active market. Trends in pulp prices have a significant influence on
ENCE’s revenue and profits. Global puip prices have been volatile in recent years, fluctuating
significantly over short periods of time, as a result of continual imbalances between supply and
demand in the pulp and paper industries. A significant decline in the price of one or more pulp
products could have an adverse impact on the organisation’s revenue, cash flows and net profit.

To mitigate this risk factor, first and foremost, ENCE goes to lengths to reduce its production costs. In
addition, ENCE has a Global Risk Committee (Derivatives Committee) which is tasked with continually
monitoring the pulp market on account of its highly cyclical nature. This Committee is in constant
contact with financial entities with the aim of arranging, if necessary and the prices are right, financial
hedges and/or futures in order to mitigate potential fallout from pulp price volatility.

EXCHANGE RATE VOLATILITY

Revenue from the sale of pulp is exposed to the trend in the dollar/euro exchange rate. Insofar as the
Company’s cost structure is denominated in euros, potential changes in the rate of exchange between
the two currencies can have an adverse effect on the Company's earnings.

The Global Risk Committee, also the main body tasked with controlling this risk factor, monitors the
currency markets and the trend in the dollar/euro exchange rate periodically with the aim of
arranging financial hedges to mitigate currency exposure if necessary.

The Group has currently hedged approximately 74% of estimated 2020 sales and approximately 28%
of first-half 2021 sales under different forward currency contracts.

TRADE CREDIT RISK - PULP BUSINESS

In the pulp market is it possible that the odd customer, due to the adverse performance of its own
business, could delay or fail to make payments on the terms agreed on orders fulfilled by ENCE.

ENCE has a credit insurance policy, which has been renewed until 31 December 2019, that covers,
depending on the country in which the customer is located, between 80% and 90% of the balances
receivable. This insurance policy assigns credit limits according to the creditworthiness of the
customer and covers virtually all of the Group's pulp sales. Under the policy, pulp customer-specific
credit limits cannot be overstepped.

To mitigate this risk, ENCE also has a Credit Committee which is tasked with continuously monitoring
outstanding receivables balances and available insurance coverage.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RISK

Adverse conditions in the debt and equity markets could make it hard or impossible for the Group to
raise the funding needed in the course of its business operations or to execute its 2019-2023 Business
Plan.

This is one of the risk factors monitored most closely by the ENCE Group. To mitigate this risk, it has
established a series of key financial targets:

1. Guaranteed business continuity in any pulp price scenario.

2. Support for the growth plans in the various business segments by means of a solid capital structure
and adequate liquidity level.

3. Leverage targets (based on net debt) tailored for each business unit's revenue volatility profile.
Against this backdrop, the leverage cap set for the Pulp business is around 2.5 times recurring
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EBITDA, the latter derived using mid-cycle pulp prices and average exchange rates. The [everage
cap established for the Renewable Energy business is 4.5 times.

4. Diversified and tailored sources of financing for each business. At present, this means tapping the
capital markets opportunely for the Pulp business and using bank financing and raising money from
instituticnal investors in the Renewable Energy business.

Each of the Group's two businesses is financed and managed separately and optimally in light of their
unigue characteristics. The debt of each is non-recourse to that of the other and there are no cross-
guarantees.

The Group’s Finance Department draws up a financial plan annually that addresses all financing needs
and how they are to be met. Funding needs for the most significant cash requirements, such as
forecast capital expenditure, debt repayments and working capital requirements, as warranted, are
identified sufficiently in advance.

There are also policies establishing the maximum amount of equity that can be committed to projects
under development before the associated long-term financing has been arranged.

e) REGULATORY CHANGES (INCLUDING TAX REGULATIONS)

It is feasible that the state, regional and/or local tax authorities could make further changes to current
tax regulations, such as changes/reforms to corporate and/personal income tax, which could directly
affect ENCE and its earnings.

To mitigate this risk, ENCE has a team of in-house specialists who work together with external tax
advisors and experts and have established internal rules for tax compliance and guidelines for
minimising exposure to risk in this respect. However, because this is an exogenous risk factor, the
teams follow the main tax-related developments closely in order to be ready to react whenever they
may materialise.

Goal: Enhancing the Company’s Productive Capacity

ENCE uses the most environmentally-friendly technology possible in all its production processes and uses total
quality management (TQM} methodology to boost its competitive positioning and the quality of its products.
However, the Group’s maintenance, refurbishment and investment plans could affect the correct operation,
perfarmance and/or useful lives of its pulp-making machinery and equipment and its productive facilities.

This target is exposed to factory ohsolescence risk. In the absence of an investment and maintenance plan to
address facility obsolescence, the firm cannot guarantee delivery of the various operations centres targets and
the biomills' and energy piants' installations, machinery and equipment could become impaired.

In order to manage the risks that could jeopardise delivery of this strategic objective, ENCE works to reduce the
refative age of its machinery, equipment and facilities by means of three specific lines of initiative: (i) review of
the public works supporting its facilities, disposing of idle equipment; (ii) new investments to address any areas
for improvement detected; and (iii} the design of maintenarce programmes to guarantee efficient production.

Goal: New Product Development

ENCE attempts to differentiate its products from those of its competitors while building a globally recognised
brand in parallel. Here the main risks include that of not being able to stock the products its customers are
looking for or not being able to meet customers’ expectations in terms of quality.

The strategy adopted to satisfy customers’ needs is to reduce risk by enhancing productive processes and
maintaining a customer complaints/claims management system. In 2019, ENCE continued to raise the profile of
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and assign new resources to its Customer Service Department. In addition, it shored up its salesforce
quantitatively and gualitatively with a view to identifying customers’ specific needs in order to factor them into
the Company’s product range.

Goal: Minimising the Cash Cost

In the volatile environment in which ENCE does business, given the intrinsic characteristics of its businesses and
the prevailing economic crisis, the Company has set itself the priority of making its operations more efficient by
minimising its cash cost.

Several situations could threaten delivery of this objective, thus translating into a loss of competitiveness for
ENCE: inflation in the cost of acquiring chemical products, fuel, gas, industrial supplies and spare parts, logistics
and transportation costs, strike action, the economic fallout from sector and environmental regulations and
technological developments on the part of its competitors. Meanwhile, the price of timber can also fluctuate as
a result of changes in the balance of supply and demand in the regions in which the factories are located.

ENCE attempts to mitigate the risk of price changes by having the Corporate Supply Chain Department
periodically monitor the performance of its main suppliers with a view to taking corresponding action (search
for alternative products, identification of more competitive goods and services, enhancement of the firm's
bargaining power and additions to the pool of suppliers) in the event of significant incidents. The risk of a
shortfall of timber supply in the regions in which the Group’s factories are located is managed mainly by means
of reliance on alternative markets, usually with higher logistics costs, an increased market presence via
standing timber purchases, contingency plans and inventory buffers to guarantee business continuity.

To mitigate the risk of third-party strikes that could affect ENCE, the Group has drawn up supplier
communication plans that anticipate these situations so as to enable timely identification of alternatives. A
specific joint management-work policy has been defined to address the risk of strike action by carriers.
Meanwhile, management and control has been enhanced by means of the provision of mobile computer
devices to carriers.

The primary measure taken to reduce the potential cost of specific environmental regulations is to remain in
ongoing contact and dialogue with the main stakeholders (mainly the various government offices and
sector/environmental associations) with a view to ensuring adequate oversight of the Group’s environmental
permits and the corresponding paperwork.

Lastly, in order to control the risk of the development of superior technology by its competitors, management
closely follows what its rivals are doing on the technology front, learning about emerging technologies and
production process improvements with a view to assessing their suitability/feasibility for the Company. ENCE’s
technical experts likewise work continually on alternatives for incorporation into its productive processes with
a view to further differentiating its product from that of its competitors.

Goal: Increasing ENCE’s Market Share

One of ENCE'’s priorities is to increase the market share commanded by its pulp products, namely to sell higher
volumes of pulp to a greater number of customers. However, certain developments could threaten delivery of
this objective, such as a deterioration in contractual sales terms, a shift in customers' production mixes, a
contraction in demand for its products and evolving market preferences.

ENCE's Marketing Plan for 2020 is designed to reinforce the presence and positioning of the Company's
products in the European market and materialises in initiatives aimed at: (i) increasing the customer base in
order to reduce concentration risk; (ii) differentiating ENCE's products by means of plans to enhance the
properties and qualities of its pulp; and (iii) improving customer service.
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In addition, ENCE continually monitors market trends in respect of pulp preferences. In addition, the
production and sales teams work closely with ENCE's customers to ensure that the pulp it sells meets or
surpasses their needs.

Goal: Streamlining of Post-Praduction Logistics

Once the product is ready, it is cructal to deliver it to the end customer as cost-effectively as possible and on
the contractual terms established in the related sales agreements. Two specific situations could threaten
delivery of this objective: stockouts and shipping costs.

End product stockouts can occur as a result of ad-hoc technical incidents in the productive process
(breakdowns, bottlenecks, etc.) resulting in lower than initially-planned product availability. This situation can
lead to the failure to deliver within the agreed-upon deadlines, causing damage to the end customer and to
ENCE's reputation, generating costs deriving from contract non-performance and ultimately adversely
impacting the Company's earnings. These events can also trigger the cancellation of orders by our customers
thereby increasing stock levels. To minimise this risk, the Pulp Business reviews the production, sales and
logistics plans as a whole in order identify potential shortfalis and devote the resources needed to address
them. Sales and end product stock levels are also monitored by means of the corresponding scorecards and
supervision of trends in key production and logistics variables.

Goal: Minimising the Impact of our Operations on the Environment

Generally speaking, the activities performed by ENCE in both its Pulp and Energy Businesses are carried out in
industrial facilities in which a number of different raw materials and pieces of machinery and equipment
interact in @ manner that generates risks that are intrinsic to all industrial activities.

ENCE is firmly committed to minimising all risky activities that could have adverse ramifications for its natural
surroundings, the environment or the communities where it does business. The main threats to delivery of this
objective include potential accidental emissions of contaminating particles, possible accidental spifls and
potential noise or aesthetic contamination as a result of its industrial activities.

ENCE mitigates this risk by reducing the impact its operations have on the environment by means of its
integrated quality, environment and safety management system which is certified under the UNE-EN-ISO
14001 environmental management standard, by means of education about how to prevent environmental
risks, writing insurance policies, conducting audits and implementing inspection, oversight and control
measures, framed by a preventative approach. Note that in 2019, the Graup also continued to invest to make
its facilities more environmentally-friendly.

Goal: Business Continuity

The Pontevedra biomill's original concession of 1958 was extended for a term of 60 years (starting from 8
November 2013) by the then Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Environment via a resolution dated 20 January
2016 by virtue of: (i) Law 2/2013, of 29 May 2013, on coastal protection and sustainability and amending the
Coastal Act; and (ii) the General Coast Regulations enacted by means of Royal Decree 876/2014 (10 October
2014). That resolution was challenged by the Council of Pontevedra and two environmental associations
(Greenpeace Spain and Asociacidn Pola Defensa da Ria de Pontevedra or the APDR), giving rise to three court
cases before the National Appeliate Court's Chamber for Contentious Administrative Proceedings, in which the
Ministry, along with ENCE in its capacity as co-defendant, had been defending the legality of the concession
extension.

On 8 March 2019, the newly-named Ministry of Ecological Transition presented written deeds effectively
acquiescing in all three lawsuits. in other words, it requested to have Greenpeace's and the APDR's claims
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upheld, despite having previously argued throughout all of the proceedings that the Resolution of 20 January
2016 was lawful. ENCE is opposing the acquiescence vehemently.

The cases taken by Greenpeace and the APDR are pending sentencing. In the court proceedings instigated by
the town council of Pontevedra, the National Appellate Court issued a measure of organisation on 29 January
2020, declaring the pre-trial proceedings complete and ready for hearing. The state attorney has appealed the
Appellate Court's measure of organisation of 16 January 2020 in which the latter had decided not to accept the
state attorney's request to be given more time to present its case before declaring it ready for hearing.

Although ENCE and its legal counsel believe that both the appeals lodged and the arguments put forward by
the state government to substantiate its acquiescence lack legal grounds, in order to act transparently, on 15
March 2019, the Company filed a price-sensitive notice in which it provided its assessment of the financial
consequences of the worst-case scenario, specifically that in which: (i) the legal proceedings pursued by the
Company to defend the validity of the concession extension awarded by the state government in 2016,
including all ordinary and extraordinary remedies presented at the highest possible level, conclude without
success; (ii) the Company is unable to find an acceptable alternative for continuing the activities of the
Pontevedra biomill; and (jii) the foregoing leads to discontinuation of operations at the Pontevedra complex.

The Company estimates that in the unlikely event that operations have to be discontinued, that development
would have an extraordinary impact on its income statement of €185 million. Of that sum, €74 million would
entail an outflow of cash: €43 million for dismantling work; €16 million to terminate existing contracts (based
on the prior experience of dismantling the former mill in Huelva); and €15 million related with employee
layoffs. The remaining €111 million would correspond to asset impairmient charges and would not, accordingly,
affect cash.

In addition, on 19 March 2019, the Ministry of Ecological Transition began to process draft legislation with the
aim of amending the General Coast Regulations enacted by means of Royal Decree 876/2014. The Company
presented its arguments on 29 March 2019, within the deadline granted to that end.

Given the legal uncertainty generated by the change in the state's criteria regarding the extension of ENCE's
concession in Pontevedra, the Company's Board of Directors has decided to freeze all growth capital
expenditure at this biomill not already contracted and to embark on the engineering work needed to
concentrate those investments at the Navia biomill, reiterating in the interim the targets for growth,
diversification and financial discipline approved in the 2019 - 2023 Business Plan.

ENCE engages continuously with the various authorities with a view to correctly executing the various agreed-
upon investments, as well as a host of initiatives and projects in the local community.

One of ENCE’s key objectives is that of maintaining its business operations and availing of all the measures
needed to guarantee the continuity of these operations and all supporting activities. Generally speaking, the
main threats in this respect include natural catastrophes and disasters, adverse meteorological conditions
(drought, frost, etc.), unexpected geological conditions and other factors of a physical nature, fires, floods or
any other emergency situation that could affect ENCE’s productive and storage facilities.

Because of the diverse range of risks in this arena, ENCE takes individual actions to address each risk factor with
a view to preventing them from materialising and/or mitigating their impact in the event they do: fire safety
training, insurance policies, regular audits, preventative inspections, surveillance and control of business
operations and a corporate policy for controlling the main pests to which the Group’s biological assets are
exposed.

Goal: Guaranteeing Worklife Quality and Workplace Health and Safety

ENCE is aware of the importance of providing a workplace that guarantees the best conditions in terms of
occupational health and safety, guided by stringent compliance with prevailing legislation in Spain. Certain
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situations could pose a threat to delivery of this objective as some jobs come with intrinsic risks, with the
attendant health or safety ramifications for the employees performing them.

To minimise this risk, the Group has accident prevention plans predicated on safety training, the maintenance
of integrated health and safety management systems and certification to benchmark standards such as ISQ,
OSHAS and FSC. In parallel, it has drawn up contingency plans for specific situations tc ensure safety
compliance in the field.

ENCE is firmly committed to upholding its workplace safety plans, which include an action plan for
preventing/reducing accidents that is based primarily on employee training initiatives, process upgrades,
regular compliance audits and adequate oversight of the plans' effectiveness and any associated requirements.
Lastly, there are plans to roli out overall equipment effectiveness (OEE) initiatives to make harvesting safer and
more cost effective.

Goual: Regulatory and Reporting Compliance

The EU-endorsed Best Available Techniques Reference Document (BREF} for the sector took effect in 2017.
Companies have until 2020 to fully adapt to the new requirements. The BREF requirements are more stringent
than the prior requirements in terms of production and emissions depending on process types, geographic
location and local environmental conditions, triggering the need for new environmental investments and
control systems.

The strategy employed by ENCE to tackle this risk factor is two-fold. Firstly, ENCE staff have reached out to the
government, key sector associations and other stakeholders and participated in establishing the definitive
standard requirements so that all the players’ views could be taken into account. In parallel, the most
important environmental investments required at all of the Operations Centres to adapt to the new regulations
were analysed and approved by ENCE's Investment Committee in 2018.

In addition, following effectiveness of Spanish Law 1/2015 {of 30 March 2015), amending the Criminal Code
and regulating in greater detail the criminal liability of legal persons, in 2015, ENCE implemented a Corporate
Crime Detection and Prevention Risk Management and Control System which includes a plethora of measures
and controls designed to prevent or at least mitigate to the extent possible the risk of commission of any form
of crime at the organisation and ensure the lawfulness of all actions taken by the Company's staff and
executives in the course of discharging their professional duties.

In 2019, ENCE formulated and implemented policies and procedurés for mitigating its exposure to specific
crimes, framed by its commitment to complying with the corporate crime prevention model certified by AENOR
in accordance with the UNE 19601:2017 standard on criminal compliance management systems.

Goal: Tax Risk Control

The Audit Committee monitors the Company's tax-related risks with a view to assisting the Board with its task
of determining ENCE's tax risk management and control policy.

ENCE has a dedicated tax division and receives specific tax counselling to ensure its in-house guidelines
guarantee compliance with prevailing tax regulations, framed by a zero risk tolerance approach in this arena.
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